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Friday, March 31, 2023

--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Sanasie, I take it we are ready to start?  Okay, great.  We will start the transcript, all right.

Good morning, everyone, my name is Allison Duff, and I will be presiding over this proceeding.  With me are my Panel members, Commissioners Michael Janigan and Anthony Zlahtic.  But before we start today I would ask our hearing advisor, Ms. Ashley Sanasie, to give you the OEB's land acknowledgement.
Land Acknowledgement:


MS. SANASIE:  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis people.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thanks.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Sanasie.

So the Ontario Energy Board is sitting today on a matter of an application by Elexicon Energy filed with the OEB on July the 28th, 2022 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and that application was updated on March the 27th, 2023.

Elexicon Energy has two rate zones, Whitby and Veridian.  The OEB bifurcated the application into two phases, considering the incentive rate-making requests during Phase 1 and Elexicon's incremental capital module funding request in Phase 2.

The OEB decision on the Phase 1 issue was issued last year in December 8th, 2022, so this is the oral hearing on the Phase 2 ICM funding request.

In Phase 2, the OEB will decide on three funding requests:  The first, the Whitby SmartGrid project to be in-service in Q4 2025.  Approval for the ICM funding for this project would have cost implications on consumers in the Whitby rate zone, and that would commence in 2025.  The second, an advance distribution management system and supervisor control and data acquisition to be in-service in 2025.  And these are costs that are associated with the Whitby SmartGrid if approved but that would have billing implications on the consumers in the Veridian rate zone. And the third is a system expansion project called Sustainable Brooklin, with an updated expected in-service date of Q2 2025.  And if approved as proposed, the project would have cost implications for customers in the Whitby rate zone commencing in 2025.

So today is the start of a two-day oral hearing.  Our hearing advisor, Ashley Sanasie, has prepared a hearing schedule to guide our timing, and the schedule is very full, and it takes us to 4:35 on Monday afternoon, so there is no anticipation of adding a third day of hearing.

I will encourage parties to keep to their time estimates within reason, but I do note that there was a two-day technical conference during which a fair amount of new information was added to the record, and I can assure you this Panel has reviewed those transcripts, so there is no need to repeat evidence already in cross-examination if it's already on the record on the proceeding.

With that, at this juncture, I will ask our OEB counsel, Lawren Murray, to take us through some of the logistics for today's oral hearing.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Duff, and good morning, everyone.  Once again, my name is Lawren Murray, and I am OEB counsel.  And here with me today are my fellow counsel, Ljuba Djurdjevic, articling student Julia Nowicki, along with Birgit Armstrong, Donald Lau, and Stephen Cain from OEB Staff.

Now, I have been asked [audio dropout] a few technical reminders for all parties here today.  First, this event is being transcribed, so we can't talk over one another.  You have to speak clearly into your microphone.

Second, parties should turn off their video and audio when they are not speaking or asking questions.  If you need to address the panel, please turn on your camera.  That will give them an indication that you wish to address them.  And if you think they have not noticed you, you can interject as you would in a normal hearing room.

Third, I would remind people that, while the chat function is available, nothing said in the chat function will be recorded or appear on the transcript for the oral hearing.

Fourth, the event is being audio-streamed on the OEB's website and also on -- video-streamed on YouTube.  It is also being recorded to assist the OEB with a transcription services only.  And today's event should not be video-recorded by other parties.

And, finally, Zoom allows you to join an event via a land line or a cell phone.  Therefore, please make sure to write down the Zoom telephone number which is in the invite.  If you experience any technical difficulties during your questioning, we will try and resolve the issue quickly.  If we are unable to do so, we will move to the next questioner in the schedule and reschedule the affected party to later in the day.  As such, all parties are expected to be ready at any point.

And, finally, if you drop off this hearing and are unable to rejoin the event, please inform Ms. Ashley Sanasie, the hearings advisor, at Ashley.Sanasie@oeb.ca.

And with that I will pass things back to Commissioner Duff.
Appearances:


MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Murray.

I will now take appearances.  I will start with the Applicant, Elexicon Energy, and then go through the intervenors participating.  I will call you by alphabetical order, because it's difficult in this virtual environment, so Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Presiding Commissioner Duff, Commissioner Janigan, Commissioner Zlahtic.  My name is John Vellone, and I am counsel for the Applicant, Elexicon Energy, and with me this morning is my associate, Colm Boyle, as well as Mr. Brandon Ott from Utilis Consulting, who will be assisting us in navigating the digital record throughout the day today and on Monday.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

Now, I am going to call the intervenors in alphabetical order.  I was trying to look at the participant list and see who is in attendance, but if I call and I miss somebody by accident I apologize.

For the Brooklin Landowners.

MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning.  Good morning, Presiding Commissioner Duff.  It's Helen Newland appearing for Brooklin Landowners Group Inc., and appearing with me is my associate, Kate Wiltse, W-I-L-T-S-E.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Julie Girvan.  I'm with the Consumers Council of Canada.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  The Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am consultant representing the Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Mr. Ladanyi.  Distribution Resources Coalition.

MR. DAUBE:  Good morning.  It's Nicholas Daube here for DRC.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Mr. Daube.  Environmental Defence?  I don't see them on the call today.  Next, Power Workers Union.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Good morning, Commissioners.  It's Dan Rosenbluth here for the Power Workers Union.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Mr. Rosenbluth.

Small Business Utility Alliance.  I don't see them on the participant list of today's video.

School Energy Coalition?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Jay Shepherd for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  And finally, the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Shelley Grice for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you, Ms. Grice.  Are there any parties that I have missed?  If you want to put your camera on and identify yourself.

And hearing none, are there any preliminary matters to address this morning?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I have one.

MS. DUFF:  Please proceed.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

As we've advised the parties yesterday, the application was amended this week, and we are concerned that it is not clear what statutory jurisdiction of the Board the application is currently seeking to invoke.  Is it the rate jurisdiction?

Because as I understand it, a rate order is not being requested.  And now everything is really for a couple of years from now when a rate order will be given.

Is it some sort of leave to construct?  Because I am not sure I understand how an electricity distributor is allowed to get pre-approval for a large capital project outside of rebasing.

It is just not clear, now that there is nothing engaged for the current rate year, what the Board statutory jurisdiction will be in this.

And I want to be clear, I am not challenging the Board's jurisdiction in any way.  I mean, we want this to be heard, but we think it's important that the Applicant make clear to the parties and to the Board what jurisdiction is being invoked.  Because that will cause a bunch of rules to kick in and will affect how we do cross-examination and, ultimately, what our argument wills be.

Some people, probably not Schools, but some people will probably say that this application is premature and whatever the jurisdiction is that is being invoked will affect those arguments.

So we are asking that the Applicant on the record tell us, tell the Board, tell all the parties, what is the jurisdiction that the Applicant believes is in play here.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I will first turn to Mr. Vellone as the Applicant.  Are you prepared to respond to that right now?

MR. VELLONE:  I am, Commissioner Duff.

MS. DUFF:  Please proceed.

MR. VELLONE:  There have been no changes to the relief sought in this application since it was originally filed.  As Presiding Commissioner Duff noted in her opening remarks, the application was filed under section 78 of the OEB Act, the rate-setting function, and specifically under the OEB's IRM framework.  In that context, it is widely accepted that the OEB's powers in respect of setting rates are to be interpreted broadly and extend well beyond a strict construction of the task.  In approving and fixing just and reasonable rates, the Board has the statutory authority to adopt any method or technique that it does consider appropriate.

And, when considering its rate-setting powers, the OEB will give consideration to its broader legislative framework, including its section 1 statutory objectives.  And there is one specific statutory objective that I would draw your attention to, which is to facilitate innovation in the electricity sector.  And this is, indeed, an innovative application with two separate but related innovative projects.

The Applicants have, since the original filing of this application, sought approval in this 2023 IRM application for this Whitby SmartGrid project, even though that project was not scheduled to go into service until 2025.  The reasons for this are simple, and they are set out in section 6.1 of the originally filed evidence.  Put simply, Elexicon requires regulatory approvals now, before it can commence the project, to get it into service by 2025.

Also in section 6.1 of the application, Elexicon took note of an OEB precedent in EB-2020-0249.  In that case the OEB granted ICM approval for the Sault SmartGrid project as part of PUC Distribution's 2021 IRM application, even though the project was not scheduled to go into service until December 31, 2022.

In our view, the recent evidence update, as it relates to the in-service date for the Sustainable Brooklin project, delaying that out until 2025 does not materially alter the Applicant's request for relief now both projects are in the same position, not just one.

Within the evidence, you'll have seen reference to illustrative rate riders, illustrative ICM rate orders, and I believe this is the core of Mr. Shepherd's concern:  What is the Board approving, if not these illustrative rate riders, rate orders?  I guess another word we could use is interim rate orders or interim ICM rate riders.

The Applicant has been clear throughout its application that it is intending to update those ICM rate orders in a future IRM proceeding.  This is the basis of the application and, in our view, it hasn't changed.  The evidence update on Monday of this week did not change that at all.  I am happy to take questions, though.

MS. DUFF:  Before we go there, are there any other counsel that would like to comment, if you could just put your camera on, regarding this issue?

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan on behalf of Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Girvan, do you want go first?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  I am just saying what would be helpful to us is if Mr. Vellone can make extremely clear what specific relief Elexicon is asking for from the Board in this proceeding.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Girvan, I do believe there was an undertaking which included a draft order that Elexicon has put on the record.  And I am sorry, I don't have that number in front of me, but I am happy to point you to that.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Vellone, it is JT 1.13.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you kindly, Mr. Mandyam.

MS. DUFF:  And that undertaking was before the evidence update?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.  So it would need to be updated for, I think -- let me just take a quick look -- paragraph 1 Charles would need to be updated to, say, January 1, 2025.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone, just for my edification, basically, to the extent that you have asked for regulatory approval in advance of the hearing 2023, you are now extending those same requests implicitly, you are saying, to the Sustainable Brooklin project?

MR. VELLONE:  For the same reasons, Commissioner Duff, yes.

MS. DUFF:  I am just trying to understand.  Are there any other counsel?  You can take this down, please.  I prefer to see people's faces.  Thank you, Ms. Sanasie, or whoever is working the backgrounds.  Mr. Ladanyi, I see you put your camera on.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I share the same concerns as Mr. Shepherd.  It is not clear to me exactly what Elexicon is seeking now.  We just found out, for example, that what's in the undertaking JT 1.13, which was in fact given to me, that even that is not correct anymore, now that has changed.

So we can proceed with the proceeding and perhaps, by the end of this hearing, we will find out what exactly Elexicon is asking the Board to do, but I am still not clear at all.  And I must say I, and perhaps some other parties, are not clear what exactly is being requested here.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Mr. Murray, do you have a comment?

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  I understand that Mr. Shepherd says this isn't a jurisdictional issue, but it strikes me that some of the concerns that are being raised, perhaps -- and, just to be clear, OEB Staff's position is that the OEB as an administrative decision maker is the master of its own procedures and processes, and the OEB has flexibility of how and when it hears issues that fall within the statutory jurisdiction.

I think I have heard from Mr. Vellone that Elexicon says it's section 78 that they are relying upon in this application.  That being said, OEB Staff does believe that, perhaps in its argument-in-chief, Elexicon needs to be clearer as to what it is seeking a determination on in this proceeding.  And perhaps I could highlight one example where I think it's a little unclear.  I believe that they are asking for illustrative rate riders on an interim basis and, to Staff, we are not exactly clear what "illustrative rate riders on an interim basis" means, so perhaps they could clarify that.

And perhaps, once Elexicon is clearer in terms of what it is actually seeking in this application and what would be deferred to a later application, assuming the projects are approved, if School Energy Coalition continues to have some sort of -- I know they don't call it a jurisdictional concern, but it sort of is reading to me as a jurisdictional concern -- we should discuss when that sort of issue should be raised in written argument, because I think it is something that a number of parties may want to speak to.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Shepherd, yes, I was going to go back to you.  In your -- when you were speaking initially as the raising party here, did you say that you were prepared to proceed today?  If you could just clarify that for me, given this issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are talking to me, Madam Commissioner?

MS. DUFF:  Oh sorry.  If I didn't say your name, I apologize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The answer is yes.

MS. DUFF:  I was looking right at you.  I don't know how you could have misinterpreted that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, we are absolutely ready to go today.  And, in fact, we prefer to go today.  We don't want you to stop the process, we are just concerned with the legal implications of it.

I want to be clear in reply, Commissioners, that Mr. Murray said this isn't a jurisdictional issue, and I think that's not quite correct.  It is a jurisdictional issue.  We are not challenging the jurisdiction, we are asking for clarification.  We are not saying the Board doesn't have jurisdiction, we are saying that, depending on which jurisdiction you are exercising, the rules are different.  That's the first thing.

The second thing is Mr. Vellone referred to the Sault Ste. Marie decision, which we agreed with, by the way, in fact we supported it at the time, but that was a slightly different -- A), it was an exception, and said right in it it was an exception, and it was on a fixed-price contract that was for a rate order one year in the future.

This is not a fixed-price contract, this is Class 4 estimates in which the work hasn't been done to figure out what they're actually going to do.  They have a plan, which is still to be fleshed out.  They don't know what's going to go where.  They only have estimates.  Class 4 is 30 percent, plus or minus.

And the third comment I would make, and this is really the reason why we are raising this, is if this is allowed to proceed as without any rate implications, direct rate implications, then is the implication of this that any LDC at any time, if it feels like it is nervous about doing a capital project, can come to the Board, make an application, saying, we want you to pre-approve this capital project before we go ahead with it?  Because in the past it has been -- during IRM it's the LDC's responsibility to decide what capital projects they proceed with and not, and there has been no mechanism for them to get pre-approval.  That's not how it works.  Gas utilities do have a mechanism for pre-approval, but LDCs do not.

And so I am concerned that if this is simply, well, yeah, the Board can do anything it wants, then we will have everybody coming in with their big capital projects, saying, please let us know that this thing we want to do five years from now is going to be okay and you have approved it.

So those are our reply submissions.

MS. DUFF:  Just to summarize in terms of what we are going to do today, Mr. Shepherd, you are prepared to proceed --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- with the schedule as is, and if the Board were to create, perhaps, an issues list or a decision structure by which submissions, written submissions, could be filed at the end and it were to include an item such as this, would that meet your needs or your concerns in terms of the concerns that you're expressing now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Certainly.  That's -- we are not intending to derail anything.  We want to bring it up now because the Board has the option to say, well, we don't want to waste a couple of days of hearing time and a whole lot of argument time if there is an issue that could change what we are doing.  But I leave that up to you.  I am not asking for that, because I am ready to go with a long cross this afternoon.

MS. DUFF:  I understand.

Mr. Vellone, did you have any comments in response to that?  I am basically suggesting we proceed as is and consider this as something to be addressed in written submission.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  Not much to say in response.  I am comfortable with proceeding on that basis and dealing with this in written argument as necessary.  I will note that most of what Mr. Shepherd just went into there is largely matters that are amenable to being addressed via argument.  If he wants to distinguish the Sault SmartGrid case on the facts and things like that, we can address that in written submissions.

MS. DUFF:  And the only other -- Mr. Vellone, the only other question that I have is I think there was an offer to update certain pieces of evidence in which you're relying on that undertaking that was just on our screen a moment ago.  Would there be an update forthcoming by Elexicon regarding the aspects of its application that need to be updated --


MR. VELLONE:  Let's do that procedurally properly, so let's get our witnesses sworn.  They can then give the undertaking, we can get it marked, and that way there's a deadline for filing it; is that okay?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, that is -- you nailed it.  I was trying to figure out if it was an evidence update or if it's an undertaking, and I think what you suggested can be accommodated.  Okay.  Let's proceed.

Barring anything, sorry, my two commissioners, Mr. Janigan and Mr. Zlahtic, is there any comments or concerns?  No, all right.  Getting back to my notes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with your leave I am going to withdraw.  I am not involved in the first panel, and I will come back for the second panel.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, I am aware that there are many hearings and activities going on at the OEB these days.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd, for letting me know.

Ms. Newland, I understand based on the hearing schedule your panel is up -- witness panel is first.  Perhaps you could introduce them and then they will be affirmed by Commissioner Zlahtic.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Before I bring Mr. Cory on, I would like to tender two maps and one document as exhibits in this proceeding.  These maps and the document were filed with the Board and sent to parties yesterday in an email.  Mr. Cory will be referring to the maps and the document during his examination in-chief.  The first map is entitled -- yes --


MS. DUFF:  The only reason I laugh is because I don't think I got them, but that's fine.  So please proceed.

MS. NEWLAND:  All right.  The first map is entitled "Participating Landowners, Brooklin North Landowners Group".  Mr. Murray, may I have an exhibit number, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MAP ENTITLED "PARTICIPATING LANDOWNERS, BROOKLIN NORTH LANDOWNERS GROUP".

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.

And the second map is entitled "Official Plan of the Regional Municipality of Durham Regional Structure Urban and Rural Systems".

May I have an exhibit number for that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MAP ENTITLED "OFFICIAL PLAN OF THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF DURHAM REGIONAL STRUCTURE URBAN AND RURAL SYSTEMS".

Ms. Newland:  Thank you.  And Commissioners, I should mention that these two maps were included in the attachments to responses to -- supplemental responses to the interrogatories that were filed in early January, so they are not new, it's just I thought it would assist parties if they didn't have to dig through the prior evidence during Mr. Cory's testimony.

The third document is entitled "Regular Council Minutes of the Corporation of the Town of Whitby" dated March 20th, 2023, and these minutes confirm testimony given by Mr. Cory during the technical conference.

May I have an exhibit number for that?

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  DOCUMENT IS ENTITLED "REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES OF THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF WHITBY" DATED MARCH 20TH, 2023.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  All right.  Mr. Cory, are you ready to go?

MR. CORY:  I am.

MS. NEWLAND:  Could you state your full name and your title, please.

MR. CORY:  Absolutely.  Good morning to the Commissioners and everyone.  My name is Matthew Cory.  I am a principal with the land use planning firm, Malone Given Parsons, and today I am here before you in my role as professional project manager on behalf of the Brooklin Landowners Group.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Cory.

I am mindful of Ms. Duff's advice to us this morning.  We will not go into matters that we dealt with during the technical conference regarding who North Brooklin is, who the participants are, and who the non-participants are, what lands are owned by the North Brooklin landowners.  All of those matters were canvassed during the technical conference, and Madam Chair, unless you would like us to go back into that, into those areas, we would not intend to repeat what was said during the technical conference.

MS. DUFF:  No, Ms. Newland, that is exactly what I --


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- wanted people to --


MS. NEWLAND:  I thought.

MS. DUFF:  -- uptake.  And thank you for the explanation about the maps.  I didn't mean to be laughing at the fact that I didn't receive them.  That's our own internal -- but the fact that you clarified that they were already filed on the evidence and people had advance notice, I appreciate that.  They are working behind the scenes to make things efficient.

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes --


MR. ZLAHTIC:  Just remind people that I think we need to swear in the witness [audio dropout] if people don't mind.

MS. DUFF:  Are you finished with the introduction, Ms. Newland?

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, yes, I am.  I was just about to mention -- thank you, Mr. Zlahtic.
BROOKLIN LANDOWNERS GROUP - PANEL 1

Matthew Cory; Affirmed.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Newland, there is one more kind of housekeeping matter I would like to raise.  It's about acronyms.  And there are many in the evidence of this case and, before we start, I would just encourage, to the extent you are able, the witnesses, the counsel, to use full descriptions and names for especially technical and engineering terms, and avoid acronym where possible.  I appreciate it's a hard habit to break, and I will be the first to say that this is an ICM proceeding, you know, heard by the OEB, but I think it will help our understanding and the flow of the evidence and information that we are going to exchange over the next few days.

So, Ms. Newland, do you have any direct examination of this panel?

MS. NEWLAND:  I do, Madam Chair.  We have about 10 to 15 minutes, probably more 10 minutes than 15.  May I proceed?

MS. DUFF:  Please.
Examination-In-Chief by Ms. Newland:

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Cory, why should the Board approve Elexicon's request for a Sustainable Brooklin incremental capital module and an exemption from the capital cost requirements of the Distribution System Code in respect of the Brooklin line?

MR. CORY:  Sure.  And I just wanted to clarify, I have a number of screens so I will be looking at some reference points.  So, if you see me looking away, it's not out of disrespect.  I am paying attention, I am just looking away.  I just wanted to clarify that.

Ms. Newland, in answer to your question, we believe -- I believe -- there is a number of reasons.  Firstly, the requests are justified by virtue of the commitment of the landowners to install or construct the distributed energy, the DER, and the electric vehicle charging rough-ins -- I am trying to stay away from the acronyms, but those are DER and EV enabling features -- in each new house that can accommodate those -- these are the grade-related houses in the community, not the apartments, of course -- for a total investment that we estimated of between $23 and $30 million, depending on the cost requirements over the forecast period.

And then, secondly, and importantly, for a number of reasons related to fairness.

MS. NEWLAND:  Could you elaborate on what those fairness reasons are, Mr. Cory.

MR. CORY:  Yes, Ms. Newland.  In 2018 to 2019, the Brooklin Landowners Group requested electricity service in the community of North Brooklin, where currently there is no service, although there is a fully energized development, which is the existing village of Brooklin on the south side of Columbus Road, which is essentially just across the street from North Brooklin.

Ultimately, Elexicon decided that the preferred option to get power to the doorstep of North Brooklin would be to construct a new 10-kilometre, 27.6-kilovolt line.  This new trunk, or extension cord, or transmission line will not itself be directly connected to any load customers, at least not in the initial years after it goes into service.  My understanding of it is that its sole function is to be interconnect with the delivery of electricity to the community of North Brooklin and, in our minds, that makes the Brooklin line more akin to a transmission line than a distribution line for the customers, being my clients, who are the landowners who are seeking to develop.

In context, if Hydro One were to construct a transmission line to the doorstep of North Brooklin where it connected with distribution facilities that deliver electricity to customers within North Brooklin, the Brooklin landowners would not be required to pay a capital contribution for the Hydro One transmission line.

Similarly, if Elexicon had chosen to provide service by constructing a new Brooklin transformer station, the Distribution System Code, in my understanding of it, would not have been engaged.

So decisions as to who constructs the line and what the preferred technical option is should not determine whether or not a capital contribution is required.  From our perspective, there is no principal basis for different treatment.  Different treatment is just simply not fair.

In saying that, we are not disputing the application of the Distribution System Code in this case.  We understand that is the way it works.  But what we are saying is that, because of this unique situation, this is exactly why an exemption from the code should be considered by the Board and granted in this instance.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Cory.  Are there any other fairness considerations you'd like the Board to take into account when making its decision?

MR. CORY:  Yes, Ms. Newland.  And, to the Commissioners, I also want to thank you, as well, for hearing us and considering this as we go forward.

There are at least two other fairness considerations.  First, Elexicon's evidence is that it will probably need to construct a new TS in the Brooklin area in early to mid-2030.  I would agree that that is a need and that that need will now accommodate an extensive amount of growth, and that one of the maps -- this is Exhibit K.1.2 -- exemplifies that and shows that now Durham Region, under the request of the province -- oh, thank you if that's being shared.  If you could scroll down, please, to where you can see the Brooklin area.  That's great, thank you.

So right where it says the word Whitby, yeah right where the hand is now, that is North Brooklin.  And the line that we are constructing will be going up from the TS station and across Columbus Road to get to North Brooklin.  The entirety of that line will, in the near future, have development all along, because the settlement area boundary is being expanded as we speak by Durham Region.  And this map is their draft official plan showing the addition in Hatching on the yellow and blue areas, intervening to along the line to where Brooklin goes, of new areas that are going to be brought online and will require power. Our estimates in the northeast Pickering section, which is where that 407 symbol is, that whole area is in the order of 90,000 people and jobs, and the greater Brooklin area that doesn't already have service is in the order of another 40,000 to 60,000 people and jobs, all along where this line will be occurring.

Certainly, the line is not designed to accommodate that level of growth and a TS station, I expect, will absolutely be required in the fullness of time to provide power.  That being said, it does not seem fair to us that the Brooklin landowners would have to fund the cost of constructing the Brooklin line now, which, if constructed when the new TS is constructed in the future, would be funded by all rate payers.  In this sense, the landowners are pre-paying for an asset that Elexicon and its rate payers will require anyway.

So that's the first fairness consideration, Ms. Newland.  The second is that requiring the Brooklin landowners to pay a total of approximately $46 million, and this is the combined cost of Phases 1 and 2 of the project -- Phase 1 being the Brooklin line that is part of the ICM and before the Board; Phase 2 is the residual distribution lines that we have to construct within Brooklin before they even hit the boundary of customer sites and the distribution within customers' lands -- to have electricity delivered to the community imposes an extraordinary financial burden on the Brooklin landowner who are early movers.

And if I could ask, please, if Exhibit 1.1, which is the landowner map, be put up.  This map is a very handy map.  It illustrates the North Brooklin area, which is the area generally with all of the outlines and numbers on it.  The numbers and outlines are denoting the potential future customers, being the landowners in their entities that would be requesting connection as part of developing these lands and the development applications they are proceeding with.  And, just to aid the Board in its consideration, the hatched areas, the cross-hatching over the lands, represent the only owners right now, the six of them, who have draft plan approvals and, in having draft plan approvals, they are able to start moving toward final development stages and request and obtain funding and sell homes at that point.

So the early movers in this case are those entities.  I am referring to those six landowners who can then obtain financing, only those six.  These early-mover customers are, in effect, otherwise being asked to subsidize all the future customers, which is the residual of the other landowners in our group, but also the other lands that aren't even participating, because, essentially, they're being asked to pay upfront the capital cost of a facility whose capacity far exceeds their requirements.  This is infrastructure that will provide power to the entire community, not to these individual customers or users.

So we are not aware of -- and I am not aware, certainly -- of any other developers or developer groups who have been required to assume such a financial burden in order to receive a basic and fundamental utility service.

This puts the early mover Brooklin landowners at a competitive disadvantage relative to other developers in the GTA and indeed in this rate zone in Durham region and in Elexicon's territory, because the cost of the capital contribution they will be required to pay will increase the cost and therefore the price of houses they construct and sell.

So in our opinion this is patently unfair, but obviously it poses and also a financial burden and challenge, which is that these developers still have to go to banks to obtain financing to move ahead and pay for these costs.  They would have to do that years in advance of when they actually can close on homes and realize a return.  They would have to float those costs and float them on behalf of many others with no recovery.

This is a significant issue that is an impediment to actually delivering, if it's left to the owners, the electricity system at this time.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Cory.

I have some questions for you, Mr. Cory, about timing.  Let me start by asking you, when do the Brooklin landowners require power in north Brooklin?

MR. CORY:  So Ms. Newland, ideally we required power in 2021, which is the reason that we first approached Elexicon in 2018.  It's not -- it wasn't Elexicon, obviously, at that point, it was Whitby Hydro, and we were advised to wait a little bit because the merger was happening with Whitby and Veridian, and then we continued to approach Elexicon after that merger happened, but at this point we need it ASAP.

The availability of -- sorry, I forget the acronym, Commissioner Duff -- as soon as possible -- the availability of a source of electricity that is only -- the availability of electricity at this point is the only remaining critical path item for our ability to construct homes in Brooklin.  And I have to say that is unique in my entire career experience, that the only thing holding up the construction and delivery of homes is the availability of electricity, especially when we would have expected it to be available just on the other side of the road, given that we are just extending from an existing urban area.

Every other critical path item, be it approvals from the municipality and the region, be it sewer and water, be it roads, every other item is in place and can be moved ahead except for electricity delivery.

MS. NEWLAND:  You're aware, of course, Mr. Cory, that this week Elexicon filed an update to its application revising the projected in-service date for the Brooklin line from the last quarter of 2023 to the second quarter of 2-25.

What are the implications for the Brooklin landowners of this change in the schedule?

MR. CORY:  Yes, Ms. Newland.  I am aware of the change in the project schedule, especially by virtue of my participation on behalf of the landowners in the Elexicon/Brooklin engineering and design committee.  We had -- we had reached an agreement to try to expedite the delivery of this infrastructure that the landowners and their consultant, MQ Energy, would undertake the design of the electricity system to the approval of Elexicon, so we have been moving that ahead in close collaboration with Elexicon.

Our consultant, when asked to produce a schedule very recently, produced a schedule that incorporates best estimate for first energization, which they identified as 2025, which is why that is -- now that change is before the Board for a decision.

I will say that that schedule -- as a project manager, that schedule incorporates very conservative estimates for approval of the design.  For instance, it allows an entire year alone to receive approval from the Ministry of Transportation to cross Highway 407, so obviously it's their job to provide conservative estimates to make sure there's not false expectations.  It's the project team's job to expedite the schedule as much as possible, and we are very optimistic that the design can and will be completed well in advance of that timing and ideally approved, if not later this year, very early into 2024, and that power can and still would be delivered in 2024 with housing construction and occupancies at the latest occurring in 2025.

However, given that that is the schedule they have given us, unmodified by those optimistic aspirations, that is why this change has occurred at this point.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you for that explanation, Mr. Cory.  Let me ask you this:  If nevertheless power is not available until the second quarter of 2-25, so if the conservative estimate or forecast bears out, what does this mean for the development of North Brooklin?

MR. CORY:  Quite simply, Ms. Newland, the delay is a further delay.  It will not have severe adverse effects on moving things ahead, provided there's no further delays.  And that's one message I very much need to convey, which is that it is extremely crucial that the ICM be approved so that we can get on with construction of the electricity system and as a consequence immediately construction of homes as soon as possible.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Cory.  And I just remind you ICM is an acronym.

MR. CORY:  I apologize.  Incremental capital module.

MS. DUFF:  That one's okay.  That's okay.

MR. CORY:  Okay.

MS. NEWLAND:  There are many acronyms in the energy world.

Mr. Cory, what would be the consequence of further delay beyond 2025?

MR. CORY:  So further delay would be very problematic from a number of perspectives.  Certainly the landowners would be extremely negatively impacted, but this -- there's a lot going on, and I am a planner, and I am probably more prone to using acronyms than anybody even in the electricity world because of that, but I will do my best to avoid them.

But one thing, if we could bring up, please, Exhibit K1.3.  This is something that is ongoing, and I did mention this in discovery, and if we could go to Item 8.5, please, which is a little further down.

That is excellent, thank you so much.  So --


MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Cory, can I just interrupt you?  Can you just identify for the record what we are looking at?  We are looking at the minutes of a meeting of the Whitby Town Council --


MR. CORY:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  -- on March 20th, 2023, correct?

MR. CORY:  Yes, yes, I was just about to get into that, Ms. Newland.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, okay.  Sorry.

MR. CORY:  So these are the minutes, so this is what Council had decided at this point.  This is Whitby Council, one of the biggest entities, obviously, in Elexicon's territory.  The background to this, the provincial government has mandated that municipalities pledge and commit to deliver a certain amount of homes by 2031.  And under this mandate Whitby is required to pledge to the government and demonstrate that they can deliver 18,000 homes by the year 2031.

This pledge -- and this is some of the preamble in the pledge, the "whereas", and if we could scroll down a little bit, please.  That covers that off.

And specifically I am looking now at the second paragraph on the screen right now that reads:
"And whereas the Town has a considerable inventory of housing units approved or in the approval process (i.e. 18,118), including 4,100 low-density, 4,925 medium-density, and 9,070 high-density units."

I had the opportunity to speak to Mr. Saunders, the chief planner yesterday.  He did confirm for me what I expected, which is that the Brooklin lands and specific to that map I had shown earlier of lands where either were draft-approved already with the hatching or with the dotting, that applications had been provided, is composed and is a subset of this commitment and this pledge that's been made.

So to be clear, the Town is relying on the timely development of lands for which either draft land or development applications have been made in North Brooklin, and this amounts to just under 7,000 units or almost 40 percent of Whitby's total housing pledge.

This means that these homes have to be built by 2031 for the Town to now meet its obligation to the Province, that the Province is insisting is essential to hit the 1.5 million homes that Premier Ford and Minister Clark have said is a target is so essential for their housing action plan to be realized.  So assuming a construction of 700 units per year, which was the assumption we have both carried and discussed in the discovery and has been a basis for a lot of the discussion for the evidence in this hearing, it will be very difficult, if not possible, to deliver 5,000 or more new homes by 2031 if we commence as soon as possible.  A further delay beyond 2025, and that would certainly occur if the ICM was not to be approved, will jeopardize the ability of the Town of Whitby to provide these homes and to even realize 5,000 or more homes by 2031.

If the Sustainable Brooklin ICM is not approved -- incremental capital module -- and, absent some other timely resolution of the problem, there will be at least another three to five years of delay in delivering homes in Whitby, premised on the notion that we would have to wait about that long for enough landowners potentially to have draft plan approval to then potentially be able to fund and pay for the $26.6 million of front-ending that cost.  When I say "front-ending," I mean of paying for that, having a capital charge for them on that cost.  And then, consequently, Whitby will simply not meet its housing pledge to the provincial government.

So, in this result, houses that would otherwise be delivered, just to be clear, to meet the province's 2031 target of $1.5 million and Whitby's pledge, newly minted and committed to as they were required to do by the end of this month, on the March 20th minutes, will not be constructed and this will solely be because of a lack of electricity service.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Cory.  I think you touched on my next question in your answer just now, but do you have anything to add about what would happen if the Board were to deny the relief?  So we were talking about a delay before, but what if the Board were to deny the relief sought by Elexicon in its application?  Can you speak a little bit about what the consequences for Brooklin and the town of Whitby would be.

MR. CORY:  Absolutely, Ms. Newland.  I will be brief on the first part because I did cover it --

MS. DUFF:  We are actually over time for direct, I just wanted to note.

MS. NEWLAND:  I just have one more question, Madam Chair, after this one.

MR. CORY:  So, firstly, there would be a two- to three-year delay.  I wouldn't imagine homes would even start to be constructed until 2028 because, of course, only when they can obtain financing can they then pay for the cost.  And then there is still a year or two construction of the electricity system once it has been financed.  So that is a significant delay.  That means the town won't meet their housing pledge, quite simply, period.

And then, second, the affordability of new houses is still a concern both for the province and the landowners competitively.  So landowners, if they are required to finance the Brooklin line, will obviously seek ways to maintain competitive advantage in the home price.  This will mean that there will be no commitment to prebuild homes with rough-ins for DER and electric vehicle charging stations.  And this is a huge problem, I think, generally because that means that the opportunity to realize energy innovation, which is having every new home roughed-in for these things, will be lost in a brand new community that has the ability and potential to be precedent-setting for others and say:  This is the right way to build new communities.

And just to be clear, from the very beginning, the Brooklin landowners have sought to have the most expeditious and cost-effective way to deliver power to North Brooklin.  We have remained open to any option that is fair and, more importantly, though, delivers power in a timely manner.  In our re review of the various options identified in the application, we don't see another option that meets these two objections.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Cory.  I think we will end it here and leave the rest for argument. Madam Chair, Mr. Cory is available for cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  Mr. Ladanyi, you are up next.  Are you prepared to proceed or do you need a break?

MR. LADANYI:  No, I don't need a break.  I am ready.

MS. DUFF:  You can decide what the appropriate time is for an afternoon break during your cross.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  We are way behind schedule, so perhaps we can gain some time; let's see where we're going.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:

Now, I am very interested in this document you just filed, which is Exhibit K 1.3, which is the minutes of this regular council meeting, and especially the item 8.5.  Can you tell me:  What exactly was your motivation here?  Why did you want to file this?

MR. CORY:  Mr. Ladanyi, very simply, in the discovery and in our discussions there, it made it quite clear there is an imperative here -- and I don't want there to be any misunderstanding.  This isn't an instance simply of a bunch of developers who want to proceed with a project on their own behest only and are trying to build houses and need power.  This is the Town of Whitby.  The way our planning system works, the town and the region plan where community wills go and developers simply come along and implement those plans.  So this is to clarify for everybody's benefit that this is an imperative of growth that is imposed by the province and the town and the region.  The developers are simply seeking to implement and deliver on that growth.

As I mentioned in the discovery, this pledge was coming.  The pledge has now been made, so this is just an update to the discovery evidence I gave to show that, indeed, the pledge has happened now.

And Whitby, the Town of Whitby as a municipality, as a government, is committed to and they have to deliver these homes.  We are working in partnership with them, as we are working with Elexicon, to do that.  And it underscores not just the need, but the extreme urgency, to get this resolved and get electricity to this community to deliver these homes.

MR. LADANYI:  So as I understand it, your motivation is to apply pressure on the Commissioners to rule in your favour.  That seems to be the only motivation that I can see why you filed this document.  Do you feel the Commissioners need to have more pressure applied on them?

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Ladanyi, Mr. Cory has answered the question.  You may want to make that point in argument, but I think he has answered your question.

MR. LADANYI:  In argument, he repeated everything he said in examination in-chief, which we heard already.  And he made a very lengthy examination in-chief.  This is a hearing, this is not a technical conference, so I would like to know -- and he is principal speaking on behalf of the developers -- I would like to know why he wants to apply pressure on the Commissioners.

MR. CORY:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, with respect, I find that pejorative and I don't agree.  That's not at all what my intent is and, obviously, there is no pressure being sought.  There is a simple reality and an urgency here that has to be understood and acknowledged by everybody in the context of making decisions. And especially, if there's a delay or if it's not approved, there are consequences, quite simply, that will unfold that will put the Town of Whitby in jeopardy of achieving what it has pledged to do.  That's simply the reality that we are in under the mandate of these governments that we are working in and, as landowners, obviously, we are trying to help them meet their pledges and we are here seeking this relief to make that happen.

MR. LADANYI:  So as I understand it, the minister has made -- essentially put a commitment on the municipality.  The municipality doesn't want to pay for this, the developers doesn't want to pay for this, but somehow they have all got together and said that the ratepayers in Whitby should be subsidizing this project.  Is there a belief that ratepayers in Whitby have a pool of funds that can be used for subsidy of development projects?

MR. CORY:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, maybe I lost it.  I am not sure what your question is of me.

MR. LADANYI:  My question is really:  Why do you believe that Whitby ratepayers should be the ones who are subsidizing this project?

MR. CORY:  Oh.  Well, we fully support the application, obviously, as applied for by Elexicon.  To deliver this work, as I was saying, if it was a TS station as a comparable, the costs would be socialized.  And, more than that, there are a number of letters of support and certainly the Town of Whitby, who represents the ratepayers in Whitby democratically as elected officials, provided full support of that.

So, from the landowners' perspective, we have an impediment to delivering that if the cost was put onto us in an extraordinary situation where it is not -- it goes well beyond any direct connection needs that we have, so there is a fairness problem there.

Secondly, if the TS station or another solution was to hand, those costs would absolutely be socialized.  And that's another example of why that should occur.

And, thirdly, the town of Whitby and the elected representatives clearly support this and they supported it understanding that there would be a rate increase on the existing ratepayers.  I think they also understood it in the sense that there would be a tremendous amount of growth released and, therefore, additional revenue and customers coming forward, as well.

MR. LADANYI:  So your clients are in the business of making a profit, are they not?

MR. CORY:  My clients are in the business of building homes, yes, and building communities --


MR. LADANYI:  But it's not a charity.  They are doing it for money, aren't they?  They --


MR. CORY:  They are -- they -- yes, as with all home construction, almost, let's say 99 percent of it, the nature of any community building or home construction is privately run and operated by developers, who of course have to make a profit as part of what they do.

MR. LADANYI:  So my clients are also in the business of making a profit.  They are small manufacturers and small businesses.  So you're saying that there should be a surcharge imposed on my clients to essentially give a donation or a subsidy to your clients; is that what your position is?

MR. CORY:  No, with respect, not at all.  We are not looking for a donation of any kind.  We are looking to have an electricity system constructed in a timely fashion.  And as I mentioned in discovery, and maybe this is just me, Mr. Ladanyi, I am not entirely sure exactly who your clients are.  I think you said you don't believe last time we spoke that any of them are trades or anybody who would be involved in home construction or any of the -- any of the matters, whether it be manufacturing pieces of houses or roads or not.  If any of them were involved in any of those activities, I think they would stand to benefit from additional housing being built and that being expedited.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I talked to my clients yesterday, and they are opposed to having to subsidize developers in north Brooklin, but let's move on for a minute to something else.

Have you actually asked the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing for money or for a loan to help with this project?

MR. CORY:  No.  No, we are working within the Distribution System Code and we are trying to work through the system and the process with the LDC to have electricity delivered.  Our understanding was this is the appropriate process to do that.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, I think when -- during the technical conference you told us there were 30 landowners that were members of your Brooklin landowners group.  Is that number still right, or has that changed?

MR. CORY:  No, that is correct, and that is illustrated on Exhibit K1.1.

There is one -- I should note for the Board and to yourself, there is one update, and the reason we reissued that map which was provided as part of the discovery is because, since the time of approval, there has been one more draft approval granted, and that is now reflected on the updated map, so it went from five to six of those 30 have draft plan approval.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, I don't have the transcripts here before me, but I don't recall any mention of the six early movers.  That seems to have come up after the technical conference.

MR. CORY:  I did mention it ad nauseam, yes, specifically that there was five, and that that is why we provided the update, because now there is six.

MR. LADANYI:  So had the -- what was the agreement between the landowners?  Would they have shared in the cost or a contribution?  Was that --


MR. CORY:  So the nature of the landowners group is to share any community cost.  They only work together to share costs, and then otherwise they develop their own lands.

In this instance, and in -- well, in every other instance, the nature of sharing of costs for any kind of development is typically done usually under development charges and other mechanisms, where the costs are being absorbed for the infrastructure and everything else by the municipality, by others.  Landowners would tend to front-end those costs, meaning pay them upfront, with the full expectation of recovery, because they are building assets that ultimately are owned and operated by a municipality or others.

In this instance, and this is a bit unique, so we don't have an agreement, Mr. Ladanyi, yet, because -- and we have to see the nature of how this will unfold -- because of the nature of what is being asked of us, it is essentially being asked that we pay for and deliver $26.6 million of infrastructure in extension of line with no recovery of anything to speak of, turn that asset over to the LDC, and then the first movers have to absorb that cost where everyone else can theoretically then proceed and benefit from that without having paid anything into it.

So quite simply, there's even a fairness principle amongst the different landowners, given that there is some that are going to move ahead now and need connection today, others that move ahead over the next 20 to 25 years that will then require connection, because this isn't just the customers who are asking today, this is for power for an entire community, and it goes well beyond customer needs today.

And then there's others who aren't even part of our group who will also potentially seek to develop --


MR. LADANYI:  Why can't the members of your group have an agreement to share costs?  Obviously those six early movers must not be happy with us.  They must be -- why couldn't they make an agreement?  In fact, you know you have mentioned that there are a total of 90 landowners in north Brooklin.  I can't understand why there cannot be an agreement amongst all the landowners to share the cost of the contribution.

MR. CORY:  Mr. Ladanyi, quite simply, that is akin to herding a rabid pack of cats.  There are 90 landowners, some of which who are not even part of our group.  We have no control over what they do unless they join our group.  There certainly is a cost-sharing agreement amongst the owners to bear and share the costs, but those costs have to be fair in their own account.  There's other requirements we have to fulfil in doing that, not least of which is, benefiting owners pay for the costs that only benefit them, and other owners will seek to be excluded from sharing in any costs that they don't directly benefit in both on a time basis and on an ultimate basis.

So there is always discussions with regards to that and, in particular, absorbing costs where there is absolutely no recovery, it becomes a particularly difficult cost to negotiate and share in the cost of, not least of which because -- and this is a fundamental point to raise, and it may not be understood by everybody in the development side who doesn't work in the planning and development side -- landowners practically can only go and get financing from banks to pay for things like this once they have draft plan approvals.  If only six landowners have draft plan approvals and they have to go and try to obtain financing, it's quite dubious whether they could even do such a thing.

The other owners don't even have the ability to go and seek financing right now to share in those costs today, and all of the 26.6 million would be required tomorrow or today to be able to purchase the equipment and install it in a time frame to be available in 2025.

That is an exceptionally large financial burden on the few people who would go ahead, not to mention the fairness problems later with sharing the cost after and even collecting back from others on that after the fact.

Typically, you can pass any agreement you want amongst landowners who are willing, but the ability to enforce such an agreement either lies in official plans that the municipality puts forward with the requirement to share costs.  The municipality can only enforce the sharing of costs that they control.  They would have no ability to enforce or require others to pay us back for the costs that we incur of any kind with regards to the delivery of electricity system, because that's beyond the purview of the municipality.

So there would be no guarantee of any kind that we could collect back the costs, and this is a challenge I understand of the way the DSC and the way these things are funded, that there is no, effectively, development charge, there is no front-ending, there is no collection back we can get from the OEB.

The only thing I have heard of that I am aware of is maybe the potential extension of the recovery period to 20 years or something else, but even then the ability to force and require others to, A), develop in that time frame and, B), pay back the owners is -- and who would administer all that is not clear at all to us or anyone else --


MR. LADANYI:  So just, I know we have heard some of this before.  I am interested:  How much money have the developers invested so far in the north Brooklin project?  Now, perhaps you don't know for everybody, for the entire 90, but you would at least know for the 30 developers.

Actually, are you actually working with the other developers who are not members of the Brooklin developers group --


MR. CORY:  No.

MR. LADANYI:  You are not.  All right.

MR. CORY:  No, I can't, and we don't, because we only represent the participating owners because it's voluntary participation, yes --


MR. LADANYI:  So how much has been invested so far?

MR. CORY:  So about --


MR. LADANYI:  So you say --


MR. CORY:  I should know this number off the top of my head, and I may have to get back to you, but I believe it's around 12 or 13 million has been incurred to date.  This is just the preparatory work to even get to development.  The lion's shares of costs will have to be incurred and would be incurred in servicing and then moving the lands forward --


MR. LADANYI:  Sure, sure, yeah, okay --


MR. CORY:  -- and no develop --


MR. LADANYI:  I understand that.  Yeah.  I understand that.

MR. CORY:  Okay.


MR. LADANYI:  So where did this money come from?  I mean, you are telling me that the developers can't get a cent more to pay for the contribution, but they have already invested many millions of dollars in the land and in the project.  Why couldn't they -- where did they get this money?  Did they get it from the street?  Where did they get it?  Banks gave it to them, or they must have borrowed from the bank.

MR. CORY:  Mr. Ladanyi, without going into the financial wherewithal of every single developer -- which I cannot do, by the way -- those monies were expended over a significant amount of time.  This is since 2005, to be clear.  And it was also all the money that is typical of soft costs that you can pull together as developers prior to getting financing and moving with earnest toward development of a site.  So any significant expenditure beyond what we have already talked about ultimately becomes contingent on the timing of when registration, final plan approval, will occur and, therefore, homeownership will occur.  And there is a return on all the investment that has happened.

MR. LADANYI:  Frankly, I don't understand this.  Because you have already borrowed -- I don't know, what did, you say $18 million?

MR. CORY:  It's around $13 million, I believe, yes.


MR. LADANYI:  Thirteen million, all right.  And, to pay for the contribution that Elexicon has asked for, it is $26.7 million.  Divided by 30 landowners, that's under a million dollars each per landowner.  It does not sound to me like a huge amount of money.


MR. CORY:  Mr. Ladanyi, I think you're forgetting completely the statement I made earlier, which is that not all the owners will go and get funding for that or will be able to.  It's only the ones that have draft plan approval that will be able to obtain additional funding at this point to be able to do it.  You may reject that, but I would -- with respect, you would be wrong.  That is the way this thing -- this works in terms of getting financing.  Under the Planning Act, nobody can even sell a home until they have draft plan approval, and most banks won't finance anything beyond whatever they have in their reserve or pockets unless they have already sold homes or at least have the ability to do so with draft plan approval.  That is quite simply how the land development process works, in a very simple, high level, with financing

MR. LADANYI:  Now, if the entire 90 developers put money together, they would in fact not have to put up very much.  I think it is, like, $300,000 per developer.  Again, these numbers don't seem very large to me.  Do they have to go and borrow $300,000?  Don't these people have any working cash?  I mean, how do they operate?

MR. CORY:  Mr. Ladanyi, we don't represent 90 owners.  I can't go and ask everybody who is not part of our group to give us money.  That's -- and, in point of fact, the only people requesting connection today and driving the need for that are those six, now, landowners who are early movers and who have been draft-plan-approved.  I don't know how else to state it to you, but that is just simply the reality of how this works.  We can't simply go to anybody who happens to be in the area and require them to give us money to fund this.  We have no ability to do that and we don't represent those people.

MR. LADANYI:  Let's -- okay, let's move to another area.  So you are working on other subdivisions in the Greater Toronto Area, are you not?

MR. CORY:  Many.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And, as far as I know, in virtually all of these subdivisions the homes that are planned have gas service.  They have a gas furnace and a gas water heater.  Is that right?

MR. CORY:  Yes.  The vast majority do.  Unless you're talking about the high-rise work that we do, and those typically have heat pumps in the apartments.

MR. LADANYI:  So what you're planning for North Brooklin is really the same.  You're planning 10,000 to 12,000 homes that will have a gas furnace and a gas water heater.  That's what I understand from the technical conference.

MR. CORY:  That is correct, although there is the blend, because there are 14,000 homes overall.  The component of the homes that are higher-density, I expect, will have heat pumps, yes

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And you have talked to Enbridge about getting gas service to the subdivisions?

MR. CORY:  Yes, absolutely.  We are in talks with them to make sure there is gas available.

MR. LADANYI:  And Enbridge has not asked for any contribution.  Is that right?

MR. CORY:  No, they have not.

MR. LADANYI:  Has Enbridge installed any gas lines yet, or nothing?

MR. CORY:  There are gas lines into -- there is obviously all of the existing Village of Brooklin that we surround that has gas service.  In the discussions I have had on the design side with Enbridge, they have identified a need for additional infrastructure and trunks to be installed; however, my understanding in discussions so far is that they have a capital budget and they have an ability to deliver that, and they were planning on delivering that in a timely way.

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  So were you surprised when Elexicon, or I guess it was Whitby before, asked for a contribution to supply electricity service to this development?

MR. CORY:  Yes.  We expected power to be available as a linear extension, as it is in, I think, every other instance I have worked on where there are subdivision approvals or additional development that is contiguous or extending the urban boundary that already exists.

MR. LADANYI:  Could we have on the screen undertaking JT 1.8.  Sorry, I have got the wrong one.  Just give me a second.   Bear with me, because this hearing is going in a slightly different direction than I anticipated. Oh, yes.  No, that's not it.  Oh, yes, we have it.  Can you go to interrogatory, Elexicon interrogatory CCMBC number 3, and it is item G.

And I asked:  Are there developers in other parts of Elexicon's service area who are currently paying or have paid contributions to Elexicon?  If the answer is yes, what is the annual amount of contributions received by Elexicon?

And you can turn to the answer on the next page, which is the little table at the bottom, and we see that Elexicon is receiving roughly $16 million in contributions.

So are you familiar with the fact that some developers are paying contributions to Elexicon?

MR. CORY:  Yes.  Yeah, I am aware of that, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  So that will not be a surprise.  I mean, these numbers don't seem that different to me from what being asked.  I mean, your purchase is much larger.  So Elexicon, I guess, for a smaller project is getting $16 million together and here you have a much larger project and they are asking for $26.7.  What's the problem?

MR. CORY:  I don't see a breakout of how these contributions are being given, who is providing them, what stage of development they are in, any of that.  My assumption, looking at it, is that the contributions are being requested from people and developers who are well advanced and are about to deliver homes and that the power could be produced and provided in an incremental fashion at a much lower cost per unit than what we are providing.

MR. LADANYI:  So your problem is with the stage in the development, isn't it?  If you were later on in the process, you would have no difficulty in paying $26.7 million.

MR. CORY:  If the majority of the owners had draft plan approval, as I mentioned in my evidence in-chief and in the discovery, yes, there would be a greater pool of developers who could go and seek financing and be able to then provide that funding.  It wouldn't make it fair, but the ability would be there.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, we will go to a different area now.  Can we turn to undertaking JT1.8, please.  And here, Environmental Defence asked for a cost of a retrofit.  This case is a lot about fairness, and so we are in a situation here whereby Elexicon customers in Whitby, who would actually have to pay, themselves, $6,780 to retrofit their homes, are going to have to subsidize customers in North Brooklin so they can have this retrofit for nothing.  Do you think that's fair?

MR. CORY:  With respect, that's not my understanding of what's going on here.  We are obviously trying to just deliver power for the homes to be built in the first place.

The commitment, the quid pro quo, so to speak, and the commitment on behalf of the owners to have that occur is to commit to innovation and to put it into the homes.

If they -- if the owners end up having to pay, as I said before, for the extension and extraordinary cost of this transmission line, they will not be doing that.  There will be no commitment to that because of affordability concerns and competitive disadvantage.

So I think really what's happening here is we need the power to deliver the homes, and there is a commitment and acknowledgement that that will be delivered in a way that we are not able to deliver it in a timely fashion to provide for the DER and EV rough-ins, and in particular to this undertaking acknowledging that it would be both very expensive and I think very unlikely that anybody would undertake to do it after the fact, and we would completely lose the innovation imperative that is being offered up by the owners at this point in exchange for just getting power in a timely fashion.

MR. LADANYI:  This is very interesting.  So you think that the -- so why would the ratepayers now -- I am not speaking for residential ratepayers, but I'm using this for comparison only.  Why would ratepayers, who you are saying will not be able to afford to do this in Whitby, subsidize people in north Brooklin?  It is -- I don't understand what the unfairness is.

MR. CORY:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, I don't think I understand whom you are referring to.  Who are the ratepayers who can't afford to do this that you are referring to?  I don't think I understand --


MR. LADANYI:  The current ratepayers of Elexicon in Whitby.  They are going to be asked to pay a surcharge, which is the ICM charge as a rate rider, to pay for this line so that the ratepayers are then -- prospective ratepayers in the north Brooklin will not have to pay this cost, and they will have this retrofit, let's call it, in place.

MR. CORY:  I -- again, I don't believe that's what's being asked.  That's not the request, and that's -- your categorization of what is happening, I would say, Mr. Ladanyi, it's certainly not one that I accept.

What's being asked is that the ICM be funded by and socialized over the ratepayers to deliver power to what is a communal need, a commitment by the municipality to deliver homes, and for us to deliver those homes, and acknowledging -- this is the discussion we had with Elexicon -- that the owners have a financial difficulty and an inability to provide it in a timely fashion, that in doing that and acknowledging that there is a commitment and a need of the Board and Elexicon to foster and actually enable innovation, they are committing to provide those DER and EV rough-ins, an acknowledgement that that's occurring.

That has always been the discussion.  It has never been framed or -- nor contemplated as existing ratepayers funding the cost of DER and EV rough-ins for the sake of those rough-ins.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I think it might be a good time to break before we move into a new area.  I think court reporter may need a rest, although I can go on.  I am on a roll.

MS. DUFF:  No, I think also it's a good time for everyone to have a break, so we will break for 10 minutes until 11:10, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:12 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Ladanyi, do you want to continue with the cross-examination?

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Can we turn to undertaking JT 2.9.  In that undertaking, you were asked to confirm with MQ Energy, which I believe is a contractor designing the electricity distribution system in North Brooklin, whether or not Level 2 charges can be accommodated in the current design of the Sustainable Brooklin project, and your answer was yes.

MR. CORY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And is a Level 2 charger what is called a fast charger or a Tesla charger?  Is that what it is?

MR. CORY:  I believe it to be so, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah.  So you're not an electrical engineer, are you?

MR. CORY:  Absolutely not.  I have no expertise in that field.

MR. LADANYI:  So I am not going to ask you about the voltage, but I want to explore with you a little bit about this design.  As I understand it, in your answer, the electricity distribution grid in North Brooklin is designed to accommodate -- I put 10,000 fast charges, but now you are telling me it's 14,000 fast charges -- charging electric vehicles at the same time at night.  Do you agree with that?  That's the ideal -- the final stage.

MR. CORY:  No.  With a correction, the EV charging rough-ins are being designed and put into the grade-related homes.  It doesn't include the high-density homes.  So it's more that 10,000 to 11,000; it's not the 14,000.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And so, obviously, has MQ Energy modelled the peak load of 10,000 fast chargers and 10,000 air conditioners that could occur on a hot summer night?

MR. CORY:  No.  And certainly not with, also, the full use of solar panels being installed in all those homes, either.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I will get to those in a minute.  So -- and then, if you look at the next undertaking, which is JT 2.13, in there, you were asked about how many kilowatts per solar panel we can expect.  And you said that, for each home or unit, there will be generally 1 or 2 kilowatts in each home.

This, I understand, is a very complicated electricity design problem.  So are you expecting that all of these, let's call it, 10,000 solar panels will be exporting when there is excess power, for example in the middle of a hot summer day?

MR. CORY:  I haven't done any modelling in that regard, Mr. Ladanyi.  I don't have an answer to that.

MR. LADANYI:  So did MQ Energy -- and that's exactly my next question -- did MQ Energy model any of these scenarios?

MR. CORY:  Sorry, did they model what scenarios?  Specifically on a hot summer day?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, the scenarios of what occurs at peak times.  You know, at peak times, I would see the peak exporting when there is, let's say, not too much load.  People are not charging their cars in the middle of the day, but the solar panels are running and they are possibly producing excess power and feeding it back into the grid.  And then, on a hot summer night, when there is no solar power but all of these chargers are trying to charge up vehicles, 10,000 vehicles, this is the end state.

And I must tell you that I am on the OEB's DR working group and I have been listening to these issues for the last three years, so I am very familiar.  There are problems.  This is a very complex design that has to be -- if this is going to work.  And I want to know if MQ Energy has modelled this and if they have produced a report that would at least provide some confidence to the OEB that what is being planned is actually going to work and not crash.  So can we -- do you have a report like that, or a study?

MR. CORY:  Can I clarify, Mr. Ladanyi, because there was a lot you just said there.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. CORY:  And I am trying to be succinct, but I need to understand the question clearly.  So what I think I am interpreting you to say is that, if every single home had an EV charger and they were all charging electric vehicles at once, is the system designed to do that?

MR. LADANYI:  Right.

MR. CORY:  So, as part of the discovery evidence that I gave, I was asked at one point how many of the homes would be expected to actually construct and build EV chargers.  And my response had been, both as a planner who has to forecast different things of various kinds and just in consultation with MQ Energy, I don't think anybody who doesn't have an electric vehicle will proceed to then install and actually operate an EV charging station, because why would you, otherwise.  So --


MR. LADANYI:  Well, just a minute.  I know that this is right now.  I am talking about a future state, in about 10 years or so.  You are designing a system that's not going to last one year; this is going to be a system that's supposed to be in place for many years

MR. CORY:  Right.

MR. LADANYI:  So I would like to know, you are designing the system now.  This is a system with a future that we are supposed to be supporting, where each home has a solar panel which is exporting electricity into the grid and at least a fast charger and charging a car at night.  Do you actually have --have you modelled this?

MR. CORY:  So the answer is no, partly because of two things.  One, the full build-out of this community isn't even expected until 20 years from now, so all the homes won't be in place.  That's the nature of development.  It's not an individual project with one developer who wants to just build it all at the same time.

And, two, in talking to MQ Energy -- and I did pose questions of that nature to them -- they believe they are confident in the design, that it can accommodate anything within the next 20 years that would be reasonably expected to be EV charging connections, even better so if there are solar panels installed and putting energy back into the grid.  And also, cognizant of the fact that there is other infrastructure, including a potential TS, including potential other lines, that will very likely be built to both service these lands and the additional lands coming on in the next 10 to 15 years, well before the full build-out of this community.

So I know of no interim considerations of what you're talking about, nor do I think the scenario you're talking about is likely, based on my discussions with MQ and certainly on our discussions on how things will practically roll out in this community

MR. LADANYI:  So you do not have a report from MQ where they have modelled this for you?

MR. CORY:  No, they did not model unlikely circumstances.  No, they didn't --


MR. LADANYI:  So what kind of report -- do you have a report from them?  Let's start like this.  I would like to see -- maybe you could file it with the Board.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Ladanyi, this is not a leave to construct application, so could you explain what the relevance is to the application of your questions?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, we are being asked -- the ratepayers are being asked to subsidize a project, which is called Sustainable Brooklin Project.  Even though homes are being heated with gas and they have gas water heaters, they also will have chargers and they will have solar panels, and that's one of the salient point of this application.  And I want to know whether this is going to work.  It can't be a fantasy.  There has got to be some kind of an analysis to show the Board that what we are asked to support will actually work.  And I would think that it would be very prudent -- in fact, it would be reckless -- not to have a report that would outline how this is going to function.

MS. NEWLAND:  With respect, Mr. Ladanyi, that is a stretch.  I mean, we are not here to second guess the design of the system.  Design aspects of the system, other than the cost implications, are not at issue in this application, so I maintain this is not a relevant line of questioning.  I mean, Mr. Cory is not an engineer and he is -- I would say that we have probably taken this issue as far as we can.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, go ahead.

MS. DUFF:  Is this question perhaps more appropriate for Elexicon Energy, who is proposing the two-feeder system to supply?

Unless I am misunderstanding your point, you are asking about capacity for the future and what can be enabled.  So, I mean, this developer is a customer in this instance to Elexicon Energy.  Elexicon Energy is the one who is before the Board with the -- who will be responsible for the build and whether that is sufficient or not.  So could you consider --


MR. LADANYI:  Oh, yes, I would be happy to ask these questions of Elexicon Energy.  I will leave Mr. Cory.  I just have one more question, and it might be a simple answer, and then I am going to end.

So at the beginning of I think -- it might have been actually at the examination in-chief, you mentioned $46 million contribution, and that consists of Phase 1 and Phase 2.  We are discussing Phase 1, and you are calling the rest of this -- so it's $26.7 million contribution in Phase 1, and the rest of the contribution is what you would be installing on the streets, essentially, lines or conduits on the streets connecting the homes.

Now, isn't it normal in development in the Greater Toronto Area that the developer installs those electrical services on streets in the development?

MR. CORY:  Yes, although in this case the Phase 2 lines are again distribution on the primary streets.  That is still in addition to the work that developers will have to do within their own subdivisions to then do the distribution within that, which is normally, as my understanding of it has been gleaned from talking to both the developers and MQ, that's normally what's in the offer to connect, because in effect even those other lines within Brooklin are part of the extension cord.  However, in the initial conversations we had there was some acknowledgement that that was happening within the community at least, so that that would be separated from what is essentially Phase 1, which is clearly an extension cord where there's no direct service then coming off of any of those lines to any of the customers.

MR. LADANYI:  So primary streets would be main arteries, and then I guess side streets would be the rest; is that right?

MR. CORY:  Yes, the arterial roads in this case on the electricity scheme specifically, being Ashburn, Columbus, and Thickson Road, Thickson being a regional road, those are the main roads where nobody takes direct access either for development or anything else off of.  And then the street networks that come off of that into the actual development lands, that's where the local internal distribution happens that's normally subject to the offer to connect.

MR. LADANYI:  So you are saying that normally you would not be -- or developers would not be installing any services on the arterial roads, but sometimes they do, do they not, especially in the subdivisions?

MR. CORY:  Sometimes they do, certainly, which is why the application was separated in Phase 1 and Phase 2.  The only -- so it's not unique that you'd have to do a local line extension from a part of the community to get to your lands and then also do your internal distribution.  That's understood by us and by the landowners and has to be normalized as a cost.

But nevertheless, for anybody moving ahead, they're having to fund not just the 26.65 million, I believe it is, for the ICM that's before the Board, they also have to then continue with and deliver a component of the 20 -- approximately 20 million -- it doesn't have to be all of it, it can be scaled to just bring the lines to where their development is -- on top of that and then do their internal distribution as well.

So it just bears thinking of in terms of the financial burden and obligation.  It doesn't end with that just to even get power to the doorstep.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you very much.  These are all my questions for Mr. Cory.  Thank you, Mr. Cory.

MR. CORY:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, Mr. Ladanyi.

Next up on the schedule was CCC, Ms. Girvan.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Good morning, Mr. Cory, nice to see you again.

MR. CORY:  Good morning.  Nice to see you again as well, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  I just wanted to follow up on what you were just talking about with Mr. Ladanyi.  So there's -- you call the Phase 1 is the 26.6 million, but you're also referring to the Phase 2, which in your view is an additional 20 million.

Are you seeking an exemption from those costs as well?  Are those your costs --


MR. CORY:  No, the -- no, Ms. Girvan.  That's not part of this ICM, and it's not a request that's before the OEB of any kind.  It's just, we are just acknowledging a reality that to energize the first home, just because the ICM delivers this quote-unquote extension cord Phase 1 to the drop point at Columbus and Ashburn doesn't mean that any of the lands that I identified as the hatched draft approvals can still energize yet.  You still have to do the local distribution.

And just for clarity, for everyone's understanding, MQ Energy in doing the design with Elexicon is designing the entire system, Phase 1 and 2 together, and the intent is obviously as Elexicon is -- if the ICM is granted and it's being constructed, hopefully, imminently, the landowners wills make the appropriate funding and other arrangements to ensure that that can continue to deliver power to their lands.

The primary difference, though, I'd say with Phase 2 is that once again Elexicon is requiring between the lines so that they can be looped, but you can build it incrementally, because I understand from MQ if we just need to get it from here to here we can build those two lines just to that point to get to that customer, loop across the road, and it achieves Elexicon's requirement to have looping and redundancy in the system without having to build the entirety of Phase 2.

So because it is scaleable, it's a cost that is more readily dealt with and done by individual owners who need the power at any given time versus this extension cord, which, the whole thing has to be built in its entirety for even the first home to energize.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So in Phase 2 whose cost responsibility is that?  How many --


MR. CORY:  The landowners.

MS. GIRVAN:  All of the landowners up to nine --


MR. CORY:  Yeah, right now -- yes, Ms. Girvan, as my understanding of the way it's being treated, that is being treated as an expansion, and the delivery of those lines has to be accomplished by the owners.  And again, we are always seeking solutions there to do that cost-effectively and efficiently.  Quite honestly, we would have preferred to just do a radial line to those landowners, but Elexicon's system requirements want us to do lines on both sides of the road for redundancy.

So that's partly the reason it was separated, because one is scaleable in terms of the extent, the other is not.

MS. GIRVAN:  It's not just your landowners that are responsible for those costs?

MR. CORY:  Well, similar -- initially, yes, it is, because if they are the ones who require the connection, they have to bring the power to their lands, they have to do that, and then if somebody else who is not in our landowner group seeks to go to develop, which they can and would under the way the planning system works, they would connect right in, because the power would be right in front of their lands on the primary street.  So they would benefit from potentially even our construction of the Phase 2 lines with a questionable recovery on our part.

MS. GIRVAN:  Now, when you talked about the Whitby council, and you said that they supported this project.  Did they explicitly support the fact that generally the Whitby ratepayers are subsidizing the Brooklin customers?

MR. CORY:  Yes, Ms. Girvan.  I was part of the session with Whitby council when Elexicon presented the request.  This was in July of last year, I believe it was, or maybe the year before.  The pandemic is kind of bleeding all those years together for me.  But I was there.  It was explicitly stated to them, and then there was a number of questions from the councillors as to, that there would be rate increases, that the existing customers would have to bear those rate increases, and on the whole, and balancing that with their obligation to get development going here and understanding our predicament in being able to fund and deliver it, they absolutely supported it with full knowledge of that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Was the $26 million referred to?

MR. CORY:  In general terms, yes.  I can't remember -- and I just can't remember whether it was explicitly, but the rate increase generally that was associated with that -- with those -- that money, those funds, was definitely expressed to by Elexicon to the Whitby council.  I believe it was.  I just can't -- I don't have a clear memory of it, actually.  I need to speak truthfully here, and I can't actually remember specifically them saying that.  But I know the context and the amount that was conveyed to them was of that nature, yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Ms. Girvan, over the noon break I will check to see if there is something on the record that can assist you in that regard.  I think there was something filed -- I think Elexicon filed an undertaking that put on the record the PowerPoint that was presented to Whitby council.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you, that would be helpful.

Now I just wanted to ask you another question, Mr. Cory.  So if Elexicon doesn't get the exemption, what are you going to do?

MR. CORY:  It's an excellent question, Ms. Girvan.  The simple answer is we will have to wait as developers as a group until there is a critical mass to be able to pay for the whole capital cost of delivering this line, I think.  We'd certainly seek any other opportunity to have it delivered, if there are others out there.

But, as I said in my exam in-chief, this is going to be a big problem for us because it will at least cause a two- to three-year delay on top of the delay already experienced, just because I don't think the owners that are first movers are going to go ahead, to be quite honest.  I have spoken with them.  There is a very real potential they will wait until all of the other lands I show on that map have draft plan approval and there is a greater pool of developers to fund and move this thing ahead.


MS. GIRVAN:  But it's my understanding that you're going to recover the incremental cost of putting in the rough-ins from the people that buy the houses.

MR. CORY:  Well, if this application is denied -- it was the question that you're asking, if this doesn't go ahead -- they won't be doing the rough-ins.  What they will have to do is absorb the $26.6 million cost of even delivering power.  And that is problematic from two levels.  I mean, I have discussed the fact that the few first movers will have a hard time financing it, but, in addition to that, they would be bearing that cost on their own for at least three to four years during the time of constructing of it and then, finally, with the final development phases, they would only get a recovery of any kind once they started to proceed to development.  And, with the five-year recovery period Elexicon has forecasted, and I don't doubt it's generally not -- it's not incorrect, there will be very little recoveries of any kind for having paid for that $26.6 million capital contribution.


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you agree that the market determines housing prices?

MR. CORY:  Absolutely, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Girvan, I was just a bit confused by the scenario that you were proposing to Mr. Cory when you said about the people who buy the houses.  Could you perhaps restate your question, because I don't know that the question and answer follow; or at least I was confused.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.  I guess what I was saying is the cost of the rough-ins comes from -- they are paid for the house owners.

MS. DUFF:  If the application is approved or denied?  What scenario were you looking at?  Like --


MS. GIRVAN:  Either way.  That was really my question.

MR. CORY:  Yeah, I think I understand, Commissioner Duff.  I might be able to answer the question.

I think what you're -- this came up in discovery a bit and I provided, I think, a simple answer that, again, will clarify things.  Any cost of the home is put into the home price and, ultimately, the purchase price for the home owner, period.  However, the developers will always seek to eliminate costs where they can to keep the costs competitive, because, ultimately, you do get to a point where just adding in the home price will push the price of the home beyond anything reasonable from a competitive perspective or what is being sold otherwise.

And they have said to me, and I have no reason to doubt it, that, with the many other costs that have to be incurred -- we have to pay for servicing, there are many, many other costs, development charges, other things that go into the price of homes -- building in the costs of both the $26.6 million extension and the DER and EV rough-ins is too much.  So, in the instance that they -- this ICM was refused, they would not be proceeding with the rough-ins for -- the cost associated with the rough-ins and for doing those rough-ins.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But some of them might choose to, in the event that it would make the house more attractive to buyers.

MR. CORY:  Theoretically, yes, unless that price point pushed it so far beyond anything that they couldn't sell the home for that price.

MS. GIRVAN:  I guess we are talking again, I think we talked about this before, but we are talking $2,000 on what could potentially be an $800,000 house.

MR. CORY:  Plus all of the other -- there are many other inputs that are $1,000 here, $2,000 here, $10,000 here, and it all adds up.  And it is -- affordability has been identified as a crisis in Ontario for a reason and the addition of all of those costs commutatively continue to push the costs of homes up further and further.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  My only point is that some builders may choose to move forward, put the rough-ins in themselves, if this exemption wasn't granted.  That's not impossible

MR. CORY:  Absolutely.  No, absolutely, they might.  They could.  But there is no commitment, just to be clear, on behalf of the owners to do it as a commitment for every home as who is in the landowner group, that's for sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  I understand.  I understand that, but they may choose to go ahead.  It's not one way or the other.

MR. CORY:  Yes.  And, Ms. Girvan, they could actually also offer it as an option for sale to homebuyers, too, to add in as a purchase add-on potentially, as well.  That's an opportunity that could occur, as well.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Are you familiar with the Whitby Green Standard?

MR. CORY:  In general terms, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you explain to me whether or not builders get incentives from the township, I guess, according to that Green Standard?

MR. CORY:  So I am familiar with the generation of the Green Standards.  I was heavily involved on behalf of the landowners group commenting on that.  For everyone's benefit here, the Whitby Green Standards are sustainability and enhanced standards that the municipality is looking at that, if you do additional things like provide additional parkland or do exactly the kinds of things we are talking about, pre-build homes with DER or EV or net-zero homes, you get points and you score better.

There has never been, still to this day, an articulation of any incentives related to that program, other than, I suppose, branding.  Because, in many other instances where there are things of that nature, there are incentives, financial incentives or discounts, that are provided to construct the home.  Whitby has not identified anything of that nature, other than providing the rubric for saying, if you do these things, you will score Level 1 or Level 2 on the standards.  So I am not aware of any incentives, other than prestige and branding, potentially, that are available today.

MS. GIRVAN:  But that is an incentive.  It could be an incentive.

MR. CORY:  Potentially.  If you see it as a competitive advantage to be able to market it that way, absolutely.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you.  Now, from your perspective, is the Brooklin project and the Whitby SmartGrid project, are they connected?

MR. CORY:  I am hesitant to answer because I don't know how qualified I am to answer that question.  But my understanding of it, especially the live monitoring that is afforded with the Whitby SmartGrid, I think, is that it complements quite well with the installation of rough-ins that we are proposing to do.  Quite simply because -- and this is something that Mr. Ladanyi was sort of touching on -- depending on how much uptake there is going to be of solar panels and/or requirements for EV charging, I think the SmartGrid allows Elexicon to monitor, in a real-time way, a lot better and potentially make adjustments to, and deal with, their system in an intelligent way.  And I think the two, therefore, are effectively interrelated in the sense that you get the biggest and best outcome of them both by having both occur at the same time.

There is no -- I would imagine, other than downtime monitoring or having a live feed that, you know, there are power outages, which is a big concern, as well, having live understanding of the grid usage in different locations is equally important to plan the system and adapt to changing circumstances.  And that -- especially if there's energy being put back into the grid.  I think they, too, interrelate quite well if that's the case

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. CORY:  But I am not an expert in that.  I have no detailed knowledge of exactly what they will or won't be using the SmartGrid for.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Cory, in terms of the delays that are now -- that, I guess, Elexicon has experienced, do you know what caused those delays in the Sustainable Brooklin project?

MR. CORY:  Oh, for delivering our line?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. CORY:  I think it was quite simply that the discussion has always been, since 2018 and 2019, we need the power.  And Elexicon's position has been we have to work in a Distribution System Code.  That means it's an expansion and that means that your clients are paying for it.

We spent a lot of time exploring every other option, including whether we could extend from the 13.8-kilovolt system that services Brooklin today.  The understanding I have of that, both from MQ, our consultants, and Elexicon is that there is not enough ability or capacity to do that.  We looked at the -- the options in the application.  So the delay is getting just now the ICM to be able to deliver it financially and get the line built.  That's essentially the crux of the delay and how we have gotten there.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's not clear to me, but...

Can you definitively say that the cost of the rough-ins are 20, 60?

MR. CORY:  No, because I think they probably cost more now.  The price of everything is going up as time continues, and I would imagine, like, hearing as with the delivery of the electricity system itself, any -- inflation is affecting everybody.  I think the price is going up concurrently.

MS. GIRVAN:  It's possible, though, that certainly some developers can do it for less, possible?

MR. CORY:  I don't think that's the case.  We did survey our developers, and especially their building arms who costed out these things.  I didn't hear anybody saying they would do it for less, and that was more than a year ago.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  In terms of benefits to customers -- and I think you have said that these proposals benefit ratepayers.  If I am a Brooklin ratepayer, one of these -- one that's part of these projects getting built, I am getting a house, I am getting EV ready with a solar panel, but as we talked before, I am paying for that in my house price; isn't that correct?

MR. CORY:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So -- and then under your proposal, the other Whitby ratepayers are paying for the contribution in aid that you would normally pay for, which is the $26 million.  And you aren't paying anything; isn't that correct?

MR. CORY:  No, I don't believe it is, because we -- the premise of what you just said is that we would normally be paying for it, and that's exactly the point of our argument, is that we would never normally be paying for this 26.6 million extension.  This is an extraordinary ask that is putting us at a competitive disadvantage.

MS. GIRVAN:  I understand that, but what I am saying is you are not paying anything to put this project into place?

MR. CORY:  Do you mean in the instance where the ICM gets approved?

MS. GIRVAN:  Um-hmm, yes.

MR. CORY:  Yes, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's fine, thank you.

MR. CORY:  It's being socialized amongst the rate base; that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And in terms of Phase 1 and Phase 2, in Phase 1, if this doesn't get approved, how many ratepayers -- or, sorry, how many of the developers and landowners will be paying for the 26 million?

MR. CORY:  That's a very good question.  As many as are willing to try to proceed, I think, and can get financing, and whatever point there is a critical mass of people who can do that, and so at some point -- and I don't have a precise number or understanding of when that will be, but I would expect that within the next two years or so -- there's many applications ongoing.  They will all have received draft plan approval by probably within two years, and at that point they may be able to then finance and absorb the costs, so we're about four years out --


MS. GIRVAN:  How many?  How many?

MR. CORY:  I'd have to go back and look at that map that we produced.  But I would say many of the landowners, at least 60 percent I would think, something in that range.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay --


MR. CORY:  So let's call it 14, but that's not a -- that's an estimate.  I would have to actually go and count them, which I can do if you'd like me to do.

MS. GIRVAN:  No, that's fine, thank you.

I just have another question.

So you filed, I think it was on January 9th, supplementary responses to interrogatories, where you took the questions to Elexicon and you supplemented those with your responses.

And I am just -- you don't have to pull it up, but I want to refer to, I think it's interrogatory Staff 12, and in your response you go through what I would call -- what you've called is the construction forecast.  And in that you say that:
"The construction forecast continues to be updated based on updates and refinements that continue to be made to the draft plan composite."

So is that continually changing?

MR. CORY:  Yes, yeah, it is continually changing.  By the way, I did have a chance to look it up.  It would be 22 out of the 30 that hopefully would have draft plan approval within another two to three years.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And they would be contributing to the 26 million?

MR. CORY:  Yes, yeah, because they would be seeking to develop at that time and they would need the power immediately.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Can you provide an updated construction forecast?

MR. CORY:  You mean -- let me clarify, because we don't have it up in front of us.  This is the construction forecast where we are estimating 700 units a year; is that correct?  That's the one you are referring to, Ms. Girvan?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, yes.

MR. CORY:  No, because it's an estimate, it's not going to be updated -- I should clarify.  It's not going to be updated on an ongoing basis, it's quite simply an estimate of how many units we think are reasonable that the market would pick up in any given year.  Of course, it's dependent on the units being available for sale, as well as people willing to buy them.

So it's hard to be discrete, but it's driven by the market, but it's reasonable, very reasonable, to assume that once Brooklin gets going it will be at least 700 units a year that would be the pace we would be building homes at.

So there -- thank you, it's right there, yeah.

MS. GIRVAN:  So at this stage you are not prepared to update the 700.  You're still --


MR. CORY:  I am not able to.  Yeah, I am not able to.  It's the best estimate that any of us can provide with the crystal-balling of what will happen in the future in terms of home sales and production.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. CORY:  But I think it is a good estimate in my experience as a planner and as a land economist.  I am also a professional land economist and a professional planner.  That is a very reasonable assumption for the rate of growth that would occur once homes can start being sold and produced in Brooklin.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

Now, if you could turn to -- it's in the same document, Brandon.  It's interrogatory Staff 15, and there is another supplemental response from the Brooklin Landowners Group.  The very last page of that, which is actually page 11 of 24 in the document, 11 of 24.  There, there.  There we go.

And it says there:
"Notwithstanding the staged approach to construction of the Phase 2 project, the Brooklin landowners expect that at an appropriate time Elexicon will exercise its discretion to request that the OEB permit the extension of the customer connection horizon used to determine the quantum of required capital contribution from five to 20 years."

Can you explain to me what this proposal is?

MR. CORY:  So there's nothing before the Board today on that.  But we've made it clear, I think, from the very beginning that -- and I stated this as well today -- if we are building the Phase 2 as well, particularly if it's a looped system, and there's any intent to allow us to recover costs related to that, given that that is as well providing power to more than just our customers, it would be beneficial to us and we would want to have and seek to have a 20-year recovery so that anybody who would come along, say, within the next 15 to 20 years -- which is a reasonable time frame, by the way, for the construction of communities like this -- would -- we would have a potential to recover back those costs and have them fairly pay into what we paid into, not just absorb the cost as first movers and then never see any recovery from it at all.

That's the intent there.  There's nothing -- there's no request, though, just to be crystal clear, as part of this ICM or anything that is ongoing today, because we need to understand the dynamics of what's happening overall before any -- even considering such a request to the OEB, or to Elexicon, for that matter.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Let me just go through my notes.  I think I am almost finished.

Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  I am sorry for interrupting your cross-examination with my question.  I can't help myself sometimes.

MS. GIRVAN:  No problem.

MS. DUFF:  Next on was OEB Staff.  Mr. Vellone, I see you have put your camera on.  Did you want to say something?

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.

Just because there was an open-ended question from Ms. Girvan's questioning related to where in the evidence she can find the materials that were put in front of Whitby Town Council, Ms. Girvan, that is attachment 1 to the response to SEC 11, and it is the presentation that was given to Whitby Town Council and all the information that was provided to them.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  OEB Staff.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  Perhaps if we could -- I only had one line of questioning, but Ms. Girvan's added another question there.  Perhaps we can just pull up the last document Ms. Girvan was referring to.  I think it was Staff -- it was Brooklin Landowners Group response or supplementary response to 15, Staff 15.  And I want to focus again on the paragraph that Ms. Girvan took you to in terms of the speculation about possible further application to the OEB to extend the connection horizon.

Has Elexicon indicated to the Brooklin Landowners Group specifically that they are prepared to extend the connection horizon beyond the five years?

MR. CORY:  Mr. Murray, we have had discussions and there was -- just for everyone's benefit, through the discovery, we did put in the letters where we had requested that consideration formally of Elexicon earlier through the process.  There hasn't been an indication yet, and I'd say that's mainly because we have been so focused on Phase 1 that we haven't actually put that forward in a formal way, other than the initial request that it generally be considered for the Phase 2 lands.

MR. MURRAY:  But has Elexicon indicated a reception that they are prepared to extend the horizon beyond five years?  Has anything -- I know you have discussed it.  Have they actually at some point -- in Elexicon's view it makes sense to extend it beyond five years to 20 years.

MR. CORY:  So I think, in our discussions, they haven't been definitive about it, Mr. Murray, but, in our discussions, in my recollection, they certainly understand the reason for the request, especially in this instance, why we are building things for people that connect way beyond.  And they think they made it quite clear, in their opinion in my discussions, that that is at the OEB's discretion.

And, certainly, I did have a chance to review and see the letter that was put in in evidence just earlier this week with regard to the OEB Staff's direction to Elexicon on the West Whitby matter and what is stated there, which is that you would either need to change -- I am going to paraphrase here, I don't know if I have it exactly correct -- but, in that letter, there is a portion talking about this 20-year recovery period and it says that you either have to change the Distribution System Code or there has to be -- if it can be brought up, that would be great, so I don't have to paraphrase.  We could just read it together.  Let's see if we can -- I believe it's further on in the letter.  No, that's a little far.

MR. VELLONE:  It's on page 1, to the extent that's helpful for the person navigating.

MR. CORY:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Yes, there's one part, I remember reading it, that says you either have to change the Distribution System Code or there would have to be an exemption provided.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, page 2.

MR. CORY:  Page 2?  In summary -- let me just see if I can find it here.  Sorry, forgive me, I am just reading as we go.  Oh, there it is.  Right there, that paragraph, thank you.

With respect to the West Whitby Landowners Group's, in that case, questions about the appropriate connection horizon, your November 18th letter acknowledged that five years is set out in the DSC and is therefore a provision that Elexicon must comply with.  As you noted in your July 6th letter, Elexicon is prohibited from making changes.  This is, I gather, a direction from the Board to Elexicon in a manner that contravenes the code.

And then it states clearly here that:
"Any deviation from five years would therefore require an amendment to the DSC or an exemption from the relevant provisions through either a public consultation or a hearing process, as applicable."

So that was instructive to me because I think there has been a lack of clarity even in our discussions, both with all of our legal counsel, as well as in discussing things with Elexicon, how and when a longer recovery period can be provided.  I take it, from this letter and advice given to Elexicon by the Board, that these are the instances in which it can occur.  So I stand informed, as you asked me these questions right now in terms of this, based on this letter, that it's either an amendment to the DSC, which Elexicon has always maintained with us in our discussions that that's what they understood it to be, or there is a public consultation or hearing process, which, I am not an expert in this field, but I expect an exemption of this nature or others would be such a process where a longer recovery period can be provided.

I don't know the answer, though, because I am not an expert, quite honestly, and I am relying on -- yeah, that discussion and this statement here.

MR. MURRAY:  Fair enough, Mr. Cory.  And I would say that Staff will having something to say about the issue of the connection horizon and the process, but that strikes me as more for argument, so not something I will necessarily go through with you today.

MR. CORY:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  But going back to my question:  Have you asked, at any point, is Elexicon prepared to seek to extend the horizon beyond five years to 20 years?  Like, have you specifically asked them that question?

MR. CORY:  Yes.  Yes Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  And what did they respond?

MS. NEWLAND:  Excuse me, Mr. Murray.  I would refer you to letters that were attached to the supplementary responses of Brooklin to Elexicon's response to Board Staff number 11.  We filed two letters, I believe.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  In response, but what I am seeking is:  I haven't seen any correspondence where Elexicon has specifically stated that they are prepared to extend the horizon beyond five years to 20.  Is there anything like that?

MR. CORY:  Mr. Murray, I do believe that we did receive a written response that is in those letters.  If we can turn to them, it may be helpful to answer your question.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Murray --


MR. CORY:  We did formally -- oh, go ahead, Mr. Vellone, sorry.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Cory.  To the extent it's helpful, and we are not trying to get the witness to provide hearsay evidence, you can also fairly ask my client that question when they are sworn later.

MS. NEWLAND:  And, Mr. Murray, I would refer you to the supplementary response of Brooklin to CCMBC number 11.

MR. MURRAY:  Does that say that they --


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.  There is an exchange of correspondence, written correspondence, between Brooklin, or Malone Parson on behalf of the Brooklin landowners, and Elexicon.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  And, in the response that came back from Elexicon, there was -- they addressed the suggestion from Brooklin that the connection horizon be extended.

MR. CORY:  And so, yes, in this letter -- and that's where I was about to go, Mr. Murray.  In these letters, we absolutely, amongst other options, put forward the notion of extending the horizon as a request to Elexicon.  If you can scroll down a bit more; yes, here we are.  So these are the response letters.  There is some preamble about some of our overtures about whether it's an expansion or an enhancement.  That's covered off here.  If you keep going down --it may be in this letter or the next, and I apologize, I just can't remember off the top of my head.  We would have to look at it together.  This is as-built.  Oh, here.  I think it is here -- requesting additional expansion obligated the costs.  I think it's in the next letter, actually.  Yes, that's right.

Right.  So there's the discussion on whether we could treat it as a backbone on point one.  Here it is, here.  I think it's this paragraph.  Yeah, thank you.  If you go back up just to the top of the -- the bottom of the last page, it starts there:

"It should be noted, as previously discussed with you and BNLG, point 1 of the September 9th letter is incorrect when it asserts that the feeder/backbone portion of the system would need to be constructed by Elexicon to bring power to our area irrespective of whether the BNLG would have to develop."

And this was a point we had made because we said the power has to come to this community regardless of whether these customers are going ahead:  "This is not the case."

And then right here it says that Point 2 of the September 9th letter requests the connection period for the system within the BCSP -- so this is the entirety of it, but specifically the Phase 2 lands -- be extended to 20 years.  BCSP, to avoid acronyms, by the way, is the Brooklin Community Secondary Plan.

So for clarity here, Mr. Murray, the Part 1 or the Phase 1, the extension cord, as we are calling it, the subject of this ICM, delivers power into the secondary plan, and Phase 2 is the distribution I spoke about earlier on the roads that is the distribution within the secondary plan area itself.  This is the actual community being developed.  It says:

"And further requests that Elexicon seek approval of the OEB."

Because, at that point, or understanding was that they had to seek approval from the OEB for such an exception:

"To include revenues from connections for a 20-year period.  Elexicon does not view these requests as appropriate in these circumstances.  As you know, the feeder/backbone will be built in phases to accommodate the growth pattern and these phases will be built as separate projects, making the five-year connection period an appropriate length of time for this particular phase of the project.  For this reason, they don't see any exceptional circumstances."

I will say that I believe, in further discussion, there was some acknowledgement, obviously, after this written correspondence that there is an onerousness in a particular circumstance that applies here, and that evolved into the request for the ICM application.  But it did not -- the continuation of a discussion on the 20-year recovery period, to my recollection, was not resumed.  It transformed instead into the ICM application itself.

MR. MURRAY:  When I read that letter, that part of that letter -- and actually my next line of questions will be there, so please keep that close at hand.

MR. CORY:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  Is you asked them to seek 20-year horizon, and they said no; isn't that accurate?

MR. CORY:  Well, if you read the entire -- if you read the whole chain, we asked for the Phase 1, being this extension cord, to be something that Elexicon built as transmission, as a backbone, and then for the Phase 2 component that it be a 20-year recovery horizon.  That is what we were asking for in those letters.

MR. MURRAY:  And Elexicon said no.

MR. CORY:  They did say no, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  And they haven't said something since then to say yes?  In terms of this --


MR. CORY:  No --


MR. MURRAY:  -- should happen in 20 years.

MR. CORY:  You're correct, no, there is nothing -- there has been no resumption of the conversation on it, because we have been so focussed on this; that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So then how do you come to the conclusion that you think Elexicon will bring an application asking for a 20-year horizon when the only correspondence we have in evidence suggests you raised the issue to them and they said no to it.

MR. CORY:  So just to clarify, it's our expectation that they will.  I don't know that they will or they won't.  But I want it to be abundantly clear that our initial request is something that we would always continue to seek requests because of fairness and other considerations.

So it's our expectation that they would do that only because it's our expectation, not because we have reason to believe that they will do it, just to be clear.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess why I am struggling is, how can you expect they are going to do something where the only thing we have in evidence is you have asked them to do it and they have told you no?

MR. CORY:  Probably the best way to answer that is to clarify that we always intend to have that conversation and continue it in the future.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay, thank you.

If we could pull up the same letter we were on.  I want to focus down below, last paragraph, point 5.  And this was -- this was my five minutes, so I apologize for going over my five minutes.

And I just have one quick point, and it's starts with the sentence halfway down the paragraph, middle -- it's the sentence that starts "While Shepherd Rubenstein", so about five lines down, middle of the line.  It reads:

"While Shepherd Rubenstein provided us with their own economic evaluation model for consideration, that model clearly did not follow the rules of the DSC.  While Shepherd Rubenstein provided with us with their economic valuation model for consideration..."

Sorry, I repeated the sentence.

I don't believe we have a copy of that model on the record.  Are you prepared to file a copy of that economic evaluation model on the record of this proceeding?

MR. CORY:  So Mr. Murray, I would love to, but I don't have a copy of it either, because when Mr. Shepherd was our legal counsel, he prepared that and advised us he wasn't in a position to share it with us, it was something that was confidential and had to happen between the lawyers of Elexicon and himself.  I don't have a copy in any form or fashion that we can share other than the general advice that there would be a different outcome and it's one that we would want to pursue.  I wasn't furnished with one by Mr. Shepherd.

MR. MURRAY:  But clearly your client -- someone at WWLG must have one or the ability to request one.  It's their work.

MR. CORY:  Mr. Shepherd has it, and certainly I believe Elexicon may have it, but we -- I don't have access to it.  I was not provided access to it.

MR. MURRAY:  Will you undertake to request Mr. Shepherd to provide -- sorry, the Brooklin Landowners Group with a copy so you can file it on this proceeding?

MR. CORY:  I certainly can ask him for it.  It was certainly undertaken at our behest and the work was paid for dearly, so -- but I will say, though, that at the time he advised us he couldn't share it, mainly because of confidentiality and other concerns, and some degree, if I recall, of proprietary concern.

There's things in there that are -- need to kept private and exclusive for the use of Elexicon, and therefore as a legal counsel he could interface with them and provide input and advise us of the general nature of what was going on but not share the details of it with us.  So I can ask again, sure.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  That will be Undertaking J1.1.  And --


MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, before we mark that, please.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Vellone, I would like to just put one more thing on the record in terms of when you ask Mr. Shepherd.  And when you ask Mr. Shepherd, just to be clear, to the extent there's any confidentiality concerns with respect to that model, when it's -- assuming it can be filed on the record here, I would note that there are abilities within the Board to keep confidential information confidential, and we would have no objection for it being filed on confidential basis if there's confidential information in it.  And that shouldn't preclude to the Board having information just because it's confidential, because there's processes in place that we can do to address that.

MR. VELLONE:  So Presiding Commissioner Duff, if you would allow, I have an objection to the undertaking being granted, on the basis of relevance, and I just don't understand how a model where the evidence we have in front of us is that the Applicant doesn't support it, the Applicant thinks it's full of errors, it's years out of date, it relates to machinations of this project that long precede the ICM application that is now in front of you, and I am struggling to understand what we are going to glean from confusing the record further with this model.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Shepherd, I see your camera on.  I am sorry, I don't mean to laugh, but this seems to be a popular topic that people want to provide their contribution to the Board's considerations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Commissioners, I have been out of this for obvious reasons.  I will ask Mr. Cory to give me his permission to explain why this is a confidential document.

MR. CORY:  Absolutely, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. CORY:  Proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

The confidentiality claim is not mine or my firm's or my former clients'.  The confidentiality claim was made as a condition of exchanging models by the Applicant Elexicon.  They said, we will exchange models with you if you want, but only if it's between counsel, and the client on my side doesn't see those models.

And I think, frankly, that was because the Applicant thought their model was confidential and would be prejudicial to them in discussions with the developers.  But the claim is not mine.  I am happy to provide it or, indeed, if -- Elexicon has it, so if they want to provide it.  I don't think -- I should tell you I don't think it will help you at all in the matters before you, but if you want to see it I don't have a problem with that.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, so who is -- the confidentiality concern in terms of who is seeing it was with respect to -- perhaps you can just explain that.  I was a little lost by that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Elexicon normally does not share their economic evaluation models.  They told us they would share their model with us and we could share ours with them, and we could exchange models back and forth and put information in them as long as that was confined to between counsel.

Mr. Vellone and I know each other well and know that we can trust each other to be discreet.  And my client agreed with that, and we exchanged models on that basis.

MR. MURRAY:  But just to confirm, if the models were filed, if there is confidential information, the confidentiality claim could be made, and the client doesn't necessarily have to see the model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's absolutely true, Mr. Murray.  The point is I don't have a confidentiality claim.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Elexicon has a confidentiality claim.  They can assert it or not, that's up to them, but I do not.

MR. MURRAY:  Is it Elexicon has confidential information in Brooklin's model?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I actually don't remember the details of that model, but I suspect that, yes, there is information from their model that I have included in mine to make sure they're as comparable as possible.  I am not sure, but I think that's true --


MR. MURRAY:  My understanding is also that the Elexicon model has already been filed on the record here, so to the extent the Elexicon model is filed, I don't see why there would be concern about filing this model.  And, I mean, once again, if there is one model on, I think there would be benefit to having both models on.

I know that Brooklin has raised -- the Brooklin Landowners Group has raised concerns about fairness and what they thought would be a fair sort of thing, and I think it would be helpful, potentially, though it's difficult to say when I haven't seen any of the models or concerns that Mr. Vellone has raised, I think it would be helpful to have both models on the record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can tell you I gave an undertaking, so I can't give you the model.  Just, as a lawyer I am not allowed to do that.

On the other hand, the party that does have the model and to whom I gave the undertaking is before you, and they can give you the model and I do not object.

MR. CORY:  We wouldn't object either, as the client who was involved with it, Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  Just to clarify one more point.  Mr. Shepherd, you are saying you gave an undertaking not to produce with respect to your model when you provided it to Elexicon?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I gave an undertaking to Mr. Vellone, lawyer to lawyer, as you often do, right, saying that we would exchange models on the basis that I would not share them with anybody; I would keep them to myself

MR. MURRAY:  You wouldn't share their model?  Wasn't it that you wouldn't share their model?  Like, your model is already prepared.  You already have the model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think the undertaking was broader than that because there may be information in my model that comes from theirs.  But I don't think that's a problem because Mr. Vellone is here.

MR. CORY:  Mr. Murray, if it's helpful -- and I know, Mr. Shepherd, you are just saying you couldn't remember exactly what it was -- but my recollection was that they would share their model with Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Shepherd would manipulate some of the assumptions to what maybe we thought was reasonable, or Mr. Shepherd thought was reasonable, and then provide it back to them.  So it is essentially their model.  I think that's the nature of the concern.  That's also why we have never been privy to other than generalities around it.  We never saw it and we never had access to it because it's Elexicon's model, essentially, just with maybe some manipulations or changes to it to explore different scenarios.

That's my -- Mr. Shepherd, that was my recollection of the work you undertook and why we never had access to it.  And we accepted that that was the case because we would rather have you have a productive conversation to find a different solution, as opposed to have access to it and see it ourselves.

MR. MURRAY:  So it's essentially Elexicon's model with certain adjustments that Brooklin thought would be fair.  Yes.  So, given that we already have Elexicon's model on the record, I don't see why this one shouldn't be on the record, because it shows essentially what -- at least at that period of time, that snapshot, what the Brooklin Landowners Group thought would be fair.

MR. CORY:  Well, just to clarify, what Mr. Shepherd thought would be fair on our behalf, but yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Presiding Commissioner, I see you trying to jump in.

MS. DUFF:  Well, I'm just saying, first of all, there is no undertaking being taken for the record right now.  We haven't decided that.  And, if we were to take one, who is taking the undertaking?  Mr. Murray, could you perhaps clarify?  Mr. Vellone said he did not think it was relevant to the proceeding.  Now, with this discussion that has taken place, to what party are you asking this undertaking, now that you have this information?

MR. MURRAY:  Whoever can actually -- because I understand there are some sort of confidentiality concerns, even if this model may have at one point originated with Mr. Shepherd -- whoever has the ability to file the model.

MS. DUFF:  And why do you think it is relevant, Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  Because they have raised fairness concerns.  The Brooklin Landowners Group has raised fairness concerns about the process, about the amount of money they are being asked to pay -- not even just the $26 million, also the $20 million -- and so I think it would be helpful for the Board to understand what they think is fair, what they think would be a fair thing.  And it would also give you a chance to see a breeder snapshot in terms of what revenues will be generated in the broader scheme.

And so it's difficult for me to give a concrete answer in terms of I think this cell or that cell is accurate, because I haven't seen it, but we already have the Elexicon model on the record.  It has already been filed in on the record in this proceeding.  All we are asking is that Brooklin's view of what is fair should be filed on the record so that you have a contrast to consider.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  We are not going to decide this right now, but before we break -- and we do need a break -- Mr. Vellone, if you could just repeat.  You said you did not think it was relevant.  Given the conversation and what you have heard today, do you stand by that position?

MR. VELLONE:  I do, Presiding Commissioner.  And I will note that it would be more accurate to characterize it as Shepherd Rubenstein's view of what was fair, not the Brooklin Landowner Group's view of what was fair, particularly.  And that's all I would add, given what Mr. Murray has said.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Before we break, do any of the Commissioners have a question that they wanted to ask?  Otherwise, I will take a break now.  I will return -- sorry, I am getting little pop-up messages; way too many screens.  We could just proceed with the panel questions now.  All right, we are going to defer.  We are going to reserve this undertaking request and, right now, I don't know to whom it's going, but we are going to make a decision on that after we have had a chance to discuss it.

So we are back to the schedule, which is Commissioner questions to the Brooklin Landowners witness panel.  Okay.  And then after that I think we will -- we will just see if Ms. Newland has any redirect before we break.
Questions by the Board:


MR. ZLAHTIC:  I apologize.  I was the distraction to Commissioner Duff.  I was suggesting let's just ask our panel questions and then break if necessary.

Good morning Mr. Cory.  Well, actually, good afternoon now, sorry.

MR. CORY:  Good afternoon, Commissioner Zlahtic.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  I just have a few questions.  I gather, from your earlier reference to Enbridge Gas, that the plan for the Brooklin Landowner Group is to build homes and install natural gas furnaces.  Is that...?

MR. CORY:  For all the grade-related homes, correct, Commissioner.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Sorry, the which homes?  Sorry, Mr. Cory.

MR. CORY:  Sorry, I will be more clear.  All of the grade-related homes, meaning not apartments.  So this is the single and semidetached and townhouses.  They absolutely are proposed for a gas furnace and a water heater, I presume, as well, because that's typical and standard.  It's only the apartments that would likely have heat pumps.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  The other question, as well, is, you know, with our climate, some form of air conditioning in the summer is pretty much essential.  Right?  And is the plan to install air conditioning units or cold climate air source heat pumps?

MR. CORY:  I believe that it would always be to install air conditioning units.  Usually, I think most homeowners don't do that standard; they still offer it as an upgrade or additional cost if the homeowner wants to put it in as part of the home purchase.  Otherwise, homeowners do it after the fact on their own.

But it would be electrically based, is the point, yes.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  I don't want to sound like a salesman for Enbridge Gas's DSM program, but there are significant rebates now out there that make cold climate air source heat pumps very, very economic.  Anyway, just for your thought.

The other question I have is -- and these are planning questions.  Now, I am totally out of my depth.  I am not a planner. So your draft plan approval process, is that with the municipality?

MR. CORY:  Correct.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.

MR. CORY:  Well, the municipality is the authority that grants draft plan and, ultimately, final plan approval, but in close consultation with many agencies, including the Region of Durham.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  So obtaining this draft plan approval, does that include, you know, the location and costs of other utilities like sewer and water?

MR. CORY:  Commissioner, no, not as yet.  So it may be helpful if I very briefly tell you how the planning system works in this case, very briefly

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Please feel free to go 101 on me.

MR. CORY:  Absolutely.  I am happy to provide as much -- I know it well, obviously, and can explain it, but I will try to be very succinct.

You have a piece of land.  You need to subdivide the land legally into different pieces of parcels of land that can then be the subject of either a site plan or a building permit.  The draft plan of subdivision process is the mechanism to do that for big pieces of land.  Through that process, the layout and the final determination of where all the roads, the parcels of land, is determined, it's called "draft plan of subdivision" because you can only do so much detail for the overall plan.  Then there is a lengthy process, sometimes up to a year or more, between draft approval and final approval where many, many studies are done, the detailed engineering is done, the final locates for utilities is done.  But, generally, most utilities obviously are in shared common trenches in the roads, so that's just where they go.  So, you know, where the roads are, that how you know where the utilities are going, of course.

But the final design, location, everything is finally done through detailed engineering, which is a prerequisite study that is required prior to what we call "final approval" or registration of the draft plan of subdivision.  So, when registration occurs, there's a subdivision agreement, a legal agreement, that's entered with the developer and the municipality together to now do everything they said they were going to do, including construct the streets to the appropriate standards, do all the things they have to do to develop the land.  And that's when real money starts being put into the ground, just practically, for servicing, putting pipes into the ground, actually building things.

So the draft plan approval under the Planning Act is a legal requirement before any developer can then proceed to sell homes to anyone.

However, most developers would never proceed to sell homes until they have certainty at least maybe with an engineering submission or two that things aren't going to shift around on them still, because there is opportunity for the final location of roads and lots and all those things to shift based on, well, now we understand the grading, now we understand the soil composition, now we understand many things, and this is the final location of what will happen.  And that includes the final location and delivery of the utilities, including the local distribution within the plan itself.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay, great.

MR. CORY:  Is that helpful?

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Yeah, incredibly, and I am going to reread the transcript on this just to make sure I grasped everything.  I appreciate your explanation.

But, okay, with that, what I think I understand now, so you are at a point, I guess, with final plan approval, let's say, you know the lot you're selling, you can define, you know where the streets are, you've got all the locates for all the utilities, be it sewer, water, gas, electricity.

Who -- and who builds the roads?  The developer builds the roads, I presume?

MR. CORY:  Correct, the developer, local -- some roads are the responsibility and cost of the municipality or region.  Those are typically --


MR. ZLAHTIC:  Right, right.

MR. CORY:  -- in Whitby -- I could be specific.  In Whitby, oversizing for a collector road that theoretically serves beyond just the development is a shared cost, and it's a development charge cost.  And that cost is recovered as a development charge credit if it's built by the developer.

The local roads within the subdivision are the developer's costs.  They build those roads and they ultimately convey them for assumption and being taken over by the municipality once they're -- the development process is completed.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  So similar to the roads, I mean, developers would install the sewer as well, and water, I gather?

MR. CORY:  Absolutely.  And this is the distinction that I always make in my own mind with the electricity discussion we are having.  If it's internal to the subdivision and it's the local services, the developer builds all of those at their cost and builds that into the home price.

However, as an example, they would build the local sewer, but if there was a bigger trunk sewer required by the region, and the region actually controls and does servicing, sanitary, sewer servicing, in this instance, those larger sewers would be constructed at the region, has development charges that they collect from everyone to pay for and deliver those, and if a developer front-ended it, like, absorbed the cost of doing it just to accelerate their own project, when they were to obtain final approval they would have development charge credits recognized against the cost, because that cost is socialized amongst all the developers going forward, and that's controlled through the development charge regime.

So in other words, if a developer is paying for something they need today but it benefits many others, that cost is socialized amongst all the other developers that are going forward.

The challenge, I think, here is that there is not a similar mechanism for that to occur, as I understand, under the DSC with something like what we are talking about with the Brooklin line.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay, I will get there, I promise, and there's a point to me asking all this.  Earlier Mr. Ladanyi was talking about apportionment of cost, so now we were just talking about utilities like sewer, water, the construction of a road, you know, and as well as part of your Phase 2 there will be, you know, electric conduit.  I presume it will be underground electric system.  It won't be poles and wires.

MR. CORY:  Within the subdivision, yes, yeah.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  But all these costs have to be apportioned, and I got the flavour from Mr. Ladanyi's cross-examination earlier that this apportionment wouldn't be possible with something like Phase 1 of the Brooklin -- Sustainable Brooklin project.  Like, if you can apportion road costs, you can apportion sewer, you can apportion water, why can't you apportion Phase 1 amongst your 30 members?

MR. CORY:  It's an excellent question, Commissioner Zlahtic.  The simple answer is that when you're doing the, say -- let's look at the different scales.  If you are doing within your subdivision, that's all on that developer and ultimately those home-buyers who have to pay for all those costs.  When you are beyond your subdivision and you're into the larger community to get things to you, those costs are normally socialized over a larger base.

The issue, quite simply, is that if developers -- and there's many here, it's a whole community, it's not just the customers currently needing the cost -- proceed with funding it, quite simply, the others who aren't ready to go yet won't fund it and may not be even able to obtain financing if they wanted to fund it five or ten years in advance of when they are actually going to develop.

But also, there's no socializing or development charge mechanism or similar mechanism that I'm aware of to recover those costs back from the first movers.

So if the first movers pay for the cost, they eat it, and they end up having to absorb that cost in a way that's very unfair, especially if there's others who come along and say, well, I don't -- good for you.  I am glad that you guys built the thing for us -- the electricity system for us, but show me what piece of legislation or anything else requires that I share in the costs.  And there's nothing I can point to under the planning system, being the official plans and their policies, or that I am aware of under the DSC, especially if there's a five-year recovery period, that has any ability for us to force anybody else to collect back from anybody who is a first mover.  That's the fundamental fairness problem that we face.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  I understand it, and you made the point very well in your initial comments.

I just want to -- I may have one more question.  Just let me think for a second.

Your discussion with Mr. Murray, OEB Staff counsel, earlier -- and I just want to be crystal-clear.  If Elexicon were willing to extend the connection horizon from five years to something longer, that's something that the Brooklin Landowner Group would be acceptable to, then.  Is that what I heard?  And I don't want to get into discussing different sections of the Act --


MR. CORY:  Sure.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  -- and whether we can do it without a consultation.  Assume they could do it and they were on-board to do it.

MR. CORY:  Right.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Would that be something that would be acceptable to the Brooklin Landowner Group.

MR. CORY:  It's something we could certainly consider.  There was -- our position in the letters that were filed and Mr. Murray took us to, we made it very clear we thought this is an extraordinary cost, just this backbone itself, and that even the Phase 2 was a cost that we would want to have that 20-year recovery period on.  We -- just that by nature of the various options we put forward, one of the things we asked Elexicon, and I was told this is not permitted, could we have some kind of allocation set up like the way a servicing allocation is set up, where if we pay for this line they would refuse or insist that others pay us back for our contribution prior to letting them connect, for instance, right?  And that's where the nature of the 20-year recovery period came forward.

The problem we have, Commissioner Zlahtic, is, quite simply, one of timing and ability to fund regardless of the 20-year recovery period, because we are still having to have a very few come up with 26.6 million.

One of our other arguments was that the twinning of the line, as I understand it is required, is essential for redundancy, and I can appreciate that, because you can't have one line go down, but we were always saying that if it was just our needs we would just build one radial line to get the power to our doorstep, and everything else is a system cost.  That's not our cost to bear as well.

So in and around the various machinations of those things, I think there are different fair options, but I -- to be honest, it's not my area of expertise, and I hear various things from our legal counsels, the many of them that we have had on this, and others, about what is or isn't possible.

We have always been open, just to be clear, to anything that was within reach of what we can fund with a fair recovery period on it.  That's always been -- and gets the power in a timely way.  That's always been something we have been looking for in any combination or machination of what can be done.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Mr. Cory, thank you very much, those are all my questions.  And thank you for appearing here today.  It's been -- from my perspective, it's assisted the panel greatly.

MR. CORY:  Thank you for listening and thank you for hearing us.

MS. DUFF:  I have a few more questions, Mr. Cory.  And, yes, we don't usually get developers testifying in front of us.

I just want to go back to your planning process in a bit more general, especially your conversation.  It was in the technical conference, it was Mr. Ladanyi, you were talking about Enbridge Gas, and I am like, in your planning process you talked about this housing starts.  The provincial government has a housing start commitment, and I am still weighing the relevance of that to the Ontario Energy Board, but I also know that the provincial government has a commitment for GHG emission productions by 2030.  You may not be aware of that.  But, I mean, you made the decision, it sounds like, it's already decided that you are going to have these homes heated with natural gas.

MR. CORY:  Through -- so, Commissioner Duff, I think I said that's normally what would happen.  I don't know that final decisions have been taken on that.  I am not going to dissemble and say that I think anybody is deviating, or planning to deviate, from that path.  But I heard the comments here today, and certainly we will take those back to the landowners.

I am, of course, a consultant on behalf of the owners themselves.  I am not a developer myself.  But any incentive program or anything that can be offered, certainly, that moves the yardsticks on climate change is very much up for discussion, and any innovation is up for discussion, which is exactly why the owners were willing to put DER and EV rough-ins on the table to get this built.  I'm certainly happy to, and I think it can be a live discussion, anything else that can be done, within reason, on climate change

MS. DUFF:  Don't get me wrong.  I am not trying to make recommendations to you and your developers.  It's just, as a developer, what do you think are choices customers should have?  I mean, these people have not bought the house yet.  In 2025, they may not even live in Ontario.  I just -- it's just interesting, this source -- I mean, you are making decisions that will present houses to consumers who are going to live in them.  But I am just, like, in your suite of ideas that you considered as innovative, whether they are energy savings, whether they are GHG emissions, it was -- you've -- the plan right now is to have them heated with natural gas, air conditioners, but then rough-ins for solar panels and EV charging stations.  Like, I just -- how did you pick all of those?  Or were the EV charging stations and the solar panels just a response to this contribution aid to construction?

MR. CORY:  Yes.  So, Commissioner Duff, I'd say developers are risk-adverse, if you can believe it.  Although, in my opinion, they operate in a very risky business with a lot of money in the wind until they develop.  But they will always go to what the standard building practices are as a starting point, and there is no difference here.

In terms of the evolution of the solar panel and EV rough-ins, that absolutely came through the discussion on how we could find a way forward with the ICM, and absolutely with regard to, hey, if Elexicon is going to build this, we have a commitment to, and the OEB has a commitment to, innovation.  And, certainly, the landowners understand the imperative that you have mentioned on greenhouse gas emissions and climate change mitigation, and there are many other things we are actually doing, whether it's low-impact development, which helps with flood risk and climate mitigation, as well as emissions reductions with different appliances, and other things that are offered in the sale of the home.

But, to be clear, developers are always willing to innovate if it can be done in a way that's rational and they can rationalize, especially in a way that they know they are not going to build a home that ends up putting homeowners at risk with unknown technology, or that they are not building something that adds extraordinary cost; if there are rebates, et cetera, to go ahead with those things.  But, to be crystal clear, the impetus for the EV -- the electric vehicle rough-ins and the solar panel rough-ins was very much a challenge put to us by Elexicon, and certainly one that we were happy to meet, to have innovation and to rise to the need to have innovation in the construction of these homes.

MS. DUFF:  No, thank you very much for that.  I appreciate the additional information.  Ms. Newland, did you have any redirect for this panel, this witness?

MS. NEWLAND:  Commissioner Duff, you'll be very pleased to know that I do not.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.  I think Mr. Cory may be more pleased.  Anyhow, the witness is excused with the Panel's thanks.  Thank you very much.

That took longer than we were expecting.  We are going to take our -- I think we are going to take our lunch break now.  Mr. Vellone, I think you said you had 20 minutes of direct, so let me do the math.  I guess, why don't we meet at 1:20.  We are just going to have a 45-minute break.

Mr. Vellone, were you still going to stick with that 20 minutes?  There were a few issues that happened this morning, and I didn't really want to belabour this process with some of those issues that came up, but perhaps you could advise me if you still need 20 minutes.

MR. VELLONE:  I expect we will be shorter than 20, Presiding Commissioner Duff, but most of it is logistical, witnesses introducing themselves, getting them sworn in by Commissioner Zlahtic.  They have a short opening statement,  but it was 12 minutes, I think, in total when we ran it.

MS. DUFF:  That's great.  Thank you very much.  Okay, so we are going to break until 1:20.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:38 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:22 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone, thank you very much.  Perhaps we could introduce your witness panel.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.

In terms of a process this afternoon, I propose allowing each of the witnesses to briefly introduce themselves, give their title and the area of evidence they are responsible for, and then I believe, Commissioner Zlahtic, you can affirm the witnesses, and then we will proceed with our in-chief.

So Mr. Vetsis, starting with you, please.

MR. VETSIS:  Hello.  Steven Vetsis, VP regulatory affairs and stakeholder relations at Elexicon.  I will be speaking to the areas of the ICM regulatory application.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Chan.

MS. CHAN:  Good afternoon, everyone.  I am Cynthia Chan, the chief financial officer here at Elexicon Energy.  My area of coverage will be business planning.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Boudhar.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Good afternoon, Commissioners and everyone.  I am the lead asset management and planning technician of Elexicon Energy and will be covering the asset management and distribution system planning associated with the ICM project.

MR. VELLONE:  And for the benefit of the record, your name is Hocine Boudhar.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar, sorry, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Ms. Eleosida.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Good afternoon.  My name is Ingrid Eleosida.  I am the manager of operations, technology, and innovation, and my area of coverage will be the distribution automation software and technology and the EnerCan funding.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good afternoon.  My name is Daryn Thompson, and I am with METSCO.  My role is a specialist in SmartGrid planning, and I have been in that position since 2014.  Prior to 2014 I spent five years as a SmartGrid applications specialist at SNC Electric Canada.  My area for this project is author of Appendix B5, which is the Whitby SmartGrid technical engineering report, and I am here to speak to the technical aspects of the SmartGrid.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Martin-Sturmey.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Kurtis Martin-Sturmey.  I am the manager of asset management and performance at METSCO Energy Solutions, and on the panel I am representing the load forecast that was filed in evidence.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And Mr. Mandyam.

MR. MANDYAM:  Hello, Panel.  Andrew Mandyam, with Utilis Consulting, vice-president there.  I'm helping Elexicon out with its ICM rate monitoring.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.

Commissioner Zlahtic, the witnesses can be affirmed.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  I am going to read your names sequentially and then you can respond in the same sequence, if you would.
ELEXICON ENERGY INC. - PANEL 2
Mr. Vetsis,
Ms. Chan,
Mr. Boudhar,
Ms. Eleosida,
Mr. Thompson,
Mr. Martin-Sturmey,
Mr. Mandyam; Affirmed.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Thank you very much.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Vellone:

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Vetsis, Ms. Chan, Mr. Boudhar, Ms. Eleosida, Mr. Thompson, and Mr. Martin-Sturmey, and Mr. Mandyam, was the application, including all the interrogatory responses and any updates to the evidence undertaking responses, prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.

MS. CHAN:  Yes.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY: Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you adopt the evidence as your own in this proceeding?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.

MS. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are there any corrections you would like to make to the evidence?

MR. VETSIS:  None other than that date that we saw this morning in the one undertaking.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Vetsis.

Mr. Vetsis, I believe you have prepared a brief opening statement?
Opening Statement by Mr. Vetsis:


MR. VETSIS:  I have, thank you, Mr. Vellone.

Madam Chair, Commissioners, good day, everyone, and I would like to take a moment to thank you in advance for your time and consideration.

Elexicon is seeking ICM funding for two projects.  The first is 43.1 million for the Whitby SmartGrid out of EnerCan funding, and the second is 26.6 million for the Sustainable Brooklin project.

Before we get into the details of each project, I wanted to raise two important considerations for the OEB Panel in relation to the preferences of elected officials in Elexicon service territory and provincial government calls for the OEB to facilitate innovation.

First, both ICM projects have received support of local elected leaders.  In fact, the Whitby town council voted and unanimously supported this ICM application.  The Regional Municipality of Durham and the Brooklin Landowners also filed letter in support of this application.

On January 18th of this year, the new mayor of Whitby filed a letter in this proceeding expressing council's continued support for the ICM projects.

Elexicon put significant stock on the decision of elected officials to endorse these ICM projects.  In our view, the OEB needs to carefully consider the investment preferences of local communities when rendering its decision.

Second, in proposing these innovative solutions, Elexicon is cognizant of the Minister of Energy's push for further electrification and the transition to cleaner energy sources.  These proposed innovative solutions are aligned with the OEB's communicated expectations of distributors, the OEB statutory objectives regarding facilitation of innovation, and the communicated expectations from the Minister of Energy.

Elexicon is looking to be supportive of these expectations and in particular the Minister's statement that the OEB's role as energy regulator has never been more important.

The push for further electrification and the transition to cleaner energy sources will require innovation and leadership from the OEB, and that's from the most recent letter of direction that was issued by the Minister.

Elexicon is also looking to support the OEB's communicated expectations of distributors in its recent Framework for Energy Innovation report.  In this report the OEB indicated that a distributor may propose system investments that enabled DER integration, which may include innovative options for meeting system needs of a high DER future.  Both of these innovative ICM projects support these policy objectives.

Now, on Monday, March 27th, Elexicon filed an evidence update for the application which contained two elements.  Firstly, Elexicon updated the proposed in-service date of the Sustainable Brooklin project to Q2 2025.  This change is primarily the result of delays in the regulatory process and increasing lead times for materials due to supply chain constraints.

From a rate recovery perspective, Elexicon proposes that the riders for the Sustainable Brooklin project would be approved on an interim basis and in effect as of January 1st, 2025 to reflect the revised in-service date.

Consistent with the approach to updates for Whitby SmartGrid project outlined in the response to technical conference Undertaking JT2.2, Elexicon will file revised rate models in its 2025 rate application to finalize the rate riders before they go into effect.

No other changes were made to Elexicon's proposal for Sustainable Brooklin, and none of the evidence updates related to the Whitby SmartGrid project.

Next I wish to talk a little bit about the discretion to extend the customer connection horizon.  In the questions from the Panel, Elexicon saw multiple references to the OEB Staff guidance regarding a distributor's discretion to extend the customer connection horizon under section 3.2 of the Distribution System Code.

Upon further reflection of the implications of the OEB Staff guidance, Elexicon provided some additional considerations in its evidence update which require consideration, particularly the interplay between the OEB Staff guidance in the broader statutory context of the utility's requirement to provide non-discriminatory access to the distribution system under section 26 of the Electricity Act.

It is Elexicon's understanding based on conversations with other utilities that few utilities have ever sought to extend the customer connection horizon.  In the exceptional circumstance where it has been used, the extension has never been for more than one or two years.

An extension of the customer connection horizon to 10, 15, or 20 years as implied by OEB panel question number 4 would be unprecedented.  In fact, the OEB Staff guidance contradicts other guidance issued by OEB Staff only two years earlier.

So due to the significant penalties resulting from non-compliance with an enforceable provision under the OEB Act, further guidance is required from the OEB to determine whether this discretion exists.

Now, please allow me to introduce these two ICM projects to you.  The Whitby SmartGrid involves the installation of a suite of proven SmartGrid technologies on Elexicon's distribution system in the Whitby rate zone and the Veridian rate zone.  These technologies deliver a net benefit and include voltage-VAR optimization technology, which may be referred to as VVO; advanced distribution management systems, or ADMS; and fault location isolation and service restoration, sometimes referred to as FLISR.

The Whitby SmartGrid will be placed into service in 2025 and will meet the funding requirements of the NRCAN grant.  A key feature of the Whitby SmartGrid project is that the proposal is to implement the technology across the entire Whitby service area.  The reason is that all customers paying for the Whitby SmartGrid should also have the opportunity to benefit from the cost savings and reliability and operational improvements the project would deliver.  The ADMS would also be implemented in the Veridian service area.

This project will implement the grid of the future and is expected to provide the benefits noted on page 8 of Appendix B1 of the application, namely, cost reduction compared to non-automated options for operation, reliability improvements and connection flexibility relating to increased complexity of DERs, storm hardening and the ability to restore power quickly in an outage, reduction in energy consumption, reduction deferral of capital expansion programs, enhanced communication to customers during events, enabling innovative opportunities for non-wires alternatives, and aggregation of dispatch of DERs in customer choice in energy transactions and enhanced asset management.

The second project, the Sustainable Brooklin project, is being constructed to service demand growth within North Brooklin.  The project involves the construction of two new 27.6 kV feeders from available capacity at Whitby TS to the new load in North Brooklin.

And Mr. Ott, if you can, this is best illustrated in attachment 1 to Elexicon's response to OEB panel question number 1.  In this figure, we can see the lines leaving Whitby TS, going north up Lakeridge Road, east on Columbus Road West, and terminating at the corner of Ashburn and Columbus, which is indicated by the bottom-left black arrow.

For the Sustainable Brooklin project, Elexicon is seeking ICM funding of $26.7 million and an exemption from section 3.2 of the Distribution System Code, so that we would not have to collect a capital contribution from local developers toward the cost of constructing and operating the power line of the project.  In exchange, a group of residential developers, the Brooklin developers, commit to building new residential homes that are DER and EV ready.  These homes will have standard rough-ins for rooftop solar, battery storage, and EV charging.  The project will also facilitate optional upgrades for buyers to purchase homes that include fully functional DER and EV systems.  Even if the homeowner does not elect to incorporate DERs into a new home, the cost savings resulting from the preinstalled rough-ins will incent homeowners install DERs in the future.  Rough-ins will allow for immediate installation of this equipment.  Without the rough-ins to install DERs, customers would have to pay for expensive home retrofits to renew electrical wires in the home, at approximately triple the cost.

The Brooklin developers have stated that, if they are required to pay the capital contribution, they would instead just build conventional homes without the rough-ins.  This is a highly suboptimal outcome; thus, Elexicon is applying for an exemption from 3.2 of the Distribution System Code.

For clarity, the approvals of the Sustainable Brooklin project and DSC exemption are inextricably linked and should not be approved without the other.  The Sustainable Brooklin project is currently scheduled to become used and useful in Q2 of 2025.

The OEB should grant this exemption because it will promote innovation by facilitating the creation of DER- and EV-ready homes; it will allow Elexicon to pursue opportunities to defer or avoid material capital investments in the future, which will benefit rate payers; it supports federal, provincial, and regional goals to reduce GHG emissions and mitigate climate change; and, while Elexicon does not take a position on point, the Brooklin developers identified potential fairness issues under the DSC and TSC relating to the payment of capital contribution in these circumstances.

I wish to thank everyone for their attendance today and the OEB Panel's consideration for these two projects.  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Madam Chair, the panel is available for questioning.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  According to the schedule, SEC is first.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And I can tell you that I am scheduled for three hours and, even with breaks and everything, I plan to be finished today; in fact, at 4:59, I will stop in mid-sentence and say those are my questions.

So I want to start by putting in evidence a compendium, the School Energy Coalition Compendium, which was filled this morning and get -- does everything have it?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can I get an exhibit number for it.

MR. MURRAY:  I just want to confirm for the record, Mr. Shepherd, that nothing in -- I believe you have sent us an email, but, like, nothing in this compendium is actually new information.  It's all just kind of an amalgamation of what's already in the record.  Correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is an amalgamation of everything that is in the record, with the exception of one page from the PUC distribution decision; which has been referred to a number of times by the Applicant, so I didn't think it would be a problem.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K 1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K 1.4:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, Stephen, welcome to Elexicon.  I note that I will have the privilege of being the first person to cross-examine you in your new role.  And I do have a couple of questions following on your direct.

You talked about the importance of the elected leaders supporting these projects.  I think you were mainly referring to the Whitby SmartGrid, but maybe also Sustainable Brooklin, I don't know.  Were you referring to both or one?

MR. VETSIS:  I believe both projects were endorsed by the Whitby town council.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And yet you are not suggesting, are you, that the elected leaders in any way have some sort of decision-making capacity that entrenches on what the Board has the to do.  Right?  The Board still has to do what it has to do.

MR. VETSIS:  Obviously, the Panel is the one that will make the ultimate decision in this proceeding, but, in our view, the unanimous support from our council, who represents our community, is a factor that should be considered in the OEB's decision making.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And how are you proposing that the Commissioners should be influenced by the fact that the town council, for example, said, "Yes, this looks fine to us."  How do you think they should be influenced by that?

MR. VETSIS:  I think it's as a reflection of the local preferences and largely as a reflection of the local preferences and objectives of the community.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And did any of the elected officials have the same amount of evidence that the Commissioners have here in this proceeding?

MR. VETSIS:  My understanding is that you have a copy of the presentation that was presented to the elected officials.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  I also note that, you know, from a practical perspective, there are certainly a lot of technical details that are quite specific to the regulatory realm which might not be helpful for the town council

MR. SHEPHERD:  They might not appreciate having 2,000 to 3,000 pages of stuff dumped on them, I agree.

The second follow-up I want is, you talked about the Whitby SmartGrid having cost reduction benefits, in your direct evidence, and there hasn't been a lot of emphasis on that in this proceeding.  The cost reductions mainly come from ADMS.  Right?

MR. MANDYAM:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, the cost reductions that Mr. Vetsis was referring to are really the benefits which we have outlined in undertaking JT 1.22, I believe it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I am sorry, I just want to stop you there, Mr. Mandyam.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I was quite sure -- and maybe Mr. Vetsis can correct me if I misunderstood him -- I am quite sure that what Mr. Vetsis was saying was there were reductions in OM&A other costs that will be enjoyed by Elexicon because of these technologies; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  Mr. Shepherd, I was directly quoting from Appendix B of the -- in fact, I think I provided the reference in the opening statement -- in Appendix B-1, which -- just give me a second to get the reference for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, the question is a simpler one.  Does it refer to OM&A capital reductions or is it the benefits on the other side?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, can we go to page 8 of B-1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. VETSIS:  And I think the cost reductions I think referenced there are on the operations side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And it's correct, isn't it, that you're asking the ratepayers to invest in this, but because you're in an extended rebasing period the benefits of those operational benefits, including the cost savings, will accrue to the benefit of the shareholders; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  It will assist to offset the underlying cost pressures that the utility's facing on an overall basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you're not -- in the proposed rate riders for the Whitby SmartGrid you're not proposing to give the ratepayers any credit for their investment?

MR. VETSIS:  Ratepayers do benefit in the form of the X factor that they receive in our inflationary increase every year.  You know, this is an --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what normally -- sorry, normally what happens is that during an IRM period, especially an extended rebasing period, the utility invests their own money in new productivity initiatives and things like that and gets the return on that, benefits from it, until the next rebasing.

It sounds like you're saying -- and I don't want to put words in your mouth.  It sounds like you're saying, no, we want the ratepayers to invest in this, but we want to get the benefits, the shareholders.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, the evidence here is quite clear, Mr. Shepherd, that there is a net benefit to ratepayers of this project they will receive in the form of reductions and energy savings, for example, just one of the elements that I believe is listed on table -- if you give me just a second I can get the right reference for Table 1, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's okay.  We are going to come to benefits later, so I understand what you're saying -- I think everybody understands what you're saying.

Now, my questions in this cross-examination are almost entirely about the Whitby SmartGrid, but I have one set of questions of that that are indirectly related to Sustainable Brooklin.  They are not about the project, I am not talking about the project, but about how you're going to deal with other customers who are not part of the project.

And I wonder if you could turn to page 25 of our materials, our compendium, Exhibit K1.4.  And K1.5 is -- sorry, page 25 is Undertaking JT2.4, and if you scroll down to the bottom of the first page you'll see that what Elexicon is proposing is that non-residential customers will pay contributions calculated in the normal way if they connect downstream of the Brooklin line; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  Correct.  Within the standard five-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then if you go to page 10 of our materials, you'll see that -- this is Undertaking JT1.12 -- you were asked by Mr. Ladanyi to do an economic evaluation for non-residential customers, and I believe this says -- and correct me if I am wrong -- you modelled a school consuming 150 kilowatts a month, which is a big school, but still not huge, and you said that the additional contribution that you would expect because of the Brooklin line, if you have to pay for the Brooklin line and then they have to contribute, is about $140,000; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  In this example that's correct, Mr. Shepherd.  But I do believe we had indicated in the prior undertaking that, you know, that we would be open to alternative approaches.  I think the way that the current proposal is aligned is effectively taking, I don't know, the risk-reward balance that the developers would experience in the standard course and transitioning that to ratepayers.

So traditionally you get your -- you'd submit your capital contribution, and to the extent that there's any unforecasted load that comes after the fact, they would contribute as well, and it would be refunded to the original payor.

And so effectively that's what we are doing here with ratepayers.  To the extent that this unforecasted non-residential customer comes along the line, the residential customer could -- would get that benefit the same way that the original developer would had they paid the capital contribution.

And so as we noted here, we -- Elexicon could be open to alternative options.  If the OEB's preference is that, you know, it ultimately decides to approve this project and the preference is simply that, you know, it's the -- simply paid for by ratepayers and there's no contributions from non-residential customers as proposed here, that's something that Elexicon would be amenable to.

Of course, Mr. Shepherd, that's continuing to maintain, however, those -- that commitment for the necessity for a contribution from the developers of the 22.60.  I hope that's clear for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, it's not, but I will pursue it a bit.

So the 700-a-year homes that are the Brooklin Landowners Group, you have a deal with them that they will rough-in, they will put the rough-ins in, and they don't have to pay the contribution.  As long as they put the rough-ins they don't have pay to contribution; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Newland, you're on mute.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Shepherd, sorry to interrupt, but I just wanted to get some clarification from you.  Of course, your intervention on behalf of your client advised that your participation in this proceeding would be restricted to the issue of Whitby SmartGrid, and you are straying into the issue of the Brooklin line ICM, and I am just wondering if you can explain where you are going and why you are apparently -- why you are not doing what you said you would do in your intervention.  Sorry, that's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm not asking any -- well, in the first place, my intervention was not limited to the Whitby SmartGrid, it excluded Sustainable Brooklin.

MS. NEWLAND:  Quite correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's different.  Right?  I am not asking questions about Sustainable Brooklin, and I have no comment on the developers or anything else on that side.  However, if Elexicon plans to charge schools for the Brooklin line without giving them the same benefit of if they're EV ready, for example, they don't have to pay the contribution, if they're doing that, I am entitled to ask about that.  That's not about the deal with the developers, that is about how schools are treated by Elexicon.  Completely separate.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  I will consider what you have said, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

So the developers don't have to pay the contribution if they make their houses EV- and solar-ready.  Other developers coming in, as I understand what you've said, that are not part of the Brooklin Landowners Group but are also willing to make the same commitment, would also be exempt from the contribution; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  Just to be clear, they would be held to the same regulatory obligation as the developers of the Brooklin line.  So I believe what we have stated is that, you know, the Brooklin developers and any future developer would be required to either make the home DER ready or contribute the $2,260 per home.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But if a school -- and I guarantee you, the 13 schools in this area, I guarantee you they will all be like this -- has already solar panels on its roof, and it already has bidirectional EV chargers in its parking lot, a dozen of them, and already has storage in the basement, they get no credit for that.  Is that right?  That's your proposal.

MR. VETSIS:  If they connect within five years.  If they connect past the five years, per the standard rules, there's no obligation for them to contribute in any manner.

And, again, I think, as I stated to you earlier, Mr. Shepherd, it's been -- the way the proposal is now is aligned essentially with basically the risk-reward balance that a developer would have as part of a normal course expansion.  And, as we have noted in the very last sentence of JT 2.4, like you stated, Mr. Shepherd, we understand the question and concern raised by certain parties during the technical conference and are open to alternative approaches of apportioning the value of the Brooklin line to non-residential customers that are not part of the quid pro quo, should the OEB order otherwise.

So if you'd like, Mr. Shepherd, in your submissions, you are more than welcome to submit that, you know, schools should not participate, if that's the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am not going to wait for submissions, Mr. Vetsis.  That's why I enjoy cross-examination.  I am going to ask you, Elexicon, to commit right now that anyone who meets a similar standard, who is a non-residential customer, who meets a similar standard to the developers will also have the same quid pro quo credit, obviously adjusted to the size of their commitment and the size of their load.  Will you commit to that?

MR. VETSIS:  Can we just take a quick breakout room, please.

 [Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. VETSIS:  We may have lost a witness in transition, if you'll give us a quick moment.  As Mr. Thompson connects, I guess I can just get us started a little bit.

Mr. Shepherd, a request like this mid-hearing, I don't think that's something that we can commit to.  I think we -- if you take a look at what you're proposing, the challenges associated with this, we mentioned in JT 1.6 the challenges with administering these, you know -- monitoring, you know, unforecasted loads, et cetera, over an extended period of 20 years.

What we can commit to is, again, should the OEB deem it to be appropriate, we commit that we have no -- certainly can continue to indicate that we have no concerns with not requiring, you know, the contributions of unforecasted loads of non-residential customers, if that's what they believe is better off for the overall customer base

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Somebody is putting something on the screen.  Who was that?  It wasn't one of the witnesses, right?

MR. MANDYAM:  No, that was Brandon.

MR. OTT:  No.  That's me, Mr. Shepherd, just responding to an evidentiary record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, before I get to the guts of this -- I know, it sounds like I already did -- but I want to just make sure we understand the amounts associated with the Whitby SmartGrid, because there is information here that doesn't appear to be consistent.

So I want to take you first to page 2 of our materials and, in page 2, in our question, we excerpt a chart from the ICM models.  And, on the next page, you confirm it, so it's not like it's wrong; it's correct.  And, in that, it appears to say the ADMS, that's the advanced distribution management system, is $12.8 million, of which $4 million is paid by the Feds and $8.8 million is paid by the utility.  Do you see that?

And now I am going to go to page 5.  This is the business case, and the business case says the ADMS is $8,082,000; the rest of the Whitby SmartGrid, the VVO and FLISR, is $39.1 million; for a total of 47.2, same total.  And then the NRCAN funding is deducted from it, and that NRCAN funding relates to the ADMS.  Right?  That was a question.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so -- and this is the $43.1 million that you, Mr. Vetsis, referred to in your direct evidence.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then we go to your forecast of what's going to be brought into service.  And this is the updated one from Tuesday.  Right?  And this is from JT 2.1, revised on Tuesday.

And, if you take a look at this table, this is the -- no, sorry, page 6 of our materials.  If you take a look -- and I know it's very small; I am sorry, I didn't do it -- but, if you take a look at this table, it appears to me, and you can correct me if I'm wrong, that the net additional ICM money, if you go down towards the bottom, you see in 2025 -- no, 2025; there you go -- the additional ICM money is $114,960 minus $49,173, which is a total of $65,787.  Have I got that right?

MR. VETSIS:  I am sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  Could you repeat that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  The total capital in service in 2025 is $114,960.  The $49,173 is what you would have spent, not including these ICMs in this proceeding.  Is that right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes, so the 114 is the total ICM -- total capital, including ICM, and then the one -- the 4,917 is the total net for Elexicon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, that's without the ICM?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Without the ICM; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the difference of those is 65,787.  But Sustainable Brooklin we already know is 26,657; right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that leaves 39,130, which is not the same as the numbers that you have been providing, the 43.1.  There's a difference of $4 million.  And I'm -- I'm having trouble understanding what are the actual numbers.  How much is ADMS, both gross and net, and how much is VVO and FLISR, the field study?  I don't know who is going to answer.  I am open to offers.

MR. VETSIS:  Why don't you give us just a quick moment to confer, and we will return back in a second.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  Ashley, do you mind giving us a breakout room?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I can't do it, but Ashley can.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. BOUDHAR:  Okay.  Apologies, we just lost another person while leaving the breakout room, but I will -- answering the question, so the correct estimate is the table filed on your compendium, Exhibit K1.4, which is page 5 of the compendium.  Table Number 2 is the correct estimate for the ADMS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- that's good.  That's what I thought, by the way.  So I wonder if you can undertake to refile the updated attachment to, what is it, JT2.4, is that?  I lost track.  The one on page 6 of our material, JT2.1, could you refile that with the correct numbers, please?

MR. VETSIS:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's no other reason why they would be different, other than it's just an error; right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That's correct, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Shepherd, before we move on, we should probably give that a number.  That will be Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO REFILE THE UPDATED ATTACHMENT TO JT2.4 WITH THE CORRECT NUMBERS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can now turn to page 7 of our materials, and now we are into the short of the meat of the Whitby SmartGrid, and this is an excerpt of the first three pages of the business case.

Let me just clarify:  There was no prior business case; right?  This business case was prepared for this application, and there was no business case prior to that; was there?

MR. MANDYAM:  You are correct, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand the reason for that is you had a vision, I think, that Elexicon's system is going to have to evolve into a sort of what you call a grid of the future; right?  The answers are very simple.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, yes, yes, that's -- yes, that's correct.

So the -- well, I think it's in evidence, but the sequence of events that led to the Whitby SmartGrid and the Sustainable Brooklin project are documented in transcript from last technical conference, plus the time line is provided in SEC 22, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I am not really concerned about that.  I am really more concerned about understanding this vision of the grid of the future, because at the time that you did this business case last year, you already sort of had in mind that you would like to upgrade and expand your system.  I don't mean expand in the sense of make it bigger, but rather in the sense of make it more modern and innovative.  And you had already started on the ADMS project, right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes, the ADMS project is in progress.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you actually got the funding for that in 2021.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  There is funding for an initial phase of the ADMS that was included in the DSP; correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, but the NRCan commitment was April 2021; right?  That's when you signed the agreement.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  No, I believe in our response to IR SEC 2022 the NRCan CA was established in August of 2022.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So then what was the funding that you got committed to in April 2021?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  April 2021, in that same IR response to SEC 22, if you refer -- if that is what you're referring to, was our initial registration to NRCan for our interest to apply to the funding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, sorry, you applied -- I am mistaken.  You applied for the funding in 2021 for ADMS; right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you ultimately got 50 percent coverage.  They are giving you $4,041,000 for the $8,082,000 of qualifying expenses; right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes, we received funding at the 50 percent level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so we have, somewhere, a total cost of ADMS that is slightly higher than that, and that's because there is a certain number of costs that you internally treat as ADMS that actually don't qualify for NRCan funding.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Can you point me to where that cost you're referring to is?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Look at page 2 of our materials, 8801.  I thought, by the way, that, in the technical conference, you actually said, yes, there were some things that were excluded because NRCan doesn't fund them.  Maybe I misunderstood.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Okay.  So, just to be clear, we are comparing -- if I can also refer, us to OEB Staff 9.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Schedule -- attachment 1, schedule B.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Um-hmm.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  I just want to make sure we are comparing the same number here.  And, if I look at that first table there, the very last row, the total cost there is noted as 8.082001.  And is --



MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, and then there's another $321,000 of ineligible expense.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  So we are clear.  Now -- now I have lost my train of thought.  So this idea of the grid of the future, you've talked about this in a number of places.  Mr. Thompson talked about, for example, in the technical conference, the need for all LDCs sooner or later to come into the future and do all of this stuff.  Is that right, Mr. Thompson?  You don't have to turn it up, it's just a general comment

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Elexicon agrees with that.  Right?  That you have to go this that direction sooner or later.

MR. VETSIS:  I would argue, Mr. Shepherd, that it goes broader than Elexicon.  If you take, you know, even a flip of the OEB's own FEI reports, it talks about the need for utilities to develop their capabilities and make enabling investments, for example, such as system monitoring, data analytics, et cetera.  I don't know that it's something specific to Elexicon.  I think it's a generally communicated use of the sector.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not going to get any disagreement from me, man.  I am a true believer. But I want to make sure that I understand that that's the vision you are implementing here with Whitby SmartGrid, is that future.  Right?  I see a lot of people nodding.

MR. VETSIS:  I think this is a foundational investment, certainly, that moves us along that path.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding that Whitby -- sorry, the Whitby and Pickering areas of Elexicon are very high-growth areas.  Right?  You've said this a number of times in this proceeding.

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the fact that they are high-growth gives you an opportunity to move forward on those sorts of things, like the grid of the future, that perhaps a utility that doesn't have very much growth has a harder time doing.  Is that fair?

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm just stepping in on a technical level.  There isn't anything about the growth in the Whitby rate that's driving the [audio dropout] and FLISR with respect --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you're echoing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Somebody else's mic was on.  No?  Testing 1, 2.  Can you hear me now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I'm good.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I apologize.  Do I need to repeat?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I think the court reporter got it even if I didn't quite.

[Reporter appeals.]


MR. THOMPSON:  For simplicity, let's just say the Whitby SmartGrid.  The growth is not driving the Whitby SmartGrid.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So then why does Whitby think that it should be doing this right now, as opposed to -- as opposed to over time, as apparently most other LDCs are doing?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, many of these --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Thompson.  I am actually asking a question of Elexicon, if that's all right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fair enough.

MR. VETSIS:  Could you repeat the question, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  If this is not a special opportunity because we are high growth -- which is what I thought it was, by the way -- then why is it important to do this all right away, right now?  You are going to put tens of millions of dollars of new gear in the field right away quick.   What's so urgent?

MR. VETSIS:  I do think there is -- we have talked about, and perhaps Mr. Sturmey can discuss a little bit more, that there are upcoming constraints forecast on our 44 kV, for example, system as early as 2030.  And so, again, Mr. Shepherd, it's a mix of the benefits, the operational benefits that we talked about, as well as, you know, the looming potential constraints on the system that all added up together as making this the ideal time for that opportunity.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Shepherd, the other element I do have to -- that I'll add is that there is the convergence of the Sustainable Brooklin matter that Elexicon developed a solution for that dovetails with the Whitby SmartGrid.  So it's -- you know, there is -- the fact is that the comprehensive projects were designed together to meet the Whitby -- sorry, to solve the issue of the Sustainable Brooklin issue, which is getting the line up to the North Brooklin.  So the DER enablement that North Brooklin provides, in concert with the Whitby SmartGrid, lets you -- you know, that's another driver of the project, I should say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Elexicon has admitted a number of times that the two projects are not really connected and that each is independent of the other, so I will come back to that at some length later, but it sounds like what you're saying, Mr. Mandyam, is that the two projects are inextricably linked; they need each other.  Is that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  They don't need each other; they benefit each other.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I'd like Elexicon to do is to tell me:  Is this description of your vision of the grid of the future in pages 7, 8, and 9 of our materials, the first three pages of your executive summary of your business case, is that your current view?  Can we look at that and say we understand that this is where you're going?

MR. VETSIS:  I think that's a fair statement, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then can you go to page 70 of our materials.  And you won't recognize this, I don't think, Mr. Vetsis, because you weren't around, but others will. This is an excerpt from the presentation that your president made to Whitby town council.  Is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this description here, which is the grid of the future and enabling net zero homes and supporting climate change goals and all that stuff, that is essentially the PowerPoint version of what you described in the business case.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  There are themes here that align, yes, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So would you look at the last line of that.  It talks about a local electricity market.  That's part of the plan, too.  Right?

MR. VETSIS: I believe we had noted in our DER enablement exhibit that that was something that Elexicon would be taking away and considering, but I think, as I discussed earlier, you know, really the Whitby SmartGrid is like, it's the key enabling first step to progress the utility on its journey of modernization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So I had understood that there was -- that your plan was to have this DER market and to have a CDM program so that you would move -- and indeed, to roll out the SmartGrid into the Veridian areas too, and that was all part of the sort of long-term plan; is that fair?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, I think we had mentioned that, you know, depending on the outcomes of this proceeding, that we would take back the outcomes of the OEB decision and take a look at a DER enabling program.  I don't know that the conclusions have been as specific as what you've stated, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yeah, but I am still talking at the visions level now.  I understand you don't have a detailed plan to roll all this stuff out.  I get that.  In fact, you called the DER market thing at the pre-planning stage; is that fair?

MR. VETSIS:  Perhaps you have a specific reference you could take us to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  It was Mr. Mandyam on -- and it's actually on page 43 of our materials.

If you look towards the bottom, Mr. Mandyam says:
"It is in the planning stage.  Well, it's before the planning stage, actually."

So it's still an idea; right?  I mean, you are working on it, but it's still an idea?

MR. VETSIS:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And am I right that none of this stuff is in your DSP, your distribution system plan?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- but most of it, most of the stuff that you've asked for now, is stuff that is pretty known technologies.  These are not like, you know, some new idea from Silicon Valley, these are things that lots of utilities have deployed in their systems; yes?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is true.  Lots of utilities have put this equipment in.  It's tried and true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, I just -- maybe if I can find the reference -- here we are.  I think it's at page 24.  Yu provide a list of electricity distributors that have implemented these things.  This is in response to Undertaking JT2.3.  Do you see that list?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there's lots of them.

MR. THOMPSON:  There's lots of them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I guess it's fair to say they are pretty conventional technologies; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think it's more than fair to say that.  The distribution automation systems have been a staple of LDCs for 15 years.  VVO systems have been deployed in various utilities across Ontario.  As you can see, this list is just the ones that have mentioned it in an OEB filing.  The list of projects that I have been involved with are larger than that.  If you scroll up a page you get a list of the projects I have been involved in.  Ontario SmartGrid fund, that's right, the one that says "number 2 grid monitoring".

So where it says "VVO" in brackets at the end, those are all VVO projects that were funded through the Ontario SmartGrid fund over the last, say, five years or so, so there is quite an extensive list.  This technology is known, and it's known what it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except for the Sault SmartGrid -- go back to page 24, please.  Except for the Sault SmartGrid, none of these had an ICM; did they?

MR. VETSIS:  I am not aware of any others but, again, I guess my question to you, Mr. Shepherd, would be, what's the relevance of the funding mechanism?  Particularly when we are talking about this project and its ability to provide a net benefit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so the relevance is everybody else seems to be able to do it without coming for extra money, and then we have Elexicon that says, no, we want to do it all at once, we want to spend tens of millions of dollars all at once in one year, and so because of that we want some extra money.

MR. THOMPSON:  If I could scroll back up a page.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, one more.  So that list of projects there, those were all funded by the Ontario SmartGrid funding.  So not everybody -- well --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This whole list or just the ones on page 22?

MR. THOMPSON:  The first set of bullets there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  And so the rest of the list were all, we have to do this, we will just go ahead and do it, and it will be our capital plan; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.  Most of the rest of the list, those are reliability projects, and so the OEB has long recognized investment in distribution system to support reliability.  In this case the reliability has never been the driver.  The driver for this Whitby SmartGrid is the enablement of large-scale penetrations of DERs consistent with all of the latest energy transition reports and directives so -- so there's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's an interesting -- can somebody take the screen share off so I can see Mr. Thompson, please.  Thank you.

The -- so the -- I thought that this project, the Whitby SmartGrid, doesn't break even unless you include the reliability benefits; am I wrong?

MR. THOMPSON:  The reliability benefits are part of the benefit assessment, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it also needs the VVO benefits, the 3 percent reduction in throughput, in order to be cost-effective; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  VVO benefits are also cash-generating benefits, and as combined set they make a net benefit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it actually only barely breaks even; right?  It's good.  It has all sorts of intangible benefits.  I get that.  We actually support it.  But in terms of the actual dollars, those big benefits, you need both of them to make it cost-effective; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's not 100 percent true.  The math works out with those big benefits, and those are easy to quantify and easy to cost.  There's formulas for how to cost that.

As is noted in several places in the document and in the evidence in-chief, there is a long list of benefits of this project, not the least of which are operational cost reductions, storm hardening.

I will give you a good example.  A very big storm came through last year that was considered to be a major event base, so it doesn't get reported on the reliability the same way as a regular outage does, yet the customers felt that storm.

So it's not a reliability improvement, it's an improvement in storm outages that gets costed differently or shows up differently, but I would say that the point of this project is that we are looking at very high penetrations of DERs and we need to get some systems in place, Elexicon needs to get some systems in place, that are run-of-the-mill systems in the context of VA -- everybody's done it.  It's practically table space at this point -- and innovative in the concept of VVO, and they have this opportunity to prepare themselves for high penetrations of DERs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why it's all in one application is because the Sault SmartGrid project was approved and it was all in one application and Elexicon said, well, we can do that too; right?  You have said that in your evidence, so it's not -- I am not trying to catch you on anything.

MR. THOMPSON:  On a technical level it's very similar to the PUC project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so Elexicon saw an opportunity to get the same thing done in Elexicon; right?

MR. VETSIS:  Also, again, Mr. Shepherd, keeping in mind the broader context of the change in the sector, keeping in mind the context of the, you know, the limitations to our system, which are coming up, having in place tools that can help us accommodate that growth, and, again, to be able to do all of that at a positive net present value, and again, I would take you to EDO-1.  You know, you mentioned -- you characterize it as barely passing.  I don't know that I'd agree with that characterization of the net present value, but certainly EDO-1 lists a numerous amount of additional benefits of the program that we just haven't been able to quantify, including potential even, you know, reductions to transmission charges paid through the reduction to peak through the VVO system.

So I don't know, again, that I would fully characterize -- taking all of that into effect, here is an opportunity, an innovative opportunity, to prepare Elexicon for the future at a net benefit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know what, Mr. Vetsis, you and I are actually on the same page on this.  The only concern I have -- and this is my next question, and maybe the last question before you take a break if you wish, Madam Chair
-- is, if I were the Board, if I were the Commissioners, I'd be concerned that having -- Sault got a gazillion dollars for this.  If you get another gazillion dollars, everybody will be in, in the next 12 months, asking for many gazillions of dollars to do this, and that's not sustainable.

And so I am wondering why Elexicon should do, it as opposed to London Hydro or Festival Hydro, or Newmarket, or somebody else.  Why is it you?  I mean, aside from the fact that it's your application.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, I can't judge the facts of as-of-yet unfiled applications which, again, we are speculating the volume of.  It so happens that, in this application, the OEB has evidence in front of it of a particular circumstance, a particular project, that can deliver net benefits.  I can't say if that's going to be the case for everyone else.  It will depend on their own circumstances and it will be up to them to defend, you know, the various -- meeting the various criteria to prove to the Board that it's a prudent investment.

But I think what we have here is a set of facts in front of the OEB and a set of circumstances which, ultimately, will deliver a positive value to ratepayers and a set of circumstances in terms of Elexicon service territory where the benefits of this project are substantial

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it will generate a positive benefit, I absolutely agree with you.  But, first, there's a big rate increase and then, over time, there's a positive benefit.  Isn't that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  I think that's correct.  Over the course of time, 27-year asset life and average asset life, there is a total benefit to the customers, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Vetsis, it sounds like you're saying the Board should not be concerned with the risk of the flood gates opening.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. VETSIS:  Well, no.  I will say this, Mr. Shepherd.  You know, you could look at it from the opposite perspective, as well.  The OEB has an objective to facilitate innovation.  You know, we have here evidence of a positive business case and we think there is a lot of important value to go here.  Even just outside of, you know, the savings we have had, last year, Elexicon experienced four major event days, significant storms.  You know, just from a resiliency perspective, there is benefit to these investments.   And so -- oh, my goodness, I just talked away my train of thought.  That's certainly embarrassing, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wait until you get to my age, Mr. Vetsis.  It will happen to you often.

MR. MANDYAM:  While Mr. Vetsis gets his train of thought back, I just would say I think, you know, there is a uniqueness to this project, these two projects, that I think the Board can rely on; or at least, to your point, Mr. Shepherd, use as a litmus.

So the magnitude of the projects that you have talked about is made up of two things; one is Sustainable Brooklin and two is Whitby SmartGrid.  So will another Sustainable Brooklin land in the Board's application proceedings?  Maybe, maybe not.  Probably not.  And so that's one piece of uniqueness.  And then, with respect to the Whitby SmartGrid, we have talked about the growth, we have talked about the DER enablement.  I think this is another element that makes this project unique.

So I think there is uniqueness here that this Board, this Panel, can make a decision that -- well, as we know, all panels are not beholden to the other panels that have made decisions before, but this Panel can make a decision that is unique to itself and approve it without creating the flood gates, so to speak.


MR. VETSIS:  And, finally -- I apologize.  Thank you, Mr. Mandyam, for allowing my memory to reform.

But I think, you know, there's also the concern of the opposite end, which is, you know, you might be afraid of the flood gates.  The flip side is that denying applications with net positive benefits can also have a chilling effect, as well.  You know, it could essentially close the door and dissuade these kinds of proposals.  And I think what I have heard just -- certainly, take a look at the direction that has been given from the OEB.  Take a look at the FEI report which, in of itself, states that utilities shouldn't be -- shouldn't wait to bring forward good proposals.  I think, like I said, Mr. Shepherd, I would view the opposite to be a bigger issue, which is creating a -- closing the door to utilities pursuing innovation just because a fear of opening the flood gates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with those pithy comments, you may wish to take a break.

MS. DUFF:  That sounds good.  It's 2:40.  We are just going to take a 10-minute break and we will resume again at 2:50.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:39 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:55 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Sorry for the delay.

Mr. Shepherd, can you please continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I just want to ask -- probably this is to you, Mr. Vetsis -- you haven't yet done a formal process of integrating the Whitby SmartGrid into your capital plan; have you?

MR. VETSIS:  What do you mean by "formal" [audio dropout]?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so, like, there's a bunch of poles and things like that in Whitby SmartGrid, and that's going to affect the other poles you have to replace and other things like, you know, you are spending a bunch of money.  Maybe you want to spend loss on some other things.  That sort of integration.  You haven't done that yet.

MR. VETSIS:  I believe in the response to one of your interrogatories, Mr. Shepherd, you did provide a list of the reprioritizations [audio dropout] --


[Reporter appeals]

MR. VETSIS:  We had provided a list of re-evaluations, redirections of our capital plan to SEC 13, if we can go there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Go to the total.

MR. VETSIS:  Yes, so I believe this interrogatory, Mr. Shepherd, contains all the redirections that were made in context with the overall plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so this looks like -- and maybe I am misunderstanding this -- like you've actually increased your capital plan.  Am I reading it wrong?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Sorry, what do you mean by "increased"?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, from your DSP.

MR. BOUDHAR:  So comparing this to the DSP, you are correct, so this is the updated version of our capital plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you have done is, this is prior to Whitby SmartGrid you increased your capital plan; right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Just for the record, the capital plan is a dynamic plan.  It changes annually.  So basically, knowing that the OEB will be seeking the up-to-date information on the capital, so we filed the latest version of our CAPEX plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't answer the question.  I am sorry.

You filed the DSP in 2021; right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Subsequently, you increased your capital plan; is that right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Sorry, we increased the capital plan compared to the DSP because of requirements needs for our system renewal, system service, like, different investments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sure you had good reasons.  The question -- it's a yes/no question.  You increased it; right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you proposed the Whitby SmartGrid and as a result you decreased it?

MR. BOUDHAR:  I am sorry, decreased the capital plan?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You reprioritized, you reduced some spending; right?  Or did you?

MR. BOUDHAR:  We reprioritized the project based on our need, yes, but not because of the ICM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't reduced any capital spending for the ICM proposal; right?  Aside from the ICM, you're still planning to spend more than the DSP says you were going to spend; right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.  So if we compare these numbers to the DSP, we are spending more than what we filed on April 2021 DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your next distribution system plan is 2029; right?

MR. VETSIS:  No, I believe the five years would be 20 -- so for '26.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's right, you won't be rebasing, so it will just be filed --


MR. VETSIS:  Yeah, so the date of rebasing would be 2029, yes, and the DSP, the next one theoretically is due 2026.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the first time the OEB will have a chance to look at the integrated DSP will be 2029.

MR. VETSIS:  From a rate-setting perspective?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VETSIS:  That's fair -- again, that's because we are in a deferred rebasing period and cannot rebase earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't done any studies on DER penetration or solar penetration or electrical storage penetration in any part of your franchise area; have you?

MR. MANDYAM:  Elexicon has not.  It's committed to doing them as we -- as it articulated in its Appendix B-3 DER-enabling program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so that's interesting.  So you are going to do studies on penetration of DERs, but before that you want the Board to approve 40-odd-million dollars for the penetration of DERs; right?

MR. VETSIS:  Among other factors and other benefits which we have discussed, Mr. Shepherd, the operational benefits, the reliability benefits, the reduction, so I think you have grossly simplified what we have said so far.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Shepherd, it is the backbone, though, to enable and control and ultimately two-way control DERs that will be put on -- put in -- in-service in Whitby rate zone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If your forecast is the DERs will come in slowly and will not start to really affect your system until 2029, then you're building this Whitby SmartGrid too early; aren't you?

MR. MANDYAM:  Well, we have the opportunity to build 700 homes per year, DER- and EV-enabled, through the Sustainable Brooklin approval, and so therefore there is that high probability number of DER-enabled homes that will be available for Elexicon's programs to entice and have them put in-service DER equipment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have done a study, then, of how many of those homes are going to actually have EV chargers and actually have solar on the roof; have you?

MR. MANDYAM:  No, we haven't, no.  As I said --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Has anybody?  Has anybody?  Has anybody done that study?

MR. MANDYAM:  Anybody -- oh, you mean anybody out there in the world?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  Done that study for Whitby.

MR. MANDYAM:  I don't -- not to my knowledge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  See, it sounds like you sort of made this business plan just for this application, this business case, as opposed to what I would expect would be the normal thing, which is you have a business case for something that you as a business want to do, and then you say, okay, now, how are we going to pay for this?  That's the normal process, and instead you say, okay, we want to do an ICM.  Let's do a business case for it.  That seems weird.  And then you haven't done any homework.  You don't actually know any of the underlying foundation of what you can expect to happen.  That doesn't sound like utility planning to me.  It sounds odd.  It was sort of intended to be a question.

MR. VETSIS:  Do you want to help us out with what the question might have been, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yeah, I guess the implicit question is:  Why would you plan that way?  As opposed to the normal way, which is you go do your homework, you study the problem, and you develop a plan and then you say, okay, how are we going to pay for this?

You didn't do your homework and you didn't do the business case before you decided how you wanted to pay for it.

MR. MANDYAM:  So I think I will start by saying that -- you know, taking it back to the inception of Elexicon's management conceiving of these two projects.  So there was the Sustainable Brooklin problem; the solution is both this project, the Whitby Smart Grid that you're talking about, plus the Sustainable Brooklin ICM application with DER enablement and our DER enabling program.

All of that has an urgency to it.  So, you know, directly to talk to your question of why didn't the utility basically -- I think I will suppose you're saying:  Why didn't the utility just plan and produce its DER enablement program and then file all three of the applications together?  Well, there's an urgency.  The urgency is getting --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what I said, sorry.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't the question, no, not at all.  When Sault came in the second time, they had already -- they already had a fixed-price contract with a major contractor.  They had already done studies on penetration.  They had already looked at all sorts of different options.  They had a pile of stuff.  It still wasn't perfect, I'm sure, but they at least had done their homework before they asked the Board to give them any money.

And it sounds like you haven't done your homework.  Just on the smart grid stuff itself, forget all the other stuff after it, it sounds like you haven't done your homework, you don't know how much it's going to cost, and you decided, "We want some more money.  How are we going to get it?  Let's do a business case."  That's what it sounds like.

You're on mute, Mr. Mandyam.

MR. MANDYAM:  The team has done its homework.  The team will talk about the cost.  I will go back to the main thrust of the prior point that I was making:  There is an urgency here.  The urgency that Elexicon management was addressing is the Sustainable Brooklin line, which drove the opportunity to produce this innovative Whitby Smart Grid and Sustainable Brooklin project.

So that being the thrust of the business case, or the genesis of the business case, we believe that that is sufficient at this point for the Board to see the merits of the whole project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that sounds like you are doing Whitby Smart Grid because you need it for Sustainable Brooklin, which you have already said is not true.  And, in fact, I believe that your evidence is that Elexicon plans to still go ahead with Whitby Smart Grid even if Sustainable Brooklin is not approved.  Isn't that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  So, from a technical level, we started talking about Sustainable Brooklin and lots and lots of rooftop solar.  The question came up:  How are we going to control this?  So the appendix B3 document which speaks to the DER enablement program, that requires something to control it.

So, yes, that was the genesis of looking at the smart grid.  So we are either going to have to put in Durham system, we are going to have to put in automation, probably VVO, in order to enable that system.

Then what happened is, when we looked at it across the entire Whitby service area, it turned out to have a net benefit.  So, since we are going to be pursuing high levels of DER anyway -- and that's not just in the new load growth areas; it's in the whole area -- now the benefits became available across the entire system.  So, if we had just gone with enough smart grid to support Sustainable Brooklin, we wouldn't see the benefits that we are talking about across the whole system.  So I think it --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. Thompson, were you part of any of these initial discussions?  I think the answer is no.  Right?  You were brought in later.

MR. THOMPSON:  The timeline of discussion is quite long and it's on evidence.  I was brought in about a year ago.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, by that time Elexicon, had already decided it was going to go ahead with the Whitby Smart Grid.  Isn't that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, that's not true --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Vetsis.  In fact, this is true.  We know it is.

MR. MANDYAM:  No.  The Elexicon management had designed or conceptualized the Whitby Smart Grid and the Sustainable Brooklin projects, and then it went through the process of doing the whole business case evaluation, all of the items that Mr. Thompson had said, before it decided, yes, let's go ahead with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. MANDYAM:  So the --



MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.

MR. MANDYAM:  No, no, no, go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, if this Board Panel does not approve Sustainable Brooklin, does that mean you're not going to go ahead with Whitby Smart Grid?

MR. THOMPSON:  So the technical benefits of Whitby Smart Grid apply to Whitby as a whole.  Without even Sustainable Brooklin, it's still a good idea.  There is still a payback.  There is still all of the enablement.  There are still the energy savings.  There is still the reduction in greenhouse gases.  There is still the foundation for the future grid modernization.  All of that happens independent of Sustainable Brooklin

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that the --


MR. VETSIS:  And to be clear, Mr. Shepherd, in your response, I think just to make the one clarity, you asked whether or not the company would go through with Whitby Smart Grid.  Of course, if the OEB gave ICM approval, we would go forward with Whitby Smart Grid.  Absent ICM approval, we don't have any plan that would fund this project.  We don't have my ability to fund this project, absent that, and we would not be able to proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because, if the shareholders have to pay for it, it's too much money, but, if the ratepayers have to pay for it, it's not too much money.

MR. VETSIS:  Because I believe, as we noted, what the evidence is, the degree of work that would have to be deferred would make it so -- would not allow us to meet the system needs.  And I believe there is -- you know, we have provided just -- like, how significant this project is relative to our existing plan has been provided in an interrogatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Mandyam, you have been insistent that Sustainable Brooklin and Whitby Smart Grid are sort of joined at the hip in some way.  I want to you to turn to page 56 of our materials.  This is from the technical conference in which you were asked -- you personally were asked -- about the benefits of Whitby Smart Grid.  And I believe what you said on pages 56 and 57 is:

"As we went through the various benefits of the Whitby Smart Grid you said all of them, all of those benefits, were from the Whitby Smart Grid not from Sustainable Brooklin."

Isn't that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, on page 57 of our materials, we asked you:  Would you go ahead if Sustainable Brooklin was not approved?  And you said that the short answer is yes.

So I am trying to understand how the two are connected.  See, we have views on Whitby Smart Grid -- generally positive, by the way, subject to timing issues -- but it's way more complicated if it includes Sustainable Brooklin.  And so we are trying to understand whether we can look at Whitby Smart Grid by itself and say:  Is this a good idea?  How should it be paced?  Is the cost reasonable?  All of that stuff.  And so I am trying to explore with you:  Is that the case?  Can we look at Whitby Smart Grid by itself?

MR. THOMPSON:  On a technical level, the benefits of the Whitby Smart Grid will apply to the Whitby rate zone.  So, looking in that direction the Whitby Smart Grid is self-sustaining.  If you do the Sustainable Brooklin, you can't do the DER enabling without the Whitby Smart Grid.  So, looking in the other direction, they are connected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, you can do the Whitby Smart Grid and get the benefits by itself, but you can't do Sustainable Brooklin unless you do the Whitby Smart Grid, as well?

MR. THOMPSON:  You would have to do something.  You can't control the -- the point of the Sustainable Brooklin is to have a bunch of DERs that you engage on peak.  You wouldn't have any way of controlling that without some of the SmartGrid elements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting, though, because the part you're talking about is the DER market; right?  Which is not before the Board right now.  Correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  It's described in Appendix B-3 as the DER-enabling program, and there isn't any funding associated with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Board isn't being asked to approve that, and you're not saying that you are going to do it; are you?

MR. THOMPSON:  From a technical level that's what's required to get benefit from the quid pro quo assessment of the Sustainable Brooklin project.  Without the ability to control it you don't have the ability to show peak.

MR. VETSIS:  I think maybe perhaps another way of wording it, Mr. Shepherd, was provided in SEC 21, if we can go there.  It says -- yeah:
"The value of Whitby Smart Grid will be enhanced, as those technologies will facilitate the Sustainable Brooklin project in greater proliferation rates."

Another way of perhaps wording it more clearly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm sorry, but Mr. Thompson just said, I thought, speaking on behalf of Elexicon that the benefits are the same whether you have Sustainable Brooklin or not, but the benefits from Sustainable Brooklin, the DER-ready homes, are not really useful unless you have the next stage of your grid of the future, which you haven't asked for approval of yet; am I saying that wrong?

MR. THOMPSON:  The next stage you're referring to is the Durham system, which is specifically the controlling the DERs.  There's elements of the existing ADMS application, as well as the reliability and VVO applications that are also enhanced when added to the Sustainable Brooklin project.

It's not quite fair to say that the Whitby Smart Grid is the same with or without, but in the Whitby rate zone it's the same.  In the Sustainable --


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Go ahead.

MR. VETSIS:  So what the Sustainable Brooklin project -- the interlinkage, Mr. Shepherd, is a community that would result with homes fully enabled, which would increase the likelihood of higher proliferation, and with the Whitby Smart Grid those technologies could be leveraged in a manner to more credibly pursue deferred investments, and so it's to increase the profitability of the benefit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have done no analysis of how many
-- how many DERs you're going to get from the Sustainable Brooklin project, so you don't know how it's going to affect Whitby SmartGrid.

MR. VETSIS:  We don't, but one of the benefits of the project that we have stated is in fact the learnings, that we would have an ability to compare a community with the rough-ins versus one without to see the impact on DER proliferation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's like a pilot project, then?  Is it?

MR. VETSIS:  I don't know if that's a fully fair characterization.  I think it just has a broad set of benefits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be the most expensive pilot project I had ever heard of, but you are not saying that.  You are not saying it's a pilot project, you are just saying like with anything else you do new you learn from it; right?

MR. VETSIS:  That's fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to go to the components of the Whitby SmartGrid project, because I just want to understand some things about the components.

And if I understand correctly, you basically have -- you have a centralized component, which is like a computer system, if you like, a controlling system.  It has a bunch of elements to it and a bunch of modules to it.  And then you have a bunch of field devices that the central system can control and operate and use to advantage.  Am I saying that sort of generally correct?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Generally, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the centralized part is the ADMS, the advanced distribution management system, and I wonder if you could turn to -- now I have lost my stuff.  I wonder if you could turn to page -- just give me one sec.  Here it is.  To page 34.

So first of all, who wants to describe what ADMS is, actually?  Just the elevator pitch for ADMS.  Not everybody volunteer at once.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  ADMS, as you mentioned, is the advanced distribution management system, and generally, as you mentioned, it is a software platform that supports a wide suite of distribution management solutions, and one of its functions is really automating outage restoration and optimizing the performance of the distribution grid through advanced applications such as VVO and FLISR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So one part of it is the OMS, the outage management system; right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that actually -- that replaces an older one that you had before, right, but this is a much more modern one.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes, Elexicon has legacy outage management systems from pre-merger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it wasn't necessarily the greatest?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  It can be improved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are an engineer, aren't you?

All right.  And so you have outage management, you have things like regulating voltage, which needs field devices for it; right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yet can you do some voltage regulation without having field devices?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  My understanding, yes, but I will defer to Mr. Thompson to explain that further.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  You can control taps at substations and change voltage, but you would typically do that either once or twice a day -- twice a day, morning and night, or maybe once a season.  You wouldn't do it like you would do it for DERs when you have a regulator out there and you are doing it maybe minute by minute.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because when you have the field devices out there that you can regulate voltage with -- and you use -- you use capacity banks for that, right?  Am I right?

MR. THOMPSON:  The VVO system uses capacitor banks and voltage regulators to both manage a flat voltage profile end to end and then to set at it the level you want it at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you do that because you don't just have a one-directional feed of electricity, you have electricity all over the place on the system coming -- being generated, and so managing how it's -- what the voltages are and storing it in a capacitor is necessary to keep the system well-balanced; is that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  It's not accurate to say capacitor stores energy in any useful way.  What you are doing is managing power factor -- try not to get too technical, but it's managing losses on the system which change with load.  So as load goes up and down, the profile -- or the performance of the feeder changes.

So if you have a DER at the end of the feeder going on and off, the load can go from very low when the DER is running to very high when the DER is not running if there's also a load source going in the other direction.

It's also similar to a very large load going on and off own, gives you the same trouble, so the capacitors level that out and are adjustable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I hate to admit this, but you lost me right at the beginning of that, but that's okay, because somebody else probably understood it.

You also have benefits of the ADMS associated with how you manage your crews; right?  Because they have better visibility on what's going on in the system as they're out there; is that right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  That's correct.  With an ADMS what it typically does is it brings together a holistic situational awareness view of the distribution management -- sorry, of distribution grid that you would typically have to swivel between multiple systems to get that situational awareness.  So from, you know, an operator's view, if you just imagine it, you are looking at one system for that view versus multiple systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the ADMS also helps you balance incoming and outgoing flows of electricity as between feeders and -- you have a -- I am sorry if this sounds very simple, I am -- you have a bunch of electricity coming in and you have to balance it between demands on the feeders.  Right?  And it does that better than other systems.  Is that right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  ADMS has applications and analysis in it, as mentioned here, load flow calculations and balance load flow analysis, that aids in those analyses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  ADMS also helps you to manage your assets.  Right?  Because, A, you can balance their use; and, B, you have better visibility into how they are being used and what their condition is.  Is that right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Generally, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there is a whole bunch of benefits.  I mean, we've just cracked the surface, here, but there is a whole bunch of benefits associated with advanced with ADMS system.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's why, in 2021, you wanted to do it in the first place, or you wanted NRCan to help, because you knew that there would be a bunch of benefits associated with it.  Is that right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Elexicon did, yes, reach out to -- or pursue that grant with NRCan in 2021 and was aware of the benefits that ADMS can bring to Elexicon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The OMS part of that is already done.  Right?  It's in place and operational, I think.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  No.  I believe actually, in our response to IRSE C 01, in the redacted version, the OMS is in service; however, it's not fully operational.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In service.  It's in rate base.  Right?  Or it's in your net capital assets.  And -- but, you still have more things to do to it before it's fully operational.  Is that right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the things is training.  And then you have some other things like load and fault analysis that are enabled -- are available in the package, but you haven't yet implemented them.  Is that fair?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  That's fair.  And, sorry, let me just correct the reference here.  I believe it's attachment -- SEC-1, attachment 2, page 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, we just saw it in attachment 1-2.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe it's the same thing in both places, or similar.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  The description is a little more detailed in this one here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So operational go-live for OMS is Q2 2023, so in the next few months.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the final component -- like, you have a bunch of sections of ADMS that are going to be made operational over the next 16 months and, eventually, all of it will be operational in August 2022.  That's what you have told us.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  I don't recall mentioning August 2022.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or, sorry, 2024.  My apologies.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  In our response to Staff 10, Attachment 1, Schedule A, for the ADMS component it refers to a June 30, 2024, date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I want to turn away from ADMS.  ADMS is $8 million, of which half of it is covered by NRCan.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have to have it in place by, what is it, March 1, 2025, in order to get the money.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  March 31, 2025.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're well on track to have it long before then.  Right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes.  Currently, we are trending and tracking to the schedule that's set out in the contribution agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the bigger cost here, if I'm correct, is the field devices, which are VVO and -- sorry, voltage optimization, Volt-VAR optimization -- and distribution automation, FLISR.  And that's $39 million.  Right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, approximately $39 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't have any funding for that, from NRCan or anywhere else, because they are basically conventional technologies.  Right?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.  The company did not get additional funding from NRCan for those components.  It is continuing its discussions with NRCan to try to see if --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now -- Now, this stuff is all field devices.  It's things on poles in vaults around the system that allow better control of the system, I think, as Mr. Thompson explained.  The actual control mechanism, the central control mechanism, is already included in the ADMS.  Is that right?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the field devices have to be put in place in the various places where they do the most good and, as you roll them out, each feeder that you install them on then gets the benefits.  Right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Generally, yes.  More specifically, with VVO.  With DA, it's little harder to predict, but, with VVO, it works --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason I ask that is because the voltage control reduces -- the benefit is that customers will receive, will use, will buy less energy, pay for less energy, and get the same functionality because of voltage reductions.  Is that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's a correct interpretation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've assumed 3 percent?

MR. THOMPSON:  We have concluded 3 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it -- well, okay.  Yeah, you did an analysis and you said, okay it's going to be from 2.5 to 3.5; let's use 3.  Is that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am not sure that that's the window we created.  However, I believe it was 2 to 4 percent and we concluded that 3 percent made sense, based on the configuration of our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're aware that, in Sault Ste. Marie, they assumed 2.7.  Is that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am aware of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And why is your assumption higher?

MR. THOMPSON:  So the 3 percent, I think, is an important number in the context of this study, and I am happy to walk through it.  There a danger of getting too technical; there is also a danger of skipping, so please interject if I skip something important.

We understand that the previous project that was studied concluded a number of 2.7 percent.  We have not introduced that, I don't believe, as evidence.  I certainly haven't confirmed the calculation; however, it's common knowledge that they concluded 2.7.

In our evidence in the engineering report in Appendix B-5 -- and this is probably worth turning to -- on page 13.  Thank you.  What is the second paragraph of the page -- okay, which is now the second paragraph of the page -- the first line says:

"Research studies have projected that the 2 to 4 percent of demand reduction is possible."

That comes from our Triple E studies, university-grade studies, white papers, et cetera.  If you follow down to the final paragraph of this, this is my engineering conclusion, and where I say that 2 to 4 percent is possible and, considering the short nature of the feeders, approximately 3 percent is reasonable.

Now, if you turn to page Appendix A-7, so it's about 15 pages deeper into this report.  Okay.

What this shows us is that the voltage at the source, if it's 120 volts, the voltage at the feeder tip is about, if you average those three lines, about 119 volts.  We are allowed to get down to about 112 at the customer site, so what that tells me is I have about 7 volts I can lower the voltage.

Earlier in the report in Appendix B-1 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you?  And, sorry, sorry, Mr. Thompson, you said you're allowed to drop it by 7 volts?  What does that mean, you're allowed?

MR. THOMPSON:  There is a CSA standard that sets the level of voltage at the customer's premises, and the range is plus 125 to -- 125 -- about 125 volts above [audio dropout] and down to 112 volts below.  So at 112 volts within the rage specified by CSA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there's many end uses that would be injured by 112; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, that's well within the standard for CSA.  It's fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. THOMPSON:  That's the -- it's the limit, though.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Go ahead.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what this tells us is that we have a range of about 7 volts to work with.  Earlier in the report in a number of attachments the phrase "2 to 3 percent voltage drop for every 5 volts saved" is quoted, and so since we know we have 7 volts to work with, we believe that that 3 percent voltage drop is very reasonable.

Rather than taking you to that, though, I will take you to Undertaking JT1.10.  And in this undertaking we were asked to consider the Hydro Ottawa project that had filed some completion information online.

I would request that you go to page 21 of the SETI-N report -- I am sorry, not 21, 33.  So the orange papers.  It's page 33.

Now, again, I didn't do this engineering report.  However, we've got it on record, so I might as well use it.  If we can zoom in a little bit.

So the bottom bullet of that section says for an average 7.23 percent voltage reduction they expect the customers to see a 4.56 percent reduction in their energy bill, and their energy usage would be reduced by 5.9 percent.

So those numbers were substantially higher than 3 percent, and so therefore we stand on the engineering basis for the 3 percent we generated.

We have good -- good engineering reasons to pick -- I am sorry, I skipped a point, which is that that 7 volts that we get in Whitby is a function of short feeders in the urban nature of Whitby's design, whereas compared to PUC's feeders, which is are long, they have a smaller tolerance.

So I am very comfortable saying that we are at the top end of their window and well below these numbers.

At the end of the day it's all engineering study, but it's well-supported.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that Hydro Ottawa is assuming a 2.4 percent reduction in peak load?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am unaware of what they're assuming, I have this report before me that indicates that they are doing very well if that's their assumption.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you're not aware of what they assumed in their planning?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  We downloaded these documents as a result of a web search, and we got what we got.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

So the -- here's what I want to understand.  The field devices cost a lot of money.  Is there some benefit to putting them all in all at once?  Or is there a benefit to each time you put them in one area or on one feeder you get a benefit for that area and that feeder?  Which is correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  With respect to the VVO system you get benefits on the system on the feeders you put the VVO system on.  That's -- with -- except for needing a lag, because obviously if you put the system active in October you don't get any benefits from January to October, so you tend to get the benefits the next year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that said, you can get benefits on a feeder-by-feeder basis with the VVO system, assuming that you have done the bulk of the investment, the single largest piece is the head end, and then you can do them feeder by feeder, more likely station by station.

With the distribution on emission system, it gets a little tricky, because automation is not fixed.  Cars hitting poles is relatively random.  Even worst performing feeders, you put distribution automation on them, you tend to figure out why they're worst-performing, you fix it, and some new problem shows up somewhere else where the distribution system hasn't been installed yet.

So for distribution automation it's much more important that it be installed system-wide to get really the benefits of reduced truck rolls and improved fault locating and all of the intangibles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is probabilistic, right?  You don't know what the probability is on any given feeder that the FLISR technology is going to save you.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  It's not an average, and you can't just say because you have 20 percent of your system installed you will get 20 percent of your benefit.  You could in fact get lucky and put the DA on one feeder and all your outages might be on that feeder.  It's not very likely, but it could happen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, if you do it probabilistically you will get a 20 percent savings, probabilistically, but not actually.

MR. THOMPSON:  The law of very large numbers would kick in, and Whitby is not large enough for that to work out right.

It would lean you in that direction.  Of all the numbers that are wrong, that's the one that's, you know, close, but there's no engineering basis for how you would pick the numbering.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you could also choose the feeders that are most likely to have outages; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's the challenge as well.  We do a study called worst performing feeder analysis, and then we put the distribution automation system on it to fix it, but then usually we find the problem doesn't fix it and something else becomes the worst performing feeder.

So what you tend to do is put the automation on the customers that are most sensitive, because then if you have an outage at least you have saved your hospital or whatever and restored your power quickly, but you don't get a benefit on the reliability statistics until most of the system is installed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the customers get the maximum benefit if you put them on the feeders where it matters the most.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I wonder if you could go to page 17 of our materials.  It's Undertaking JT1.22.

Sorry, I am just looking for the other reference.  Ah, yeah, here it is.  So this is a calculation of the benefit associated with reliability; right?  If you look at page 18, that's your calculation.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, there's -- including reliability and energy savings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I am looking down here at projected VOLL benefit from reliability.  That's the reliability benefit; right?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  $1.8 million a year, assuming you roll it out to everywhere.

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if you can go to page 68 of our materials.  This is -- these are the assumptions you use to get to that 1.82 million; right?  If you look at the top.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, they are.  The Table 2 and Table 3's calculation of the 1.8 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this comes from a 2015 Lawrence Berkley lab study; right?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's applicable to Whitby why?  Because it's the best you have got or because you have looked at how it applies to your particular customer mix?

MR. MANDYAM:  From the application development perspective, we looked at it as being used in PUC application and getting acceptability from there and we saw that -- well, that was the primary reason.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the -- I will just give you an example.  The medium and large commercial and industrial customers, that is more than 50,000 annual kilowatt hours -- which would be most schools, by the way -- every outage, every outage is worth $22,737 to them.  Is that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's what the study said, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that's actually an average of all of those customers.  Right?  So it includes the very largest customers and it includes the ones that are right at the line at 50,000.  Right?

MR. MANDYAM:  I think it is an average, you're right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the ones that are right at the line at 50,000, it is not going to be anywhere close to 22,000, is it?  Because you can see that the ones just below it are 800.  So you know that, if you're a school, for example, at right around that 50,000 kilowatt hour range, which would be a lot of them, you are not getting a $22,000 benefit, are you?

MR. MANDYAM:  I can't speak to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the reason I ask this is because you appear to have done a simplistic calculation of reliability benefits that, when my clients look at this, they say, "Well, that's not us.  It doesn't cost us $22,700 every time we have an outage."  That's just a ridiculous number; it's not even close.  And yet you do the calculation below as if it applies to every customer in that group.

And I am trying to sort of figure out:  Have you looked at your customer mix?  Have you looked at what those customers really would have?  Because the Lawrence Berkeley study actually has numbers for the in-between levels.  They have, like, graphs.  Did you do any of that?

MR. MANDYAM:  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to turn now, as much as I enjoyed that, to rate impacts.  And I want to start with undertaking JT 2.6, which is at page 27 of our materials.  And, if you look on the next page, you will see, for a residential customer, that what you're asking for in this application increases their distribution bill by 31.63 percent.  Is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  I believe you are referring to subtotal A, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VETSIS:  And, again, as I think noted in the preamble, you know, this is just a simple analysis of summing all of the riders together at one point in time.  This is not actually what impact -- these customer bill impacts will not be experienced in one year.  This also includes the IRM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's an interesting question, because we asked you a number of times in the technical conference -- and everybody else did, too -- can you give us the cumulative impacts of the things you're asking for in this application?  And you said no.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  I think what I have said, Mr. Shepherd, is that this calculation was done by adding all of the rate riders together.  Normally, a bill impact calculation with the OEB, you have the rates before, so this would be December 31, 2022, and on the right side is everything that's in this application.  So this includes the Z factor, this includes the IIRM ask, this includes the two ICMs, all of it together.  In practice, this will not all go into effect at the same time.  Some of these riders will go into effect in 2025.  That's all I am saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, meanwhile, in 2024 and 2025, you will also have additional rate increases for other reasons.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  Potentially due to other inflationary pressures, but those are, again, not part of this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, and also your DER plan and your CDM plan and all that stuff.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, at this point, anything with the DER enabled program would be speculative.  As you pointed to earlier, it's in the early planning stages.  We don't know what the net impact will be.  Certainly, part of our what we have put on in evidence is an attempt to seek external funding to the extent possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But you are still talking of increasing the bills for customers -- not just residential customers, all classes of customers -- by 25, 30, 35 percent, some big number, for Whitby Smart Grid.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  The value here would also include the Sustainable Brooklin project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True, true, fair enough.  I am correct -- to you have available the ICM model?  Is that -- Mr. Ott, can you show the ICM model, tab 11?

MR. OTT:  Mr. Shepherd, is the ICM model for the Whitby Smart Grid specifically?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. OTT:  Not sustainable?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the total one.  The total one.  But, all right, Whitby Smart Grid is fine, tab 11.

MR. OTT:  I believe we lose the tabs in translating these to PDF.  Can you inform me which area of information?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know what it's called, but it tells me what the monthly charge is for a particular customer.  Yes, here we go.  The rate impacts of -- this is the Whitby smart grid.  Right?

MR. OTT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're going to collect $4.5 million a year under the ICM.  That's what you're planning.  Right?  Sorry, it's not you, Mr. Ott, now; it's the witnesses.  So your current evidence is, for the Whitby smart grid, you are going to ask the customers to pay an additional $4.5 million a year.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I correct that, for a school with a 100-kilowatt load, that's $110 a month and that's $1,320 a year?  You can go over to what is my right and you will see those numbers, GS over 50.  Keep going, keep going.  You will see you have $36.69 plus $73.28.  That's the monthly incremental charge just for Whitby Smart Grid, $1,320 a year for each school.  There are 60 schools in Whitby.

Then can you go to the model for Sustainable Brooklin, please, same tab.  And, again, GS over 50, so you're asking for another $2.5 million a year from the Whitby customers for Sustainable Brooklin and, for GS over 50, that is $20.86 a month plus, if you go over a little bit, $41.66 a month.  And that's $62.52,  $750 a year.

So here's why I am asking you this:  Those two are $2,070 per school per year, your ICM asks  Will you accept that, subject to check?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, we will accept it subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that comes out to $125,000 for the schools in Whitby, just in Whitby, and -- per year.  And you're going to charge them that for each year from 2025 to 2028, the ICM.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  Until the next rebasing, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's half a million dollars.  Just those 60 schools, you want them to pay half a million dollars, $500,000, for this ICM application.  Will you accept that subject to check?  You can undertake if you'd like if you prefer.  The number is right.

MR. VETSIS:  Subject to check.  I would also note that there would also be the offsetting reduction in energy costs from the VVO outlay.  You know, you have mentioned 100 kilowatts for the -- on the load.  However, I am not sure how it translates on the kilowatt-hour space, but typically that tends to be a very large -- a larger portion of the bill as the bills get bigger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  And will you accept subject to check that that's -- that this $2,070 area per school is a 26 percent rate increase in 2025 in addition to any other rate increases you have?

MR. VETSIS:  Could you repeat that number, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  26 percent.  Just for the two ICMs, nothing else.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you go to your customers, the schools, for example, did you go to the schools and say, hey, we are going to increase your bill in 2025 by 26 percent; is that okay with you?  Or the hospital or anybody else like that?  Did you go to anyone?

MR. VETSIS:  To be clear, Mr. Shepherd, are you talking about total bill 26 percent or are you talking about subtotal A 26 percent?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am talking about what you're getting.  You are asking the customers in Whitby to pay $7 million a year more because you have this plan that you want to put in place, and that's a 26 percent rate increase, at least for my guys.  And I am asking you, did you go talk to any of them and ask them whether they were okay with that?  Because when I told them, they were in shock.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, I believe, as we have noted in the evidence, we had the customer engagement from the prior DSP which provided insights into the priorities of our customers in our service territory.  As well, the bill impacts that are specifically the requests of this application were reviewed and unanimously approved by the Whitby town council.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So again, we are back to the town council then must have realized that there would be a 26 percent rate increase for the schools and the hospitals and everybody else like that, and they thought that was okay.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. VETSIS:  I am saying that they were presented with the presentation that was shown and, based on the overall desired outcomes for the community and the representation from their constituents, they unanimously approved for the projects as proposed and the benefits that they will provide.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, were you planning on taking a second break this afternoon, because if you are this would be a great time.

MS. DUFF:  You have read my mind, actually, which is quite a skill.  Yes, we will take a 15-minute break.  We will reconvene at 4:15.
--- Recess taken at 3:59 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:15 p.m.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Shepherd are you prepared to continue?  Today, we were planning to sit until 5:00.  I just wanted to make sure that works with you remaining cross.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am dead on schedule.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, please proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to page 62 of our materials.  So we asked you -- and this is you that responded to this, Mr. Mandyam -- we asked you to tell us what the impact on your total cost per customer was going to be of those ICM projects.  And your answer, which you see at the bottom, is, well, no, we don't do that.  PEG does that.  It's part of the benchmark process.  So you actually file a distribution cost per customer every year.  Right?  In your triple Rs.  Is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  In all honesty, Mr. Shepherd, I can't remember if it's a number that we file or a data sheet that then gets calculated by PEG and given to us.  I can't recall.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, there's a separate econometric analysis that's done using the PEG model, but there's also -- in the OEB year book, there's a distribution cost per customer.  That doesn't come from PEG; that's just a total.  It's how many customers do you have, what's your distribution cost, divide.  In fact, the year book didn't use to have that and we used to have to calculate it.  That's why I know that's how you do it.

So I am asking you:  Can you do a forecast of how much this will increase your distribution cost per customer?  And the reason I say this is because Elexicon, in the Whitby rate zone actually, isn't that bad in comparison to other LDCs.  It's not the best, but it's sort of in the mid-range.  And I am concerned that this one -- these two projects that you're asking for today will bump you way up to the top.  And I don't know whether that's true; I am just asking you.  So I wonder if you could undertake to provide that calculation.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Shepherd, are you able to draw our attention to the specific spot in the year book where you're finding this, just so the witnesses understand what's being asked of them?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have the year book in front of me, sorry.  I have got too many things on the screen already.

MR. VETSIS:  Can we just have a quick breakout room and check a few references, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Whereupon witness panel retires to breakout room

 [Witness panel confers]


MR. VETSIS:  Could we go to SEC 17, attachment 1, please, and page 9.  Somehow, 9 of 9 is followed by 10 of 10.  I don't know how that one works, but...

So, as you can see here, Mr. Shepherd, it says here that the metric is calculated by dividing the total of Elexicon's operating cost as derived within the OEB efficiency assessment model.  Similarly, when we go down to the next page, the metric is calculated by taking total cost as derived within the energy efficiencies assessment model.  So I think what we had told you before stands, that it's not -- like, it's not the simple calculation that you're implying.  There are data points that go into the OEB model which gets calculated

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your evidence is that you can't tell the Board what your -- what this ICM means in terms of increase in your distribution costs per customer?

MR. VETSIS:  Yeah, we don't know what the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If that's the answer, that's fine.

MR. VETSIS:  -- output would be.  And I think it's also worth noting, as well, I mean, we talked about this throughout the day, but to be careful in the notions of these kinds of comparisons.  So the fact is that the projects proposed provide certain net benefits and certain value to customers that are not measured within the PEG model.  And so, you know, to say -- and I think sort of you end up with almost an apples-to-oranges comparison.  Elexicon is trying to proceed with the Whitby Smart Grid and the capabilities and benefits it provides to customers will not necessarily give you an apples-to-apples comparison on total cost basis for utilities that have not even commenced down that path.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Vetsis, I was just pitched last week for a new vacuum cleaner that costs $4,000, but it's the greatest vacuum cleaner in the world.  No question it was.  Clearly, the benefits were better than the cost, but I still didn't buy it.

Doesn't that same concept apply here?  Sometimes, the total cost matters regardless of the benefits.  Doesn't that matter?

MR. VETSIS:  Which is why we have all of the net benefit calculations on the record which show the net benefit of the project to customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, as long as you have enough benefits, it doesn't matter how big the rate increase.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. VETSIS:  That's not what I am saying.  I was just saying to be careful making such simplistic cost comparisons when you sort of have two different levels of service that are being provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I would like to turn to another area. You'll agree, won't you, that one of the reasons why the Sault smart grid couldn't be phased in was that they would have lost their NRCan money.  Their NRCan money was for the project and it had a deadline which they had already extended a couple times, and so they couldn't phase in their project even though it might have been better because they would have lost that money.  Isn't that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  I don't recall offhand, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  None of the witnesses knows?

MR. MANDYAM:  I don't know, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're asking the Board to give you this money, all in one lump sum, and you're saying, "And, by the way, you gave it to Sault Ste. Marie, why don't you give it to us?"  And you didn't even look at the Sault decision to see why they got it all at once.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Shepherd, in defence of the witnesses here, none of them worked at Sault Ste. Marie.  They weren't alive or privy to that application; you were.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Weren't you, too?

MR. VELLONE:  I am not giving evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  We will deal with that in argument.  It's on the record; it's not a problem.

What I am trying to understand is your NRCan money only goes to ADMS, and so why wouldn't you propose a project in which you go ahead with the ADMS -- your capital plan or even an ICM can handle $4 million -- and you get a whole lot of benefits from that.  And then, bit by bit, you can roll out over three or four or five years, however many you want, the field devices, just as most other LDCs are doing?  Why wouldn't you do that?

We asked you this at the technical conference and I just didn't understand your answer, so that's why I am asking here.

MR. VETSIS:  Under our proposal, Mr. Shepherd, it's structured in such a way such that, you know, if you went for a phased approach everyone contribute to the funding but not necessarily everyone would benefit.  In this manner you ensure everyone benefits from the new functionality of the process and you get, from the calculations we have seen on record, a higher net present value, higher net benefit, in the manner that we have proposed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You get a higher net benefit because you do it all at once?

MR. VETSIS:  Because you get higher benefits earlier, and so the net present value is a higher -- is more positive for the approach that we have taken.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's true that if you go feeder by feeder then the people on those feeders will benefit and the people on the other feeders who will be paying for it will not, sort of like Sustainable Brooklin, I should point out, but aside from that, isn't that what happens whenever you upgrade your system?  You never upgrade your whole system, you upgrade it piece by piece, and those on that area you have upgraded, they benefit from that, and everybody pays.  Isn't that how it normally works?

MR. VETSIS:  Can we have a quick breakout room, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, notwithstanding the delay, I still hope to finish before 5:00.

MS. DUFF:  I'm just checking with the court reporter.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Your question is why did we look at doing the project over a short-term the way we have proposed it rather than doing a longer-term project.

When the original business case was assembled, Appendix B-1, page -- starting around page 45 -- starting exactly page 45.  So we generally started with three options:  A do-nothing option, which is obviously the cheapest.  The option we picked, which is deployment, which at that time was by 2025.  And a deployment that was considerably longer, by 2028.

These numbers have been recalculated a number of times throughout this process, but fundamentally we did start by analyzing those two distinct options.  As we moved through the analysis, there is an explanation for why we considered the project to be more useful as project 1, Option 1, reducing our losses and making our -- achieving our benefits sooner.  I am not going to read it in detail, because the crux of the matter is when we reached the project economics section we determined that the net present value was better the faster we executed the project.

We then updated the net present value calculations on one or two occasions, these undertakings that Mr. Mandyam, I think, is equipped to speak to.

MR. VETSIS:  If we can go to Undertaking JT1.21, on page 3, we can see --


[Reporter appeals]

MR. VETSIS:  JT1.21, page 3, what we can see that the, you know, the net, the NPV of the option chosen is higher than the staged approach.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, sorry, I am trying to understand, is that the only reason that you want to do it all at once?

MR. VETSIS:  It yields the greatest benefits in the manner that's being proposed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But, Mr. Vetsis, for your customers, they're concerned in 2025 with paying their bills.  Net present value doesn't make their mortgage payments.  I don't understand why that isn't a factor for you.  That $125,000 that you're going to ask the schools to pay in 2025 and each year thereafter, that means they close a library.  There's real implications of this, and I don't understand why that's not part of your analysis.

MR. VETSIS:  And that would be reflected through the cost side of the analysis, Mr. Shepherd.  The net present value balances the benefits against the costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn to page 47 of your materials.  And this is you, Mr. Thompson.  The VVO, which is the biggest part of this project, right, the VVO?

MR. THOMPSON:  I would like to confirm that.  By my memory they are fairly close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but it's still big; right?  Like 20 million dollars or something like that.

MR. THOMPSON:  I am sorry, I didn't hear what you said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's like $20 million or something like that.  Right?

MR. THOMPSON:  We have the numbers if you need the number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't need the details.  I just need the -- we are talking bigger than a bread box here.  It's a big number.  Right?

MR. THOMPSON:  A big number, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, at the bottom you say, in fact, this program would be the largest that you know of in Ontario.  Right?

MR. THOMPSON:  On the VVO side, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then -- and so, when you were asked to look at this, Mr. Thompson, did you advise that this maybe should be rolled out piece by piece because of the cost and because it's the largest in the province?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the difference here is the drivers.  So, typically, the VVO systems, for instance the ones that I listed earlier funded through the smart grid program, a number of those were demonstrations, and so they are technology provers.  And now that's been done, so the next level of smart grid funding is deployment.  Now that program is closed, but this is a deployment. Now, if you compare a VVO system or a capacitor regulator combination system used anywhere else historically, those are typically rural feeders with a large load -- maybe a wood mill or something at the end of the load -- and it's very specific issue with a specific solution. So the concept of this being a system-wide DER enabling program, that makes it a large application.  And that's what's different about this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you saying that this one is unique because it's targeted at DER enabling?

MR. THOMPSON:  DER enabling is an evolving requirement.  The tools and the mechanisms are not unique.  The idea that DERs are coming and that we need to prepare for them is the latest thing from our energy transition work and our grid modernization work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Vetsis, when you were
when Elexicon was looking at this, did you do an analysis of how these known technologies would achieve DER enabling benefits, which is something that other people aren't doing yet?

MR. THOMPSON:  Technical benefits was in my area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  What we know about DERs, especially if you take a significant solar installation -- which, by the way could be 100 different homes with a small solar panel set up.  Right?  That still looks like a large solar panel installation.  And when a cloud goes in front of the sun



MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, let me just stop you.  A hundred different homes don't look to the system like a grid connected solar farm, do they?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they very much do --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because a grid-connected solar farm can be controlled with one controller, whereas the hundred distributed resources have different controllers and different methods of doing it.  Isn't that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's why Elexicon is going to need a Durham system rather than just an operator with a switch.  In fact, when the sun goes behind a cloud, if you are in the air in an airplane, what you'll see is that a neighbourhood will go behind the cloud.  You can see the shadow of the cloud on the ground.  So all of the solar panels inside that cloud will instantly drop off and then will come back on slowly; which is actually fairly quickly the in context of a generator going on and off. In the context a 100 acre farm with a solar farm in it, if you get the size the same, it looks very much the same to the distribution system; very much.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's interesting.  All right.  So I guess the bottom line here is that you believe that rolling this out all at once is the better way to go, technically.  Right?

MR. THOMPSON:  The project is proposed at a level that can be executed technically.  Putting together a project like this, you should basically roll it about as fast as you can roll.  You can get a lot of efficiencies having a good project like that.

A bunch of the other benefits are not technical benefits; they are economic benefits.  And considering the project has a net benefit, generally speaking, when you are going to get a net benefit, you want to get it as quickly as you can.  However, the NPV analysis proves that out and, every time we have done a test, when we compare apples to apples, we end up with the shorter program having the better NPV.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'd like my last area, then.  If you could turn to page 76 of our materials.  This is an excerpt from the decision of the Board in EB 2020 0249 and these are the conditions that the OEB placed on the Sault smart grid project.  And so, relative to the Whitby Smart Grid project, I want to go down this list and ask you about these conditions and whether they make sense for your project.  If the Board were to approve it, would these make sense? So the first one, clearly -- I am not going to ask you about the first one.  You don't want to rebase next year and a rebasing in 2029 is what you prefer because, obviously, you have that right. But number 2 is a requirement that you file a distribute



MR. VETSIS:  Actually, Mr. Shepherd, I would just add before you even move from Number 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. VETSIS:  We can't even do it, necessarily, if we have to get OEB approval to end a deferred rebasing period.  There are regulatory implications for it there are also the practical elements.  An application takes two years to put together and one year to litigate.  So, even if you said to come back next year, it's not possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Board said to you tomorrow, we'd like
not tomorrow, but sometime soon -- we would like you to come back as soon as possible with a rebasing application and a new DSP, you wouldn't say, "Oh, no, we can't do that."  Right?  Or would you?  Or would you say, "We'd prefer not to."

MR. VETSIS:  I am just noting from my past experience that an application of this size does not get put together instantaneously.  It takes two years to put together and one year to litigate.  So, from a practical perspective, a rebasing would not occur soon enough to deal with the requests and the timing of the projects in this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the second one is:  PUC distribution shall file an updated distribution system plan that demonstrates how the SSG
that's their smart grid project -- is being accommodated through their reprioritization of other capital expenditures.  And, in that context, that order was:  File this DSP next year.  Right?  Because the rebasing was required for the next year.  So if the Board said to you, "We want to see a distribution system plan next year that integrates this and adjusts your future spending to accommodate this as much as you can, reprioritize it as much as you can," would you accept that condition?  Would you do that?  Could you do that?

MR. VETSIS:  Your condition is a different one, Mr. Shepherd.  What it says here is a DSP at the time of the next rebasing.  And, certainly, that's something that Elexicon could commit to do.  Our circumstances



MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I just explained, Mr. Vetsis, that the next rebasing was one year away.  And so I am asking, one year, can you do it?  Will you do it?

MR. VETSIS:  I don't think that's something that we can commit to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But, if the Board ordered it, you'd do it.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  Well, if the Board ordered it, we would have to.  But, of course, I would hope that the Board would be cognizant of the fact that the DSP itself is a regulatory document.  It requires studies.  It requires customer engagement.  It's not something that gets turned around on an instantaneous basis.  So my hope would be that the Panel would be mindful of just the practicalities of what it takes to produce a DSP and understand that it's not something that could be provided in a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Even though the Board did tell PUC distribution to produce it in 16 months?

MR. VETSIS:  From what you have just told me, Mr. Shepherd, aligned with the timing of their rebasing anyway, so it's highly likely that that utility -- now, granted it's speculation on my end -- but it's highly likely that that utility may have already been working on it in anticipation of that rebasing application.  Because, again, you can't turn around an application of that size on a dime.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The third one is:  PUC distribution shall provide a detailed report as part of its next rebasing -- which, in this context, would be long before then, to be similar to PUC distribution -- which compares the SSG project costs and benefits as implemented with what was forecast in the application.

So they basically said, "You told us that this is what's going to happen, this is how much it's going to cost, this is what the benefits are going to be."  Are you able, when you file in 2025 and say this is what we are going -- these are the actual riders we want, are you able to file that kind of report?

MR. THOMPSON:  So as a starting point I think that's a complicated question, so I'm going to try to answer the technical side of it first.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  On their reliability side, there is no way to measure what the reliability numbers would have been absent the distribution automation system.  However, you can make a number of assumptions, and you can come up with an estimated improvement in reliability.  That's pretty straightforward.

On the VVO side there's also no way to measure the energy savings, because it's not possible to run the system with and without VVO and see the difference.  There is an IEEE calculation, but it's fundamentally the same estimate that we have done.  You take the -- you take the amount, you turn the voltage down, and you use a formula, but it's still a calculation.  That would be reasonable.

It would also be reasonable to report on project statistics, such as on-time energization, number of volts reduced at the station, percentage of reliability, availability of the system, some metrics like that.

What you won't get is a dollar number, you know, dollar savings off the bill.  It's going to be a lot of machinations.

So my suggestion is a report of that nature be more of a project report that would come in on time, at cost, it would come in on time, and is the system operating as expected on a technical level, that would be my suggestion.  I think you had other points to raise in your report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, so -- so you could at the end of 2024 or sometime early in 2025, you could file a report saying this is how much it actually cost; right?

MR. VETSIS:  Sorry, for the total actual cost of the project, Mr. Shepherd, we wouldn't know the final actual cost at that time.  Certainly, through the regulatory process and the ICM, there's a true-up at the end at the time of rebasing for final costs, there's a mechanism that exists there.  So am I misunderstanding your question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're proposing not to tell the Board whether your Class 4 estimate was anywhere near close until 2029?

MR. VETSIS:  I mean, after the project's been put into place we could let the Board know what the cost was of the project.  Like, in a different -- in the current
proposal --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, you could --


MR. VETSIS:  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead, go ahead.

MR. VELLONE:  I had finished my thought.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you could also -- each year when you file your IRM application you could also provide a report saying, we have measured the benefits in the last year and this is how we are doing relative to what we expected.  You could do that; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  You could do that in a general sense.  I wouldn't probe it for precision, but you could definitely get an indication of how things are going.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in number 5, PUC Distribution is required to post within 18 months after the project is completed and every year after that for ten years on its website a report showing the actual benefits.  Can you do that?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think PUC will be challenged to complete that.  They must have a plan.  They have accepted it and the Board's ordered it, so I am sure they're going to do their best.

But as I said, if you are talking about your benefits in the area reliability and VVO, then you are going to end up with engineering estimates.

If you are talking about benefits in terms of DER-enabling or building foundational systems that support Durham systems, a lot of those are non-monetized benefits, and so they will be a list.  You will be able to say, I am happy to announce that we are now capable of running a Durham system, we're happy to announce we now have OMS or we have an outage map or whatever it is that we now have.

So it's very much a project success report than a cash benefits success report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, for something like VVO, for example, you could measure your use per customer each year and tell the Board, this is how much less energy customers are using that is fairly attributable to this project; couldn't you?

MR. THOMPSON:  You can't measure how much energy a customer didn't use.  You can calculate it, but the calculation is based on how much you turned down the voltage at the source and for how long the voltage was turned down at the source.  That's the piece you can measure.  
Everything downstream of that is a calculation under the IEEE formulas, and it's more of an engineering conclusion than it is a measured savings, but you could say --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a link -- go ahead.

MR. THOMPSON:  You could say that, you know, our customers have saved like a bunch of kilowatt hours.  You could publish a number.  You'd just have to put a little star on it and say "as calculated by the IEEE formulation for calculating savings".

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, you could also compare your usage in the years that it is in place and indeed on the feeders that are in place with your baseline usage for prior years; couldn't you?

MR. THOMPSON:  That wouldn't -- you could compare that, clearly you could compare that, but it wouldn't tell you anything.  You don't know what else is going on in that customer.  A customer could put in a solar panel or put in an EV and their numbers would change up or down significantly, much more than 3 percent.  You wouldn't end up with a number that you could rely on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the evidence you're telling the Board is that you can't actually measure whether this project is successful or not; can you?

MR. THOMPSON:  I can report on whether it's successful, because I am going to say that the voltage was reduced by 5 or 6 volts and it was reduced for 90 percent of the year, and that we know throughout IEEE calculations that that should be a net savings of a certain amount, but it's a high-level calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can't tell the Board that your customers saved X dollars on average because of this project; can you?  It doesn't matter how long you go into the future.  You're not going to be able to do that?

MR. THOMPSON:  You would take the same calculation and apply a cost to it, but that's what you would do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. VETSIS:  I think what I am hearing from Mr. Thompson, Mr. Shepherd, is that there's just certain limitations to the extent of the analysis that can be done.  There are estimates that can be performed of what the benefits are.  I think what he is providing is his technical expertise, and for the panel's assistance to set expectations as to, you know, where there might be limitations in terms of the precision of those measurements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Vetsis, we just had a problem on the gas side that -- which was debated at some length -- that the engineering assumptions for DSM savings showed great savings, and in fact throughput kept going up, and eventually the Board had to step in and say, we need actual reductions in throughput or we are not going to think of these DSM programs as being as successful as you say they are.

So it sounds like you are saying the same thing.  The engineers will calculate it, and we just assume that it's right.  Is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  Can I have just a quick second to confer with my colleagues on this one?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then, Madam Chair, after this I am done.

MR. VETSIS:  Sorry, if I wasn't clear, Ashley, a breakout room would be appreciated, please, thank you.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. VETSIS:  Mr. Shepherd, panel, I think we had a bit of a conversation and realized that perhaps, in the exchange, we may have gotten a little overly technical in terms of the response that was provided.  I think, as Mr. Thompson was indicating, you know, there are certain things that we will be able to measure actually in terms of the adjustments on the feeders, et cetera.  Turning those into benefits, like estimates of benefits, may require some assumptions here and there for us to do that; however, it is based on actual measurements of what the system did.  And so, again, if the OEB were to approve this project, subsequent to its implementation and with sufficient time for measurement, we could endeavour to estimate some of those benefits using the measured data that we would have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.  And with that, Commissioners, those are my questions.  I think I get credit for two minutes.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd.  Just a question to the witnesses.  It seems sometimes you are talking to other people in the room.  Who is in the room with you?

MR. VETSIS:  It's all of us, it's the witnesses group.

MS. DUFF:  Only?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I am remote.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, that's fine.  Okay, so that completes our testimony for today.

MR. VELLONE:  Apologies Madam Chair, did we get --

MS. DUFF:  Is there a concluding matter?

MR. VELLONE:  A concluding matter.  Did we get a determination on the disputed undertaking?

MS. DUFF:  No, not yet.

MR. VELLONE:  Monday, then, I guess.  Thanks.

MS. DUFF:  That's right.  So this completes the testimony for today.  We will resume on Monday at 9:30.  We are an hour behind, but it is what it is.  And we will resume with I think it's Mr. Ladanyi from CCMBC; another acronym.  Anyhow, with that, we are adjourned for the day.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:58 p.m.
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